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THE COUNCIL OF HEADS OF DELEGATIONS:
MINUTES OF MEETINGS JULY 1 TO
AUGUST 28, 1919



Nore CoNcERNING THE MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS OF THE
Counor or HEADS oF DELEGATIONS

After the signing of the treaty with Germany on June 28, 1919, the principal
governing body of the Peace Conference was the Council of Heads of Delegations
of the five great powers.

The minutes were prepared by a joint secretariat and were duplicated and
distributed in the same manner as those of the Council of Ten and the Council
of Four (see notes, volume III, page 468, and volume V, page vi).

The designation of the minutes of the early meetings of the Heads of Delega-
tions was somewhat irregular. Thus the meetings of July 1 and 2 appear as
FM-28 (IC-200) and FM-29 (IC-201) respectively, the minutes of the July 3
meeting are without formal designation, and those of the meeting of July 5 ap-
pear as BC-63 (IC-201A). Beginning with the meeting of July 7 the minutes are
designated by the letters “HD” followed by a number and run in a series from
HD-1 of July 7, 1919, 3: 30 p. m., through HD-125 of January 10, 1920, 11:30 a. m.

The present volume ends with HD—41 (August 28) ; HD—42 through HD-84
(August 29-November 5) will be found in volume VIII, and HD-85 through '
- HD-125 (November 6, 1919-January 10, 1920) in volume IX.



THE COUNCIL OF HEADS OF DELEGATIONS: MINUTES
OF MEETINGS JULY 1 TO AUGUST 28, 1919

Paris Peace Conf. 180.03201/28 FM-28

Notes of a Meeting Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay,
Paris, on Tuesday, July 1, 1919, at 4 p. m.

PresenT Arso PresgNT
AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF FRrANCE
Hon. R. Lansing. M. Pichon.
M. Loucheur.
Secretary )
Mr. L. Harrison. JAPAN

BrITiIsH EMPIRE H. E. Viscount Chinda.

The Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour, M. P.

Secretary
Mr. H. Norman.

FRANCE
M. Clemenceau.

RSecretaries

M. Dutasta.

M. Berthelot.

M. de Bearn.

Capt. de St. Quentin.

ITAaLY
M. Tittoni.

Recretary
M. di Martino.

JAPAN
H. E. Baron Makino.
Joint Secretariat

AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF . ... Lieut. Burden.
BrITISH EMPIRE . .. ... +.... Capt. Abraham.
FRANCE .......0ovvuun. Capt. A. Portier.
JAPAN .. ...... e eeeeeess M Saburi
ITALy. .. ... ©eeeeeeeees. Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.

1. M. CLEMENCEAU said that he thought the first business the Council
should deal with was to nominate a Committee to watch the execu-
tion of the clauses of the Treaty with Germany

Nomination of 1
gomn:'igmt l,f‘; when ratified. . . .
U] e
gx';:u"t‘”%n“;t the .MR. Bavrour said that he had intended to nominate
Gty W Sir Eyre Crowe.

M. CreMENcEaU said that his nominee was M.
Tardieu. The Committee was to have no executive power but should

1



2 THE PARIS PEACE CONFERENCE, 1919, VOLUME VII

superintend the work of all Commissions dealing with the details of
the provisions of the Treaty. The Committee would report to the
Council from time to time what progress was being made and what
further action might be needed.

Mgr. Lansing said that he would have to consider what nomina-
tion to make,

M. Trrront said that he could give the name of the Italian mem-
ber on the following day.

Baron MaxINo nominated M. Otchiai.

(It was agreed that the nominations should be made at the Meet-
ing on the following day.)

2. M. Cremenceau said he would ask M. Loucheur to explain
the functions of a Committee to deal with the Reparation clauses

of the Treaty and to explain the necessity for its
Reparation labours to begin at once, seeing that the Germans

had already made certain enquiries regarding the
execution of the provisions concerning the occupied districts. (See
Annex A.)

M. LoucHEur said the proposal was to nominate a Committee with
one member and one assistant from each of the following five na-
tions:—France, Great Britain, United States, Italy and Belgium.

M. Trrront asked whether the Committee would deal with devas-
tated districts of all fronts including the Italian.

M. LoucHEUR replied in the affirmative, but added that it was not
intended to form the Committee at once in its final shape. Each
Government would be able to consider the question at leisure,
especially as there would be a big staff and a very large organisation.
What he proposed for the time being was a Committee to prepare
the ground. It was to this Committee that he suggested that each of
the Powers mentioned should nominate one delegate and one assist-
ant. During the intermediate period between the nomination of this
Committee and the formation of the ultimate organisation, he thought
that this body should be authorised to converse with the Germans
with the object of shaping a plan for procedure in the future. Sub-
committees to deal with Finance, Rebuilding, etc. could be set up at
a later time.

Mr: Bavrour said that he understood that this Committee would
have a double function :—

(1) To organise the future Reparation Commission provided for
in the Treaty.

(2) To deal with the Germans and the problems raised by them in
the meantime.

He further asked why Serbia was excluded.
M. LoucHEUR said that it was intended that Serbia should take the
place of Belgium whenever the question of Serbian devastated terri-
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tory arose. Japan would take the place of Belgium in matters regard-
ing the Far East and damage at sea. The preliminary organisation,
however, should, he suggested, be done by nominees of the five
Powers first mentioned. There would, therefore, be four permanent
members in the final Commission and one changeable member. He
would ask that the nominations should be made within 24 hours, and
that the Committee should meet on the afternoon of the 3rd. July, 1919.

(It was agreed that the nominations should be made at the Meet-
ing on the following day.)

3. Mr. Lansing said that he had not brought a second American
Delegate with him under the impression that this was to be a Council

of Five.
Conatitution of M. CremENCEAU said that it was indeed to be a
Council of Five, but he had asked M. Pichon to
come as he would himself have to leave the Meeting. .

Mzr. LansiNe said that his experience was that in a Council of Ten,
in practice one delegate spoke. The other did not, but by sitting in
the Council he became acquainted with the whole course of the work,
and was therefore prepared at any moment to take charge, should
his colleague for any reason be unable to attend.

M. CreMENCEAU said that he had no objection to raise if it were
desired that two delegates from each nation be present.

Mgr. Barrour said that the mere presence of a large number made
a physical difference. He thought conversation was simpler and
more informal at a gathering of five. Even a silent Delegate inter-
posed between each of the spokesmen cramped the conversation.
There had been many objections no doubt to the procedure in the
Council of Four, but there had been this great advantage.

M. CremeNceaU asked whether Mr. Lansing insisted on his point
of view. He himself shared Mr. Balfour’s,

MR. Lansing said he would not insist, but he felt the advantage of
having a second delegate present. The day’s proceedings could be
talked over with the second delegate with much advantage to both.
He pointed out that there must always be others present in the room.
He was strongly in favour of having enough secretaries present to
make a full and agreed record of what took place.

M. Trrront said that he saw good reasons for both points of view,
but he was prepared to agree to a Council of Five if his colleagues
desired it.

Mkr. Barrour suggested that a start be made with a Council of Five,
subject to alteration if necessary.

(This was agreed to.)

4. Mr. Lansing asked whether the decisions reached by the Council
Finality of were final.

Deehona M. CrEMENCEAU replied in the affirmative.
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5. Mr. LaNsiNg said that a number of Notes had been received

from the Austrian Delegation. None of them had yet been replied

to. He would suggest that Commissions be appointed

Reply to otes to deal with each section of the Treaty affected by

' any of the Austrian Notes. He had prepared a draft
resolution on this subject (see Annex B).

M. CLEMENCEAU said that what Mr. Lansing desired was being done.

Me. LansiNg said that he did not allude to Committees employed
on completing the unfinished portions of the Austrian Treaty. What
he proposed was Committees to deal with the Austrian counter pro-
posals to the portions of the Treaty which had been presented.

Mr. Barrour said he understood that the same Committees which
had prepared the answers to the German Notes were preparing
answers to the Austrian Notes.

M. Durasrta explained that there was a Section dealing with the
Geographical questions, another dealing with the points relating to
the League of Nations, another with the points raised concerning
private property, in accordance with a decision taken by the Council
of Four. ot i

Mg. Lansing observed that the American Delegation knew nothing
of this. The American Experts on Austrian affairs were not the same
as the Experts on German affairs.

M. Durasta said that the Secretariat-General had informed the
Secretaries of the various Delegations asking each to nominate suit-
able delegates. Nominations had already been made for the Com-
mittee on Geographical questions, and the Committee was to meet
on the following day.

(It was agreed that M. Dutasta should make a full report on the
situation on the following day.)

M. Cremenceau said that the following subjects had been
suggested :—

Frontiers in the following areas:—

Agenda for 1. The Banat.
Futare Meetings 2. Bukovina.

3. Bessarabia.

M. Durasra said that the frontiers in the Banat had been fixed and
the decision had been communicated to the Jugo-Slavs and to the
Roumanians. The frontiers in Bukovina had also been settled but
not yet communicated.

It was decided that the communication should be made.

M. Trrron: enquired whether the frontiers had been only recom-
mended by Commissions or whether they had been fixed by decisions
of the Council ?
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M. CLEMENCEAU said that they had been fixed by the Council.t

M. CreMENCEAU asked whether anything had been done regarding
Bessarabia.

M. Durasta replied that as this subject concerned Russia, no deci-
sion had been made but the matter had been studied by the Rouma-
nian Commission.

Mr. Barrour thought that it was unnecessary to reach a decision
concerning Bessarabia as no Treaty of Peace had to be made either
with Russia or with Roumania. He thought that there were many
questions of importance of which no doubt the Bessarabian question
was one, but he thought the Council should first deal with whatever
was required to bring about peace with the enemy States.

M. Trrron: thought that the Council should make an effort to
eliminate elements of disturbance and that the area in question was
very disturbed.

M. CremeNcEAU said that he agreed with M. Tittoni. Mr. Bal-
four’s proposals followed the logical order, but facts were louder than
logic. He thought the Council should attempt to suppress disorder as
much as possible. He suggested that M. Tardieu should be heard on
the following day for half an hour on Bessarabia. No decision need
be taken there and then.

Mkr. Bavrour said that if that half hour was not required for other
purposes, he would be delighted to hear M. Tardieu.

Mr. Lansing asked who would represent the Russians.

M. PicHON suggested that M. Maklakof 2 might be heard. /

M. Tirronr said that if a Russian was to be heard, a Roumanian
should also be heard.

Mgr. LansiNeg suggested that if this were done, they should be heard
separately.

This was agreed to, and it was decided that M. Tardieu be asked
to make a report on the following day regarding Bessarabia and that
M. Maklakof on behalf of Russia, and a Roumanian delegate be
heard separately on the same subject.

MR. Bavrrour observed that there could be no peace with Bulgaria
without determining Bulgarian frontiers. He suggested that this

subject be examined by a Committee. No Com-
Comumittos for mittee, however, could deal with the frontier between
Bulgaria and Turkey since the whole Turkish ques-
tion was still unsolved and was to be solved as a whole hereafter. He
would suggest that the Committee be instructed to consider pro-

! See appendix IV to CF-79, vol. v1, p. 591.
*V. A. Maklakof, appointed Ambassador to France by the Russian Provisional
Government ; member of the Russian Political Commission at Paris,
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visionally the Enos Midia line as the extreme frontier of Bulgaria on
that side.®

It was agreed that on the following day nominations should be made
for the special Commission regarding Bulgaria.

The Agenda for the following day was therefore :—

1. Nominations for Committee to supervise the execution of the
Treatg with Germany.

2. Nomination of organising Committee for Reparation.

3. Nominations for Committee on Bulgarian affairs.

4. Report of M. Dutasta regarding procedure in dealing with
Austrian Note.

5. Hearing of M. Tardieu, M. Maklakof and a Roumanian Delegate
regarding Bessarabia.

MRr. Lansing said that he would like to add two short proposals to
the Agenda. He had prepared two draft resolutions (see Annex
“C” and “D”.)

It was agreed that these draft resolutions should be considered and
that the next meeting should take place at 3.30 on the following day.

Paris, July 1, 1919.

Appendix A to IC-200 [FM-28]

[The Head of the German Delegation (Von Lersner) to the President
of the Peace Conference (Clemenceau)]

[Translation ]

GERMAN PEACE DELEGATION,
VErsarLLEs, June 30, 1919.

Mr. PresmENT: By order of the German Government, I have the
honor to inquire of Your Excellency when and where the discussions
relating to the occupied regions will begin.

Accept [ete.] Barox voN LERSNER

* According to a correction issued on July 2, 1919, this paragraph should read
as follows:

“MRr. BALFOUR observed that there could be no peace with Bulgaria without
determining Bulgarian frontiers. He suggested that this subject be examined
by a Committee. The Greek Committee, however, could not deal with the
frontier between Bulgaria and Greece without knowing the boundaries of Turkey.
The whole Turkish question was still unsolved and was ‘to be solved as a whole
hereafter. He would suggest that the Committee be instructed to consider
provisionally the Enos Midia line as the probable frontier of the future State
of Constantinople.”

¢ Translation from the French supplied by the editors.
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Appendix B to IC-200 [FM-28]

Draft Resolution

IT 18 AGREED

That Commissions of five members, one to be appointed by each of
the Principal Allied and Associated Powers, shall be set up to con-
sider and prepare suitable replies to the various notes presented by
the Austrian Delegation in regard to the clauses of the Conditions of
Peace with Austria; ’

That the numbers of these Commissions shall correspond to the
number of sections of the Conditions of Peace with Austria;

That the member appointed by the French Delegation on each of
these Commissions shall be empowered to convene his commission
at such time as he may deem advisable or as he may be directed; and

That the Secretary-General of the Peace Conference shall be in-
structed to refer to the appropriate commission immediately each
note submitted by the Austrian Delegation.

Appendix C to IC-200 [FM-28]

Draft Resolution
IT 18 AGREED
That the modifications which were made in the Conditions of
Peace with Germany as a result of the German counter-proposals
or for any other reasons, shall, insofar as they may be applicable,
be made ¢pso facto in the Conditions of Peace with Austria.

Appendix D to 1C-200 [FM-28]

Draft Resolution
It 18 AGREED '
That the Secretary-General of the Peace Conference shall notify
the Austrian Delegation that it will be allowed a period of not more
than ten days, counting from the date upon which it will receive the
last section of the Conditions of Peace, in which to make such coun-
ter-proposals or observations as it may see fit.



Paris Peace Conf. 180.03201/29

FM-29

Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris,
on Wednesday, July 2, 1919, at 3: 30 p. m.

PrESENT

AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF
Hon. R. Lansing.

Secretary
Mr. L. Harrison.

BrITISH EMPIRE

The Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour, M.P.

Secretaries

Mr. H. Norman.
Sir P. Loraine Bt.

FRANCE
M. Tardieu.
Secretaries
Capt. de St. Quentin.
M. de Bearn.

ITALY
M. Tittoni.
Secretaries
M. Paterno.
M. Bertele.

JAPAN
H. E. Baron Makino.
Secretary
M. Kawai.

A180 PRESENT

AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF

Prof. Coolidge.

Dr. R. H. Lord.

Mr. A. W. Dulles.
Major D. W. Johnson.
Mr. Whitehouse.

BriTisH EMPIRE

Mr. A. Leeper.
Hon. H. Nicolson.
Maj. Temperley.

FRANCE
M. Laroche.

ITALY

Comte Vannutelli-Rey.
Colonel Castoldi.

RussIA
M. Maklakof.

Joint Secretariat

AMmERIcA, UNITED STATES OF . . .

BriTisE EMPIRE .
FRANCE .

ITary . . . . . ...

Lieut. Burden,
Capt. Abraham,

L Capt. A. Portier,
..... Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.

1. M. Taroieu explained that M. Pichon was unavoidably pre-
vented from attending the meeting. He asked Mr. Lansing to take

Question of the chair. .
Beasarabla Mr. Lansing asked M. Tardieu to take the chair
himself.

8
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M. Taroreu did so. He said that he had been asked to open the dis-
cussion on Bessarabia by explaining the views of the Committee which
had studied the question. He read the Report made by the Com-
mittee :—

“The Committee, after taking into consideration the general aspira-
tions of the population of Bessarabia and the Moldavian character of
that region from the geographical and ethnical points of view, as well
as the historical and economic arguments, pronounces itself in favour
of joining Bessarabia to Rumania.

t considers that this measure should be effected in a form which
will safeguard the general interests of Bessarabia, more especially as
concerns its relations with the neighbouring countries, and which will
guarantee the rights of minorities in conformity with the provisions of
the League of Nations.”

Since the Committee had reported, a protest had been received from
M. Tchaikowsky * on behalf of the Russian Committees in Paris, pro-
testing against any annexation by Roumania, and stating that Russia
could not recognise any such act, and further alleging that the Rou-
manian troops had behaved in a very arbitrary manner in the country.
M. Tchaikowsky ended by demanding a free plebiscite.

Mzr. LansiNg said that the practical question was to know whether
a decision regarding Bessarabia could find a place in any of the
Treaties of Peace. '

Mg. Barrour pointed out that he had made the same remark on the
previous day. He had thought it was important to do all that was nec-
essary to complete the Treaties first. M. Clemenceau, however, had
thought the Bessarabian question pressing and had therefore urged
that it be taken up. Mr. Lansing, however, had pointed out that no
resolution could be adopted on the subject, and this statement had not
been met by any dissent. '

Mr. LansiNg observed that the powers accorded to him as plenipo-
tentiary were limited to the negotiation of Peace. They did not enable
him to deal with a conflict between two friendly Powers. President
Wilson, no doubt, might have been able to deal with such a question.
He himself was not in that position.

M. Taro1rv said that it had been decided on the previous day to hear
a Russian and a Roumanian representative. They had been asked to
come, and each would doubtless say what he thought should be the
frontier line in Bessarabia. Should the two agree, which he admitted
was not likely, Mr. Lansing would not be placed in the difficulty to
which he alluded. Should they not agree, the Council would then be
forced to see what further action could be taken. He would point out,
however, that it was difficult to make a Treaty with Roumania if one

*N. V. Tchaikowsky, President of the Russian Provisional Government of the

Northern Region (Archangel) and a member of the Russian Political Conference
at Paris.



10 THE PARIS PEACE CONFERENCE, 1919, VOLUME VII

of her frontiers were left gaping. He suggested that M. Maklakof
should be heard.

Mz. LansiNe agreed to this, but pointed out, however, that if any
resolution were asked for, he could not take any share in it. He had
given this warning in order that no false impression should be
produced.

(At this stage, M. Maklakof entered the room, and was asked by
M. Tardieu to express his views on Bessarabia.)

M. MakrLAKOF said that two memoranda had already been sent to the
Peace Conference on the subject of Bessarabia; he would endeavour
to give a gist of the argument. In the first place, he must point out
that no portion of the domains of the Russian State could be disposed
of by third parties without the consent of that State. Not even the
Peace Conference could assume that power. He and his friends had
no authority to speak for any constituted Government of Russia.
He wished to make this point quite clear at the outset. As to the
merits of the question, he would observe that there had never been
any agreement between Roumania and Russia, authorising the former
to demand Bessarabia. Roumania had entered the war on certain
terms. These terms had not touched the question of Bessarabia.
Roumania could therefore base no claim on any clause in any Treaty.
Neither could Roumania claim the right of conquest. These two
arguments being set aside, it was alleged that Bessarabia should go to
Roumania by reason of the principle that peoples had a right to
dispose of themselves. He would not discuss this principle, subject
to limitations, though it might be. He would admit it, and he would
further admit that if there were any Russian subjects of Roumanian
nationality who wished to unite under one flag with the rest of their
countrymen, Russia would be well-advised to permit it. Russia was
big enough to make a sacrifice of this kind, but it was the very state-
ment that Bessarabia desired to join Roumania that he challenged.
Bessarabia was not a Roumanian country as a whole. Such demon-
strations of a desire to join Roumania as had occurred among a por-
tion of the population were mere camouflage. It was on the question
of fact that he joined issue and refused to allow the legitimacy of the
Roumanian claim. He would point out that the word Bessarabia was
often wrongly used. He would not go back to remote antiquity. In
the eighteenth century, Bessarabia had been part of Moldavia, which
was then a Turkish province. The Christians in those parts had
always been under the moral protection of Russia. In 1812, a few
months before the Napoleonic invasion, Bessarabia became a Russian
province, captured from Turkey. There were at that time some 300,-
000 inhabitants. At the present time there were some three millions.
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Over forty years later, the Crimean war had taken place and in the
Peace of Paris,® the territory captured from Russia had been restored
to her, in exchange for small areas, and Ismail, and Akkerman had
been added to Moldavia. The rest of the country, i.e. the major
part, had remained Russian since 1812. Then, in 1878, at the Treaty
of Berlin,* the Dobruja had been added to Roumania, giving her ac-
cess to the Black Sea, and territory twice as large as the portion of
Bessarabia she had held. This small portion was given back to
Russia to secure Russia’s access to the Danube. Ethnographically,
the last census had not established a Moldavian majority in the coun-
try. There was no reason to allege that the statistics had been
falsified in any manner. Parts of the country were completely Rus-
sian. There were, however, four districts in the centre which were
mainly Moldavian. It was only in these districts that the question
of a referendum arose. These districts might be united to Roumania
should the population really wish it. He would not, in principle,
raise any objection. The Roumanians, however, declared that Bes-
sarabia had already expressed its will. This he denied. Immediately
after the Russian revolution, municipalities elected by universal
suffrage had been set up. They were the best organs for the expres-
sion of the popular will. They had not asked to be annexed to
Roumania. These municipalities had since been dissolved by the
Roumanians, and their representatives had protested against the Rou-
manian desire to annex the country. The vote, however, had since
been secured from the Sfatul Tseri, which was an emanation of the
Councils of Workmen and Soldiers, the latter largely composed of
Moldavian deserters. This body had resolved to make Bessarabia
part of a Russian Federated Republic. This was in December, 1917.
In the following March, when Roumania had been forced to accept
Peace, and M. Marghiloman ® was in power, this statesman had got
into touch with the Sfatul Tseri and obtained from it a vote in favour
of joining Roumania, with guarantees of local autonomy. When
Roumanian troops had entered Bessarabia, invited to do so, he ad-
mitted, even by Russians, in order to re-establish order, the same
body, at an interval of six months, had voted for annexation to Rou-
mania, but out of 160 Members, only 46 had voted. It was a matter
for surprise that a revolutionary assembly should have voted in
favour of its inclusion in a Monarchy. The whole vote, he sub-
mitted, was open to suspicion. It had been given during a military
occupation of the country, and it was a minority vote of an arbitrarily

'Treatsy of Paris, March 30, 1856, British and Foreign State Papers, vol.
XLVI, p. 8.

¢ Foreign Relations, 1878, p. 895.
® Alexandre Marghiloman, President of the Council and Minister of the Interior
of Roumania, March 12 to November 9, 1918.
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self-appointed body. If he believed that the people backed this
vote, he might be disposed to acquiesce in it, but he felt quite sure that
a free plebiscite would yield a completely different result. There-
fore, he asked that there should be a proper consultation of the
people. He reminded the Council that there had been a time when
the catastrophe in Russia imperilled the success of the Allied cause in
the War. If the War had ended disastrously, and Roumania had
sought compensation from Russia for the losses brought upon her by
Russia’s failure to continue the War, he would have understood the
Roumanian claim. But Roumania had now come out on the side of
the victors, among whom Russia was not. Roumania had got all she
had fought for and all she had asked for before the War. There-
fore, he protested with the greatest force against the claim now made
by Roumania, especially as it was not founded, as alleged, on the
desire of the majority of the population. Finally, he would say that
if there were districts showing a small Moldavian majority, wishing
to join Roumania, he would be disposed to let them go. As it was,
he constantly received complaints even from Moldavians in Bes-
sarabia, of the treatment they received at the hands of the Roumani-
ans. The vote of the Sfatul Tseri was being used quite fallaciously
to justify what a reasonably conducted plebiscite would undoubtedly
upset. He pointed out that similar votes had been obtained in
Lithuania and in Latvia, in favour of annexation by Germany. Any
decision annexing Bessarabia to Roumania would be a source of
permanent grievance, and would do harm to Roumania, which would
not be in a position to absorb an unwilling population. The most he
could admit, was a plebiscite in the district in which the Moldavian
population was predominant.

(M. Maklakof explained his views with the help of a map, and then
withdrew.)

M. Tarpiev suggested that M. Bratiano ® should only be questioned
regarding the vote alluded to by Mr. Maklakof.

M. Trrronr said that the Council was in full possession of ethnical
statistics and that it was unnecessary to hear M. Bratiano on that
subject.

(At this stage M. Bratiano, M. Misu,” M. Diamandy ¢ and M. Pelli-
van ® entered the room.)

M. Tarorevu addressing Mr. Bratiano said that the members of the
Council had studied the ethnological question thoroughly. They

¢Jean J. C. Bratiano, President of the Council and Minister of Foreign Affairs
of Roumania ; plenipotentiary to the Peace Conference.

"Nicolas Misu, Roumanian Minister at London, plenipotentiary to the Peace
Conference.

® Constantin Diamandy, Roumanian Minister at Petrograd ; plenipotentiary to

the Peace Conference,
? Jean Pellivan, Director of Justice in Bessarabia.
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would like to know what degree of sincerity and authority M. Bratiano
attributed to the vote obtained in the Sfatul Tseri.

Mz. LansiNg interposed that it mattered little how that vote had
been obtained. It was more important to know how the consultation
of the people could be carried out in the future.

Mz. Bavrour said that he thought the question put by M. Tardieu
arose from the statement made by M. Maklakof.

M. Tarpievy said that there was a connection between the two. He
therefore asked M. Bratiano to reply.

M. Brartiano said that he believed the vote alluded to did express
the will of the people and had been given in full freedom. He admit-
ted the assembly was a revolutionary assembly but similar assemblies
had expressed the will of the people in Poland, Czecho-Slovakia and
elsewhere. The Roumanian occupation had found that assembly in
power and in control of the country. Its authority had resulted from
the various successive developments which had taken place in Russia
since the downfall of Czarism. Mr. Lansing suggested a plebiscite.
Bessarabia, he would point out, was a Roumanian country attached by
force to the Russian throne for over 100 years. When Russian autoc-
racy fell, Bessarabia had come back to Roumania. The Roumanians
had been called in by the people and even by the only recognised Rus-
sian authority at the time, namely, the Ukrainian Government. Diffi-
culties did not arise on the question of nationality. It was the social
question that caused all the trouble. The Bolsheviks were dissatisfied
with the Roumanian Government merely because it established Gov-
ernmental order. The agrarian reforms introduced made the peasant
pay for the land obtained by the expropriation of the land owners.
The land owners on their side grumbled because they were expropri-
ated.

Mz. Lansing said that he wished to put a plain question to M. Bra-
tiano. Would he object to a plebiscite ?

M. BratiaNo replied that he did. He did so because the choice
offered the people would be that between Bolshevism and order. It
was dangerous to offer such a choice to a country on the border of
disturbed Russia. Should the Roumanians withdraw their troops
there would be endless tumult in the country.

Mr. LansiNe asked whether M. Bratiano, if given possession of
the country, would agree to a plebiscite in two years.

M. Brariano said that he would not as only revolutionary agita-
tion would result from the knowledge that a plebiscite would take
place in that period.

Mr. LansiNg asked whether M. Bratiano would object to a plebi-
scite at any other specified time in the future.

M. Brartiano said that he would object still more strongly, as it
would only prolong the agitation. He further begged to be allowed
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to state that the possession of Bessarabia by Russia was now an
anachronism. It had been for the Russian Empire a march on the
road to Constantinople. It could no longer serve that purpose. Rus-
sia owed Roumania a great debt as being largely responsible for her
misfortune. Circumstances pointed very clearly to the best way in
which Russia could discharge that debt. It would be by the cession
of Bessarabia.

(At this point the Roumanian delegates withdrew.)

2. The following nominations were made :—

Appointment o UMited States of America.  Mr. J. F. Dulles.

Commission To Great Britain. Sir Eyre Crowe.
gx'e':nﬁonlgfu.e France. M. Tardieu.
With Gemmany.  Ltaly. M. Scialoja.

Japan. M. Otchiai.
3. The following nominations were made :— .
Sppointmentof  United States of America. ~ Mr. J. F. Dulles.

(t)il;ngiu Repara- Great Britain. Col. S. Peel.
1;‘,:'};;,'3'?0{}'.’." France. M. Loucheur.
I L
Peace With. Italy. M. Crespi.
Germany Japan. M. Mori.

4. Mr. BaLrour said that he had an explanation to make regarding
the form in which the question had been put on the Agenda. He
understood that the Committee on Greek Affairs had

Committee To been unable to deal with the frontier between Greece
Brontiers of and Bulgaria without knowledge of the ultimate

border line between Greece and Turkey. It was for
this reason that he had suggested that the Enos-Midia line be as-
sumed provisionally as a frontier between Greece and the future
territory of Constantinople. This could be used as a working
hypothesis.

M. Taromxu suggested that the Co-ordinating Committee on Terri-
torial Affairs should be asked to deal with this subject and to hear
the various experts dealing with the different frontiers of Bulgaria.

(It was finally agreed that the Co-ordinating Committee on Ter-
ritorial Affairs should be asked to delimit the frontiers of Bulgaria
and to make a report to the Council.)

M. Trrront gave notice that Colonel Castoldi would take the place
of M. Salvago Raggi on the Committee.

5. The following resolution was proposed by Mgr. Lansine and
adopted :—

“That the Secretary-General of the Peace Conference shall notify
Kustrian Treaty:  the Austrian Delegation that it will be allowed a
Pesolution Pro- period of not more than ten days, counting from the
United States date upon which it will receive the last section of the

¢legation Conditions of Peace, in which to make such counter-
proposals or observations as it may see fit.”
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6. Mr. Lansing proposed the following resolution :—

“That the modifications which were made in the Conditions of Peace
with Germany as a result of the German counter-

Austrian Treaty:  proposals or for any other reasons, shall, insofar as
Resolution Pro-

posed by the they may be applicable, be made ipso facto in the
Drited Dtates Conditions of Peace with Austria.”

M. Trrront said that he had a reservation to make.
Germany had been given an option of furnishing labour as a means
of reparation. Italy had a superfluity of labour and did not desire
that labour be offered as a form of reparation.

Mr. LansiNg suggested that, if this were the only reservation, the
text proposed, together with M. Tittoni’s reservation, be sent to the
Drafting Committee for suitable modification and incorporation in
the Treaty.

(This was agreed to.)

7. Mr. BaLrour observed that he had pointed out on the previous day

that the frontier between Austria and Hungary
‘ﬁ{f{'ﬁ?,‘fﬂmﬁ re((]il:r;(i speedy attention. ]
Hurtria s s agreed that the Committee newly set up to
answer the Austrian notes regarding frontiers should
endeavour to report on the following day.)

8. M. Taroreu pointed out that there was a clause in the draft
Treaty with Austria requiring Austria to recognise “the following
frontiers of neighbouring countries.” As it was not

| é;::?ﬂig"e&t’: likely that these frontiers would be completely set-
géghl:::r‘i,nz tled before the signature of Peace with Austria, it

was desirable to alter the wording and to require
the assent of Austria to frontiers to be fixed later by the Allied and
Associated Powers.

(This was agreed to, and the question was referred to the Drafting
Committee.)

M. TrrronNt remarked that he assumed it was established that the
ultimate decision regarding frontiers was a matter not for the League
of Nations but for the present Conference of Allied and Associated
Powers. He wished to make the same reservation as had been made
by the Italian Delegation regarding the Treaty with Germany.

9. Mr. Lansine expressed the view that there should be a
communiqué.

Mr. Barrour said that he understood the Council to be the lawful

heirs of the Council of Four which had issued no
Commenioation  communiqués. He suggested that this example be
to the Press of
the Proceedings. followed. . _ L
M. Trrront said that he was indifferent.
M. Maxino said that he agreed with Mr. Balfour.
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M. Taroreu asked Mr. Lansing if he insisted on his view.

Mr. Lansing said that he thought it was preferable to issue a com-
muniqué, which could be made brief. His experience was that infor-
mation always leaked out, through one Delegation or another. The
Delegation most faithful to secrecy suffered.

Mgr. Barrour said that if the communiqué was so judiciously framed
as to contain no information, he was indifferent.

(After some discussion, it was decided that for the present mno
ecommuniqué should be issued.)

(The Meeting then adjourned.)

Paris, 2 July, 1919.



Robert Lansing Papers

Brief Notes on a Meeting Which Took Place in M. Clemenceau’s
Office in the Ministry of War at 2: 30 p. m. July 3, 1919

There Were Present :—

M. Clemenceau,
Mr. Lansing,
Mr. Balfour,
M. Tittoni.

Professor Mantoux.
M. Clemenceau had called the meeting at the request of M. Tittoni.

I

M. Trrront brought up the question in regard to the troops in Asia
Minor. He proposed that the railway line running east and west
should be controlled by the British, French and American authorities,
and that it should constitute the boundary line between the Italian and
Greek forces, but that both the Italians and Greeks should have the
right to use it.

M. CLeMENCEAU observed that the Italians had gone into Asia Minor
without authority from the Conference. He also suggested that M.
Tittoni should draft some formula regarding the proposition of the
use of the railroad and the suggestion that it be made the boundary
between the Italian and Greek forces. He also pointed out that no
matter what action should be taken in this regard, the settlement of
the question of Asia Minor should not be made a separate question, but
that it would be considered in connection with the settlement of the
whole Turkish question.

M. Trrront explained that Italy did not desire to obtain sovereignty
over that portion of Asia Minor now controlled by her troops. Italy
did, however, desire to secure certain concession to the coal mines at
Heraklia and to the oil wells at Van.

Mgr. LansiNg stated that he was sympathetic to the Italian desire to
secure coal mines at Heraklia. On the other hand he thought that
Armenia was too poor to be deprived of all her resources and that the
oil wells at Van should not be taken from her.

M. CLEMENCEAU pointed at [owt] that the French had certain con-
cessions at Heraklia, and that the Italians were now proposing to sur-
round the French concessions.

Mg. Laxsing asked M. Tittoni whether Italy had any coal mines.

17
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M. Trrront replied that Italy had none.

Mg. LansiNG then asked M. Clemenceau what coal mines France had.

M. CremENCEAU replied that of course Mr. Lansing knew what coal
resources France possessed.

Mr. LawsiNg then stated that under these circumstances Italy
should also have coal mines.

Thereupon, M. CLEMENCEAU became somewhat excited and stated
very emphatically that he could not bargain away the rights of his
people.

II

Mg. Barrour inquired if M. Tittoni had anything to say regarding
the Adriatic.

M. Trrront stated that the Italian Delegation had based their posi-
tion on the proposition that there was a Treaty of London.t He also
explained that the Italian Government had to consider Italian public
opinion as regards this question.

Mr. Lansine asked M. Tittoni whether he would abide by the strict
terms of the Treaty of London if the others consented to do likewise.
M. Trrront avoided a direct answer by himself asking questions.

Mr. Barrour observed that M. Tittoni was not answering Mr.
Lansing’s question.

Mr. Lansing stated that he had no objection to M. Tittoni using
what might be called “Yankee Methods”.

M. Trrront then asked Mr. Lansing whether the United States
would accept the Treaty of London if his question were answered
in the affirmative.

Mr. LansiNg expressed his entire willingness to do so insofar as
the terms of the Treaty of London were just. Mr. Lansing repeated
his question to M. Tittoni.

M. Trrront stated that he was forced to consider Italian public
opinion. To which, Mr. LansiNe replied that if public opinion
varied the faith of treaties, then there would be endless trouble.
For his part he would not venture to say what public opinion
in Great Britain and France would do in varying the Treaty of
London.

M. CremENCEAU remarked that he knew well what French public
opinion would do.

After some discussion it was proposed to abandon entirely the
Treaty of London as a basis of negotiation, and it was agreed that
M. Tittoni should approach the question as if no treaty existed and
prepare a plan which would then be discussed in a very confidential
way between those present.

* Great Britain, Cmd. 671, Misc. No. 7 (1920) : Agreement Between France,
Russia, Great Britain and Italy, Signed at London, April 26, 1915.
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Mr. Barrour remarked to Mr. Lansing that President Wilson had
expressed his willingness to leave the determination of sovereignty
over any point on the Adriatic to a plebiscite.

In reply Mr. LansiNg stated that if this rule were to be applied
at all it would have to be made applicable to all the Italian line which
might cause trouble in the Tyrol.

It was agreed that M. Tittoni would submit to those present his
views in writing as stated above.

III

M. Trrron: called attention to the fact that the Jugo-Slavs were
holding certain Italians as prisoners in the Klagenfurt Region. He
suggested that his colleagues should agree to take certain steps to se-
cure the release of these Italians.

Mz. Lansine asked M. Tittoni what Italians were doing in the
Klagenfurt Basin.

M. CLeMENCEAU supported this question.

M. Trrron: explained that the railroad had been torn up by the
Jugo-Slavs for some 30 miles and that the Italian troops had been
sent in to repair it.

Mz. Lansine observed that the Jugo-Slavs would not have torn up
the railroad if the Italian troops had not advanced.

No decision was taken but it was tacitly understood that M. Clemen-
ceau, Mr. Lansing and Mr. Balfour would ascertain whether they had
received any information in the matter.
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five Powers
Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris, on Satur-
day, July 5, 1919, at 3 p. m.!

PrESENT ALso PRESENT
AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF
Hon. R. Lansing. Mr. H. Hoover.
Secretary. BrITISE EMPIRE
Mr. L. Harrison. Sir William Goode.
BrITiISH EMPIRE ITALY

The Rt. Hon. A.J. Balfour, 0. M. M. P. M. Crespi.

FRANCE
M. Clemenceau.

ITALY
M. Tittoni.
Secretary
M. de Martino.

JAPAN

H. E. Baron Makino.

Joint Secretariat

AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Lieut. Burden.
BRITISH EMPIRE . . . . . . . Capt. Abraham.
FRANCE . . . . . . . . . . Capt. A. Portier.

Interpreter—Professor P. J. Mantoux.

1. (At M. Clemenceau’s request, it was agreed that

Exverts o, experts should not be present at the Meetings of the
Meetings of Council but should only enter the room if specifically

requested to do so by the Chairman.)
(During the following discussion, Mr. Hoover, Sir William Goode
and M. Crespi were invited to remain.)
e pton 2. M. CLeMENCEAU asked Mr. Hoover to explain the
economic position in Hungary.

Mr. Hoover said that the problem was that of the economic re-habili-
tation of Central Europe. As matters stood, there was no hope of
removing and distributing the Hungarian harvest unless the Danube
and the railways across Hungary were re-opened for traffic. The ques-
mf minutes of this meeting found in Department files; copy supplied
by the British Foreign Office as enclosure to letter of December 30, 1943, to the

American Chargé in Great Britain (026 Foreign Relations Peace Conference
1919/100).
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tion, therefore, was not merely an internal Hungarian question. It was
one of external economic relations. The action of the Hungarians had
tied up the Danube and with it a large proportion of the river craft used
on it. Further, the withdrawal of the German Armies from South-
Eastern Europe had left behind it in Hungary a large quantity of roll-
ing stock and river craft. In order, therefore to set the economic life
of Central Europe going again, it was necessary to have control of
these essential means of transport. The third aspect of the question
was largely political. Bolshevik ideas were impregnating the working
classes throughout the area. Unless some means could be devised of
abating the infection, the economic regeneration of Central and South-
Eastern Europe would be difficult. Bela Kun’s? government was
spending a great deal of money on sending Bolshevik missionaries to
industrial centres outside Hungary. This re-acted on production.
Moreover, the military power of the Hungarian Government was grow-
ing. A kind of nationalist passion was thereby put at the service of the
revolutionary theories advocated by the Government. It was not likely
that Bela Kun would abstain from spreading his theories outside the
borders of Hungary by the help of this military force. The next prob-
able victim after Czecho-Slovakia was Austria. The social and politi-
cal aspects of the question, Mr. Hoover said, were not his province, but
he would like to observe that Bela Kun’s party until the last three
weeks had not represented methods of violence. Latterly, however, ex-
ecutions had increased, which indicated that opposition was growing
in the country and that the methods of red terror were being resorted
to. Previously, it might have been possible to treat the Hungarian
revolutionary party with indulgence. Now that it showed a tendency
to overflow its frontiers, it must be considered as an economic danger
to the rest of Europe.

M. CLeMENCEAU asked Mr. Hoover what he thought of the Szegidin
group.

Mge. Hoover replied that this group appeared to him to be composed
of extreme re-actionaries without any notable intellectual capacity.
For instance, their deliberations of late had been devoted to the ques-
tion of the resumption of the right of duelling. He did not expect
much help from that party. It appeared,however,that discontent with
the Bela Kun Government was growing among the working classes.
Information from British sources had been received to the effect that
the Trade Unions would gladly see the Government upset. Commu-
nism would not appear to have penetrated very deeply into the popu-
lation and the Government was becoming, like that in Russia, a tyranny
of a minority. Another difficulty applying to any solution that might
be suggested was the obvious duplicity of Bela Kun. In support of

?Head of the Bolshevik Regime in Hungary; People’s Commissar for Forefgn
irs.
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this, Mr. Hoover quoted the following messages interchanged between
Lenin and Bela Kun: —

1. Message sent by Lenin from Moscow to Bela Kun at Budapest of
19th June, 1919, (includes following) :

“It is necessary to make the fullest possible use of every opportunity
to obtain a temporary armistice or peace, in order to give the people a
breathing space. But do not trust the Entente Powers for a moment.
They are deceiving you, and are only attempting to gain time in order
to be able to crush you and us. Try and organise postal communica-
tions with us by aeroplane.”

9. Message sent on June 21st by Bela Kun (Budapest) to Lenin (Mos-
cow) in reply to his telegram of June 19th:

“I thank you very much for your telegram in which you approve of
my foreign policy. I am very proud of being one of your best pupils
but I think in one point I am superior to you, namely, in the question
of ‘mala fides.’” I think I know the Entente very well. I know that
they will fight us to the end. In this war, only a state of armistice
can occur but never peace. This is an out and out fight. Once more I
thank you for your note.”

The authenticity of these messages was supported by the fact that
they had been revealed first by British sources and subsequently inter-
cepted by Austrian wireless. Of the various solutions proposed in the
memorandum he had submitted (Appendix A), no doubt the military
occupation of Budapest would be the best. He believed it would be
welcomed by the population, but it was no doubt beset with difficulties.
The alternatives to this policy were a more or less mitigated recogni-
tion of the Bela Kun Government. The plan he had suggested was
that the various Inter-Allied Commissions working in the neighbour-
hood should establish economic relations with the Hungarians. There
need be no direct recognition by the Governments, but by this side
entrance it might be possible to obtain the opening of the river and
the setting in motion of the means of transport and thereby the dis-
tribution of necessary supplies. He admitted that this might possi-
bly strengthen Bela Kun’s Government, but, on the other hand, Bela
Kun was supporting himself in favour with the working class on the
back of the blockade. All the hardships of the situation were attrib-
uted to the Blockade. By removing it, the Powers would deprive him
of this argument and he might find it more difficult to plead his case.
Whether this would neutralise the advantage of semi-recognition, he
did not know.

M. CrLemENCEAU asked what was being done to re-victual Hungary?

Mgr. Hoover replied that nothing at all was being done. At the time
when Bela Kun came to power, the Economic Council was about to
re-victual Budapest, as the situation there was thought urgent. The
Communist Government, however, had, on coming into power, made
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a stringent search for all supplies and had, by careful re-distribution,
managed to feed the population tolerably well. It appeared clear that
they would reach the next harvest without starvation. Communism,
therefore, had saved the Allied and Associated Powers considerable
expenditure on food and supplies, as, since the establishment of the
Communist Government nothing whatever had been sent to Hungary.

M. Trrront said that the question of Hungary was one of the most
difficult the Conference had to deal with. The Bela Kun Government
was a serious threat to the neighbouring countries, including Italy.
There had been two periods in this movement. In the first a peaceful
revolution had been brought about. The effect of this stage had been
the most dangerous. The Russian Revolution had been represented to
the people of Europe as being accompanied by carnage and general
destruction. The Hungarian revolution had been quiet. It was, there-
fore, more attractive and more dangerous. It appeared to many in
other countries that the sequestration of private fortunes for re-distri-
bution and the re-allotment of house room were excellent measures
which might be imitated to advantage in their own countries. The sec-
ond period, however, appeared to reproduce the methods of the
Russians. Not only were there executions but methodical and syste-
matic massacres had been instituted. It was very necessary therefore,
to suppress the volcano. The means of doing it, however, were not
clear. He admitted he had no suggestions to make. The blockade
obviously was not a solution. If rigidly enforced, all non-Bolsheviks
would starve and Bolsheviks would eat. If, on the other hand, food
were imported into the country the Government would only grow
stronger. He would welcome any feasible solution that might be pro-
posed, but he had none to make himself. There was one point, how-
ever, to which he wished to draw special attention, and that was the
reported seizure of all securities in Budapest by the Bela Kun Govern-
ment. Should these securities amounting to 6 milliards of francs be
exported and sold abroad, it would be useless to demand reparation
from Hungary. There would be nothing left to take possession of.
He thought it was imperative to put a stop to this.

M. Bavrour said that, in his extremely lucid statement, Mr. Hoover
had approached a question of which he recognised the great complexity
from the economic side alone. The economic problem was how to make
transit by all means of communication through Hungary serve the
purposes of equitable distribution of means of subsistence in South-
Eastern Europe. This could not be brought about unless the situation
in Hungary were radically changed. Neither Mr. Hoover nor M. Tit-
toni offered any plan for a complete alteration of that situation. He
believed, therefore, that the case must be approached from the military
side. A short time ago the Council of Four had sent orders to the
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Hungarian, Czecho-Slovak and Roumanian Governments with the
object of promoting Peace among them. These orders had only been
half carried out. Many things had happened since. M. Bratiano, in a
private conversation, had told him that the Roumanians could not and
would not retire from the Theiss until the Hungarians had been dis-
armed. The Hungarians were withdrawing from Czecho-Slovakia and
massing their troops in Hungary. Universal armament had been
ordered. If the Roumanians, therefore, retired from the Theiss which
they could defend, they did not know what lines they could hold, seeing
their commitments on other frontiers. He thought there was force in
the argument put forward by M. Bratiano. He had caused further
enquiries to be made and had discovered that the Hungarians had not
carried out their Armistice engagements. They had not reduced their
troops to six divisions; in fact, they appeared to have doubled their
forces.

He therefore suggested that the Military Authorities be requested,
through their agents on the spot, to order the Hungarians to disarm
in accordance with the stipulations of the armistice. This was not
only the right of the Allied Powers but their duty. It should be made
known in Hungary itself that until this had been done there could be
no kind of negotiations with the Hungarian Government. Should it
persist in breaking the terms of the armistice, military action should
follow. We had some hope that the threat alone would overthrow Bela
Kun’s Government. Should it not, the Powers were bound to do to
Hungary what they would have done to Germany had she broken the
armistice. To carry this out it would be necessary to organise the
Roumanian, Czecho-Slovak, Serbian and French troops at hand.
When the Hungarians had been disarmed there would then be no
excuse for the Roumanians not to retire after this, when Hungary had
been put into her right place, negotiations could be undertaken either
with Bela Kun or his successors. By this means the evil of giving
credit to Bela Kun, which Mr. Hoover had shown was to be feared,
would be avoided. At the present time Vienna was in danger and
perhaps Roumania. This could be stopped by prompt military action,
which would be justified by Hungary’s flagrant breach of the armistice.

M. CLEMENCEATU said that he would like to state his opinion, though
he feared it would not be a very clear one. He had agreed thus far
with all the speakers. The situation reminded him of the La Fontaine
fable in which a gathering of rats decided to hang a bell round a cat’s
neck. All agreed this was desirable but no one knew how to do it. He
thought that the situation had been accurately described by Mr. Hoover.
He acquiesced in all M. Tittoni had said, and he thought Mr. Balfour
had said excellent things. But how were the Powers to do what he
proposed? France was demobilising and could not stop the process.
At the end of October there would be but three classes with the Col-
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ours; that was to say the Army would be on a peace footing. The
French Chamber was resolutely opposed to intervention in Russia. He
thought the Chamber was right, seeing the results hitherto obtained;
a milliard or so was being thrown away on the expedition in Siberia.
This was an absurd expense and could not continue. If Parliament,
therefore, decline[s] to fight Bolshevism in Russia, it would equally
refuse to fight it in Hungary. Mr. Balfour’s argument that the Hun-
garians had accepted the armistice and had then broken it and therefore
deserved coercion was a strong one, if indeed they had accepted it.
But what troops did Mr. Balfour mean to use to coerce the Hungarians?
He had mentioned Czechs, Roumanians and French.

Mz. Bacrour added and Serbs.

M. CreMENCEAU said that they would require money. He for one
could not supply any. Moreover, Germany for the time being seemed
ready to fulfil her engagements and to behave well. Should the Ger-
mans, however, see the Entente thoroughly embarrassed in Hungary
this attitude might change. The march on Budapest had been thought
of before. In particular the Italians seemed disposed to go there, and
he heard that General Segro had gone to Rome to advocate the policy.

M. TrrTont said that the Italian Parliament was of the same mind as
the French.

M. CrEMENCEAU said that no strong economic argument could be
brought to bear on the Hungarians. Whether the blockade were raised
or not, little effect could be produced on internal policy. The popu-
lation could hold out. He had some doubts about the capacity of the
Czechs to fight the Hungarians. The Roumanians might or might not
be willing. At the present time they seemed considerably dissatisfied
with the Peace Conference. There were no British or American troops
available. French and Italian troops therefore seemed called upon
to do the work. He must state clearly that for his part he could not
undertake it. He had consulted Marshal Foch and General Franchet
d’Esperey, who had often wished to march on Budapest. He had asked
for plans, and had been supplied with a plan more ambitious than that
of Napoleon’s march on Moscow. French, British and Italian contin-
gents were required. The fact was that both the peoples and the Par-
liaments of the Entente countries were anxious to settle the crisis more
quickly than was really possible. After the vast upheaval of the war
and the pulverization of military forces, and, on top of it, the uni-
versal inclination towards social revolution, it was hardly possible to
produce order in a short time. The Conference had tried to establish
justice in the world. This was not the first time that such an attempt
had been made. All know what had resulted before. It was now
clear to all who had taken part in the Conference how difficult it was
to draw even frontiers equitably. His Italian colleague would doubt-
less agree with him. People like the Russians, who had been slaves
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under a terrible despotism, had thought that liberty could be exercised
without self-control. They had betrayed their Allies and caused them
immense losses. The evil had spread. Italy, though an old and wise
community, had been shaken up. Great Britain and France had had
their troubles. There had been disaffection in the French Navy and
even in the Army. The world was sick of fighting. The Conference
had therefore to deal with revolutions in military power, alterations
of frontiers, and social revolutions inspired by no ideas. It had been
thought that the Russian people would recover. That was a mistake;
owing to the vastness of the Russian territory somehow the Russian
people had survived its own disasters, but all intervention to assist
them to establish a reasonable Government had been in vain. Now the
evil had attacked Hungary, which had not been anticipated, as it was
a country of peasants and relatively rich. The policy he had to offer
was not one of which he was proud. It was simply this—to hold the
issues and to wait. He said this after taking into consideration the
feelings of the Entente Peoples, and of their Parliaments. All were in
a hurry to cease fighting, and to resume normal life. They were prob-
ably wrong, but that feeling could not be gainsaid. This was not a
noble policy, and might be said to look like impotence. He would not
deny it. But, after losing hundreds of thousands of lives and spend-
ing the national treasure, he thought no other policy was possible. As
to Hungary, he knew the country a little. Before the war the people
had been the slaves of Germany, merely because they thought that
Germany was the strongest power, but there was more common-sense
there than in Russia. He had been struck in Mr. Hoover’s statement
by the fact that the trades unions were sick of the Communist Govern-
ment. He would therefore follow Mr. Balfour’s policy so far as to
threaten Hungary with intervention should they not observe the armi-
stice. Then he would consult the military experts. If military action
had to be undertaken, all would have to help, and much money would
have to be spent. In the meantime, however, he hoped that Providence
might furnish some means of escape. It was not his nature to tempo-
rise, but in this case he would. Hungary could be surrounded by a
“cordon sanitaire”; Communism would not last long in that country.
If the Generals recommended a plan similar to that shown him some
months ago by Marshal Foch he felt sure that no Government would
undertake the task of coercing Hungary. It was not a showy policy
that he recommended, but it was the best he could offer.

MR. Lansing observed that there was one question of urgent neces-
sity, namely, that of making peace with Hungary. To do this it was
necessary to have someone there to make peace with. Did the Council
propose to make peace with Bela Kun? If not, with whom? If itcould
not be made with Bela Kun, pressure must be brought to bear on him
to go. The only means of doing this appear to be military means.
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(At this point General Bliss, General Sackville-West, General
Thwaites, General Belin and General Cavallero entered the room.)

M. CremENCEAU asked General Bliss to show what forces and what
methods he thought would be necessary to compel Bela Kun’s Govern-
ment to respect the armistice if other means failed, and what hope of
success he entertained. .

GenErAL BuLiss said that some six weeks ago, at the request of the
Council of Four, the Military Representatives at Versailles had made a
report on the means that might be taken to prevent a Hungarian attack
on Czecho-Slovakia. The report had been to the effect that if military
measures had to be resorted to, the troops used must be those on the
spot, namely, Roumanian, Serbian and French troops. It was then
believed that the troops available locally would be sufficient. This was
the opinion of the French General Staff. Since then, however, Bela
Kun’s troops had increased from 150,000 to 220,000 armed men. The
situation had also changed in other respects, and he was unable to say
whether the troops then considered sufficient would be sufficient now.
There had been an inconclusive discussion in the Council of Four on
the report. Since that date he knew nothing of what had been decided.
If the plan then recommended had been thought workable, it should
have been submitted to General Franchet d’Esperey. This, as far as
he knew, had not been done. Moreover, he could not say whether the
Roumanians and Serbians would act. As far as he was concerned, he
thought the question required study at Marseilles [Versailles?], in
order that he might exchange views with his colleagues on the new
situation.

GeneraL Cavariero agreed with General Bliss that a new study of
the subject was necessary. The action now required was not quite the
same as that contemplated previously, and in the meantime the Hun-
garian army had increased.

GENERAL BELIN said that all the Military Representatives had agreed
that a demonstration of force would have been sufficient when they
were previously consulted. He still believed that a demonstration by
the forces locally available would be enough to overthrow the Bela
Kun Government.

M. CremeNCEAU said that he did not wish the Military Advisers to
restrict their recommendations to the employment of forces at present
on the spot. If more were required, he expected them to say so.

GeENERAL SACKVILLE-WEST said that he was in accord with his Mili-
tary colleagues. He would like to re-consider the question.

M. CLEMENCEAU asked how soon a report could be obtained.

GENERAL BLiss said that if all the information required were avail-
able, the report could be made within 48 hours.

Mz, Baurour asked whether, in view of the flagrant breach of the
armistice by Bela Kun’s Government, it would not be well to warn
him at once that he must observe the armistice. He would be ready,

514888—46—voL. VII——38
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however, if his colleagues preferred it, to wait 48 hours until the
report of the Military Representatives had been received.

(It was agreed that the report be awaited.)

GENERAL BLiss pointed out that it would be necessary to consult the
Commander-in-Chief on the spot.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that it would be sufficient to consult Marshal
Foch, who had all the necessary information from General Franchet
d’Esperey. ‘

Mr. LansiNg asked that the Military Representatives add to their
report a brief account of the armament at the disposal of the Hun-
garian Army, and of their means of replenishing this armament. In
particular, he would like to know whether it was made within the
country or imported from without.

(The following resolution was then adopted :—

“It was decided that the Military Representatives at Versailles in con-
sultation with Marshal Foch, should examine the military possibilities
of enforcing on Hungary respect for the Armistice conditions accepted,
and make a report to the Council in 48 hours. The Military Represent-
atives were also asked to report on the means of munitionment at the
disposal of the Hungarian Government.”)

(The Military Experts then withdrew.)

M. Trrront then suggested that the Allies take steps to forbid the
exportation of all the securities seized by the Bela Kun Government,
as the disposal of these securities abroad would render nugatory any
claim for reparation on Hungary.

(The following resolution was then adopted :—

“That the Financial Commission be asked to submit at a very early

date to the Council, a proposal for preventing the sale abroad of secu-
rities seized by order of the Bela Kun Government in Hungary.”)

High Com- 3. At Mr. Lansing’s proposal (See Annexure “B”),
Armentar for the following resolution was adopted :—

“Colonel W. N. Haskell, U. S. A., is appointed by this Council to act as
High Commissioner in Armenia on behalf of the United States, Brit-
ish, French and Italian Governments, it being understood that Colonel
Haskell will be coincidentally appointed to take full charge of all relief
measures in Armenia by the various relief organisations operating
there. All representatives of the United States, British, French, and
Italian Governments in Armenia, Georgia, Azeri)aijan and Constanti-
nople are to be at once instructed to co-operate with and give support
to Colonel Haskell.”

(The Meeting then adjourned.)
ViLra Magesric, Paris, July 5, 1919.
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Annexure “A” to IC-201A

SUPREME ECONOMIC COUNCIL
OFFICE OF THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL OF RELIEF

No. 335 Pars, 1 July, 1919.

Hon. Roeert LaNsiNGg, Secretary of State,
Hotel de Crillon, Paris.

My DEarR MR. SECRETARY : At the meeting of the Supreme Economic
Council yesterday I was requested to lay before the Council of the
Heads of States the pressing economic situation in South Eastern
Europe which arises out of the political situation in Hungary. Due
to the special geographical and economic position of the territory now
held by Bela Kun’s Government, the whole economic destiny of the
surrounding States is almost absolutely in his hands, and it is there-
fore impossible to re-establish economic life or public order until this
situation is dealt with.

With the coming arrival of peace in the surrounding States and of
the harvest, it is critical that some solution should be found at once or
there can be no economic rehabilitation upon which peace can be main-
tained. Furthermore, unless the various international traffics can be
established across Hungary, it is hopeless to expect the surrounding
territories to provide themselves with food or employ their people,
thus necessitating continued charitable relief and outside financial
support. I have had the advantage of conferences with not only the
American representatives throughout the old Austrian Empire, the
visit of Colonel Logan, who is the Chief of our Staff to that Territory,
but with conferences with the Allied officials who are on the many eco-
nomic missions which were maintained in this area. I have asked
Colonel Logan to formulate a memorandum as to the facts as believed
by these representatives with regard to Bela Kun, and to also formu-
late some suggestions made by the American representatives on the
Danube River Commission as a possible solution. These memoranda
are forwarded herewith.?

There appears to me to be four alternative courses open:

First. A military occupation of Budapest under the control of the
principal Allies and the expulsion of Bela Kun’s Government. If this
course were adopted it should be done with a declaration that a freely
elected National Assembly would be called at once to erect a govern-
ment and to sign peace.

Second. To continue refusal to recognise Bela Kun’s Government,
but to open economic negotiations through the informal commissions,
preferably the Danube River Commission and possibly also the Rail-

8 Memoranda not attached.
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ways Mission, which we have installed in the old Austrian Empire, and
as a result of so doing to abandon the blockade, but not formally to
recognise the Bela Kun Government.

Third. To undertake a middle course, such as outlined in the at-
tached memorandum, of opening the country by economic agreement
with Bela Kun and at the same time policing it with troops under
Allied direction to see that order was maintained and agreements
carried out.

Fourth. To present the peace terms to Bela Kun, thus recognising
fully and trusting him not to disturb the world outside of Hungary.

Some definite policy is critically necessary if the disorganisation of
German-Austria is to be prevented, and if the economic collapse of the
surrounding States is to be prevented.

Faithfully yours, Hereert Hoover

Annexure “B” to IC-201A
W. C. P. 1094

Copy of Letter From Sir M. Hankey to the Secretary-General,
Peace Conference

APPOINTMENT OF A RESIDENT COMMISSIONER IN ARMENIA

BrrrisE DELEGATION,
Paris, 28 June, 1919.

My Dear Correacue: The Council of the Principal Allied and As-
sociated Powers to-day had before them the attached letter from Mr.
Hoover to President Wilson suggesting the appointment of a single
temporary resident Commissioner to Armenia, who should have the
full authority of the United States of America, Great Britain, France -
and Italy in all their relations to the de facto Armenian Government as
the joint representative of these Governments in Armenia.

Mr. Hoover’s proposal was accepted and this afternoon it was agreed
that the Council of Ten should be asked to concert the necessary ar-
rangements to give effect to this decision.

I am directed to request that Your Excellency will lay the matter
before the Council of Ten.

Believe me,

Yours very sincerely, M. P. A. HaNgEY

His Excellency, MoNsiEur DuTasTa
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[Annex]

SurreME Economic CouNciL
Paris, 27 June, 1919.

Dear Mr. PresmeNT: In accordance with your discussion with Mr.
Morgenthau ¢ and the several discussions with myself in connection
with Armenia, we make the following joint recommendation to be
brought to the attention of the Chiefs of States before your departure.

1. We suggest that a single temporary resident Commissioner should
be appointed to Armenia, who will have the full authority of the
United States, Great Britain, France and Italy in all their relations
to the de facto Armenian Government, as the joint representative of
these Governments in Armenia. His duties shall be so far as he may
consider necessary to supervise and advise upon various governmental
matters in the whole of Russian and Turkish Armenia, and to control
relief and repatriation questions pending the determination of the
political destiny of this area.

2. In case the various Governments should agree to this plan, im-
mediate notification should be made to the de facto Governments of
Turkey and of Armenia of his appointment and authority. Further-
more, he will be appointed to represent the American Relief Adminis-
tration and the American Committee for Relief in the Near East, and
take entire charge of all their activities in Russian and Turkish
Armenia.

The ideal man for this position would be General Harbord, as I
assume under all the circumstances it would probably be desirable to
appoint an American. Should General Harbord be unable to under-
take the matter, I am wondering whether you would leave it to us to
select the man in conjunction with General Pershing.

I assume that the personnel of this Mission would be necessarily com-
prised of army and navy officers who would retain their rank and
emoluments and I understand from the Commission for the Near East
that they would be prepared to supply such funds as were required for
incidental expenses until such other arrangements could be made.

Faithfully yours, Hereerr HoOVER

His Excellency, THE PRESIDENT,
11 Place des E'tats-Unis,
Paris.

‘Henry Morgenthau, American Ambassador to Turkey, 1913-16.
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five Great
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris,
on Monday, July 7, 1919, at 3: 30 p.m.

PrESENT
AMERICA,

UNITED STATES OF BrITISH EMPIRE FRANCR
Hon. R. Lansing. The Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour. M. Clemenceau.

ItALy JAPAN
M. Tittoni. M. Matsui.

Secretaries

Mr. L. Harrison.
Mr. H. Norman.

M. Paterno.

M. Kawai.

Joint Secretariat
AmMERICA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Lieut. Burden.
Britise EmMpire . . . . . . .. Capt. E. Abraham,
FRaNCE . . . . . .. .. ... Capt. A. Portier.
ITaLy . . . . . v .0 0. ... Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.

1. M. CiemenceAu said that before beginning the subjects on
the Agenda he had a statement to make on what was going on
in Italy. He did not wish to make difficulties worse,

Sitaation but the situation was such that it was to be feared
in Italy that massacres might occur. He had received dis-
patches, which he could show his colleagues, regarding

the position at Fiume. Disturbances had taken place there, caused
it was alleged by the misconduct of a French soldier. This was the
Ttalian account and he would not dispute it. It might be true, and
in any case similar things had happened elsewhere without leading
to any serious consequences. There had followed in the Italian
press a virulent attack on France and on Great Britain, but espe-
cially on France, and it could readily be believed that it was inspired
by German influence. The French Ambassador had made a protest
to M. Nitti? M. Nitti had declared that he could not control the
press. It was surprising that M. Nitti could not control the Italian

*Francesco S. Nitti, President of the Council and Minister of Interior of
Italy from June 23, 1919.
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press, seeing the power he had over the press outside his own coun-
try. At Fiume things had gone from bad to worse, and there was
a movement tending to the expulsion of French and British troops.
When the Allied Council had addressed a memorandum to M. Tit-
toni,* President Wilson had wanted to ask the Italian Government
to evacuate Fiume. He had begged President Wilson not to insist
on this, as it appeared to him that all the Allies had an equal right
to maintain troops there. As there were French and British troops
in Fiume, it was only fair that Italian troops should be there, pro-
vided they remained as representatives of the Alliance. He recalled
he said this in order to show that he was not anti-Italian. The latest
news from Fiume was that the condition there was going from bad
to worse. French fatigue parties passing through the streets had
been attacked with grenades and revolvers. Attacks had been made
on British troops, but not so openly. Isolated men had been mal-
- treated. The Italian general said he could not put a stop to these
disturbances as long as French and British troops remained in the
town. This was not all. At Genoa French soldiers had been
knifed, and similar things had happened in other Italian towns.
French consuls at Milan and elsewhere had sent him newspaper
cuttings threatening a renewal of the Sicilian Vespers.® In addi-
tion to this there was evidence of Government action. Supply trains
for Poland and Czecho-Slovakia were being detrained [detained?]
at Modane on some futile pretext of paying customs dues. These
* supplies were urgently required and it was obvious that they were
stopped by Government action. Further, the French Consul at
Rhodes reported that, at the very time when the Peace Conference
was asking M. Tittoni to withdraw Italian troops from Southern
Asia Minor, 3,300 men had been sent two days ago to occupy a further
point in Asia Minor. The French Ambassador in Rome, who had
been most violently attacked had been told by General Albricci that
these attacks would cease if better news came from Paris. This was
an attempt to bring pressure on the Peace Conference. Against this
attempt he now made the strongest protest. He would not deliberate
under threats and he would not tolerate pressure of this kind. From
an official person specially qualified, whose name he did not wish
to give, but would if necessary, he learnt that Admiral Thaon di
Revel ¢ had put a stop to mine-sweeping, and had ordered that new
mines be kept in readiness in case of war with France. He was

? See CF-96B and CF-99A, vol. v1, pp. 738 and 759.

*The great massacre of the French in Sicily by the natives in 1282, which
began at Palermo on Easter Monday, at the hour of vespers. It was in re-
. venge for the cruelties of the French under Charles of Anjou and resulted in
the expulsion of the king from Sicily, and the introduction of Aragonese rule.

* Commander in chief of the Italian naval forces.
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prepared to show this information, if they wished it, to Mr. Balfour
and to Mr. Lansing. It was further hinted that this news should
not be taken too seriously, but that it might be allowed to leak out
in order to influence the Conference. He had hitherto resisted two
things. First, abominable attacks by the Italian Press, and secondly,
the temptation to make a reply to attacks in the French Press which
was being manoeuvered on behalf of Italy against the French Gov-
ernment. He could, by making a public statement put a stop to all
this but he had restrained himself in order not to make things worse.
If these things did not cease however, he would be forced to answer.
This would produce a disastrous diplomatic situation which he
wished to avoid. It was for this reason that he addressed M. Tit-
toni in the Council. He wished to know what was at the bottom
of all this. Why, when the Council was deliberating about Asia
Minor, were fresh Italian troops sent there? Why was there no offi-
cial protest by the Italian Government against the virulent Press
campaign conducted against Fiume? He did not suggest the Italian
Government should apply the censorship; but it could make a state-
ment in refutation of what was alleged. In any case he would not
be influenced by pressure. If he had to make a choice, he would
[not?] allow French soldiers to be murdered in Fiume. He had
ordered back French troops from Italy where they had once been wel-
come in times of stress, but were now no longer well received. Noth-
ing, however, would stop him from keeping French troops in Fiume
where they had a right to be.

M. Trrront said that he thought the Fiume incidents most deplor-
able. He was deeply concerned at the outbreak of dissensions among
troops which had bled in the same cause. He also had received dis-
patches which he would not quote as they might give explanations of
the origin of the outbreak not altogether in accord with those men-
tioned by M. Clemenceau. He thought there should be an enquiry
into the incidents and suitable punishment for those responsible. At
all costs friendship must be restored between the Allies. He sug-
gested that an Inter-Allied Commission be appointed to enquire into
the events at Fiume and that its findings should be awaited before
any decision was taken,

M. CremeNcEAU asked whether the Commission would also enquire
into what had taken place at Genoa.

M. Trrronr said that his proposal was confined to Fiume. The
Italian Government had shown its anxiety to put matters right by
sending General Caneva immediately to make an enquiry. General
Caneva was an army commander, a senator and a man of judicial
temper. He would certainly do his very best.
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M. CrLeEMENCEAU interposed that no complaint was made against
General Grazioli in person.®

M. Trrront continuing said that as regards the events in Genoa
an enquiry was taking place. He would inform the French Govern-
ment of the result as soon as possible. Irresponsible acts should not
be allowed to compromise the good relations of the Governments.

- It was essential that the Governments should remain closely united.

M. CremENcEAU said that the French Consul at Milan reported
danger of massacres,

M. Trrron: said that he was going there on the following day.
This showed the importance he attached to the subject. During his
absence M. Crespi® would take his place. But he would beg the
Council to await his return before dealing with questions specially
concerning Italy. M. Clemenceau had spoken of threats aimed at
the Conference.. He felt bound to deny matters formally that there
was any ground for such a belief. It would be puerile on the part
of the Italian Government to attempt to coerce the Conference. Italy
was represented by himself at the Conference and.he trusted that the
spirit of friendship and conciliation shown by him would be recog-
nised. As to the statements attributed to General Albricci and to
Admiral Thaon di Revel, he felt certain that whatever they might
have said had been greatly distorted. He could, if necessary, ask
these officers for explanations, but he was bound to say that he could
not believe what was attributed to them. As to the Italian Press, it was
certainly true that M. Nitti could not muzzle it. The same papers that
attacked France were also conducting a most violent attack on him.
Party feeling in Italy was very strong and the violence of expression
in the Italian Press at the present time had never been equalled.
As to the alleged influencing of the French Press, he felt bound to
deny that anything of the sort was going on. Since joining the
Delegation he had seen all that took place and could find no evidence
to that effect. He was ready, however, to do anything that might
satisfy M. Clemenceau. He would also point out that the censor-
ship had just been abolished in Italy. As regards Asia Minor he
was not aware of the events alleged. To make sure that no mis-
understanding took place he had summoned General Bongiovanni?
to Paris in order to give him his instructions personally. These in-
structions would be entirely in accordance with the confidential in-
terview he had had with his colleagues a few days ago. As to the
transit of supply trains to Serbia he was informed that certain cus-
toms dues were legitimately required. These dues Serbia promised

® Gen. Francesco Grazioli, commander of Italian forces at Fiume.

‘lgilvio Crespi, Italian plenipotentiary to the Peace Conference from June 23,
1919.

"Gen. Luigi Bongiovanni, commander of the Italian forces in Asia Minor.
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to pay but her present attitude made it reasonable to doubt whether
she would pay. Not only food was being shipped, but arms and
munitions as well. There was a report that the Serbians had asked
the Czecho-Slovaks to join them in an attack upon Italy. He would
at a later date give fuller information in writing on this subject
to his colleagues.

M. CrEMENCEAU said that he had no wish to continue the debate and
that M, Tittoni’s proposal for an Inter-Allied Enquiry at Fiume gave
him satisfaction for the moment, provided it be made at once.

Mkr. Lansing said that he agreed. He thought it would be neces-
sary to select a military man and he would like to consult General
Bliss. He thought it would be better to select an officer from Head-
quarters rather than one serving on the spot.

Mr. Barrour said that he also was in favour of a Commission to
enquire into the events at Fiume. It was the first duty of the Coun-
cil to prevent the development of these unfortunate incidents into
matters of international concern. He thought the method suggested
by M. Tittoni a good one. He could not immediately nominate an
officer and he was inclined to agree with Mr. Lansing that the best
selection would be an officer not serving in Italy nor in the Adriatic.
He would have to consult his military advisors. He felt it was
scarcely necessary to say that he entirely agreed with his colleagues
regarding the folly and wickedness of attempting to influence the
decisions of the Conference by pressure from without. The effect
would be exactly the reverse of that desired by anyone employing
such methods.

Mz . LansiNG said that he had a suggestion to make regarding the
work of the Commission. It should not only make an enquiry, in
order to determine the immediate responsibilities for what had oc-
curred, but should also make recommendations regarding what should
be done in the future. He could see no reason himself why the forces
maintained by the Allies in Fiume should not be reduced to equal
contingents of police.

M. CremeNceAu suggested that each of the Delegations should
designate their officers on the following day and give them their in-
structions.

‘Mr. BaLrour said that he was not sure he could arrange to have the
officer present on the following day.

Mr. LansiNg expressed the same opinion.

M. Trrront said that he agreed to the extension of the duties of the
Commission suggested by Mr. Lansing, but he would stipulate that
no suggestions be made to the Commissioners and that they be left
to propose their own solutions.
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M. CLEMENCEAU said that, to speak plainly, it could not be tolerated
that Fiume should continue to be governed in the name of the King
of Italy.

M. Trrront said that this was not done by the Italian Authorities
but by the local municipality.

(It was decided that an Inter-Allied Commission of military officers
should be appointed to make an enquiry into the incidents at Fiume
and to recommend means of improving the situation for the future

It was agreed that the American, British, French and Italian Dele-
gations should nominate their respective commissioners on the follow-
ing day and that these should receive collective instructions from
the Council.) '

The Members of the Drafting Committee entered the room.

2. M. CremENcEAU asked M. Fromageot ® to tell the Council in
what state the Austrian Treaty was.

M. Fromaceor said that the Treaty was ready, its
Date and Manner . . .
of Handing the articles and its pages numbered. It only required a
g::geit{‘;n&g‘@us- last revision which could be completed by the follow-
trian Delegation ing 'evening.

Mgr. Barrour asked whether the question of frontiers was solved.

M. Fromaceor said that all that had been sent to the Drafting
Committee had been put into shape.

M. CreMENCEAU observed that the Council wished to know what
was missing.

M. Fromagceor replied that he was unable to answer this as he was
not aware of the intentions of the Council.

M. CrLEMENCEAU said that he had hoped M. Fromageot would be
able to tell him what the Council had omitted.

M. Fromacror said that Article 27 of the Treaty provided.a fron-
tier entirely surrounding Austria. On some points it was stipulated
that the exact line should be fixed at a later time. The Drafting Com-
mittee at one time had been told that they would have to insert the
frontiers of the neighbouring States. Later the Committee had been
told to insert a clause requiring Austria to recognise such frontiers
as might be laid down thereafter. -

Mkr. Lansine said he wished to know whether the Treaty in its
present form was final.

M. Fromaceor said he was unable to answer this question.

Mr. Barrour said that after examining Article 27 he observed that
the old frontier between Austria and Hungary was maintained. He
understood that the question of altering this frontier had been re-
ferred to a Commission. This Commission had not yet reported, and
its conclusions therefore had not been accepted by the Council.

* Henri Fromageot, of France, president of the Drafting Committee.
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Mr. LansiNg said that certain portions of the Treaty had been
handed to the Austrians. There remained other portions—Financial,
Economic and the Reparation Clauses which had not been handed to
them. He wished to know whether these were completed. If so, he
suggested that these portions be sent to the Austrian Delegation.

M. Fromacror argued that for ease of reference it would be better
to present the whole Treaty to the Austrians at one time with all the
articles in due series.

(After some further discussion it was decided that the Commissions
considering the boundaries of Austria should report to the Council
on the 9th July, 1919.)

3. M. Fromaceor pointed out that in all other cases of new frontiers
a stipulation had been introduced appointing Boundary Commissions

to establish the exact line on the ground. Only in
Boundary Com- the case of the frontier between Austria and Italy
Frontier Between  was there no such provision.

M. Trrront said that if the Article were left in its
present state the inference would be that the line must be settled
between the Italians and the Austrians. He further asked how many
members were appointed to the other Boundary Commissions men-
tioned. He would prefer a small Commission. For instance, one of
three, with one Italian, one Austrian and one other member.

M. Fromaceor said that the numbers varied. They were either 7,
5, or 3. There were 3 for Dantzig and 5 for the Saar Valley.

(After some further discussion it was decided to insert in the
Treaty of Peace with Austria a provision to establish a Boundary
Commission of 5 members to draw the frontier between Austria and
Italy.)

4. The Council had before it the following document :—

“The French Delegation have informed the Commission on Baltic
Affairs of a telegram from the French High Com-

P eption o’ missioner in Siberia, from which it appears that
in Advance on Admiral XKoltchak’s® Government have asked the

Allied Governments to support at Helsingfors the
request which they have addressed to General Mannerheim * to com-
mence operations against Petrograd as soon as possible.

The Commission do not consider that they can recommend the Allied
Governments to take the responsibility of involving the Finns in
warlike operations whose chances of success it is difficult for them to
judge at a distance. They feel, however, that the Finnish Government
have been stopped several times in their desire to take action against

® Admiral Alexander Vasilevich Kolchak, on November 18, 1918, at Omsk, -pro-
claimed Supreme Governor of Russia.

 Gen. Carl Gustaf Emil Mannerheim, Regent of Finland from December
1918

S - .
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the Bolsheviks of Petrograd by the fact that they do not know how
any initiative of this kind would be viewed by the Allied Govern-
ments.

The Commission therefore think they can recommend the following
suggestion to the Council of Ten:

A joint telegram should be addressed to the British, United
States, Italian and French Chargés d’Affaires at Helsingfors
requesting them to inform General Mannerheim’s Government
that in case they felt able to grant the request to act made to
them by Admiral Koltchak, the Allied Governments, without
bringing any pressure on the Finnish Government, would have no
objection to that operation.”

(It was agreed that a joint telegram to the above effect be drafted
in the name of the Council by M. Pichon).

5. M. CLEMENCEAU said that as President of the Peace Conference

he had received from the Norwegian Minister in

Cprregian Paris a request for a hearing regarding certain Nor-
(@) Spitzbergen  weoian claims relating :—
(a; to Spitzbergen
(d) to the Northern frontier between Norway and Finland.

(¢) toreparation for Norwegian shipping sunk by the Germans
during the war.

Mz. LansiNg said that he would prefer to entrust the Spitzbergen
question to a Sub-Commission rather than to refer it to the Baltic
Commission. He recalled that in 1914 there had been a Commission
in Christiania on this subject,** whose labours had been interrupted by
the outbreak of war. The matter was a complicated one, both
from the political and from the economic aspect. The American rep-
resentative at the Christiania Conference was happily now in Paris.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that he accepted Mr. Lansing’s proposal.

M. Trrront said that he was informed that there were extensive coal
deposits in Spitzbergen. He asked that the coal situation in Italy be
taken into consideration in any decision taken regarding these coal
deposits. The future of Italy in respect to coal was very unpromising.
Since the acquisition of the Saar Valley coal-field by France, France
could obtain coal at 50 francs or 60 francs a ton. Coal in Italy cost
250 francs a ton. The prospect for Italian industries dependent on
coal fuel was therefore hopeless unless this situation could be remedied.

(It was agreed to appoint a Sub-Commission consisting of one repre-
sentative each of the United States of America, Great Britain, France
and Italy to consider the claims of various Powers in Spitzbergen,
and to make a report to the Council.

M. Pichon was asked to invite all the neutral Powers interested to
present their views to the Commission.)

11 See Foreign Relations, 1914, pp. 974 ff.
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(It was agreed that it would be difficult for the Peace Conference
(b) Frontier to intervene in a frontier question between two neutral

& Fingana o States, and no decision for the time being was taken
on this subject.)

(¢) Norwegian (.It was decided to refer the Norwggian .clai.ms
Cloim for fhepa- against Germany for. damage t.o Norwegan shipping
Germany at sea to the Reparation Commission.)

6. M. ManToUx read the proposed reply. (Annexure A.)
M. Barrour thought that a somewhat over eager invitation was ex-
tended to Austria to come into the League.
M. CremMENCEAU said that he would consent to any

Reply to Aus- 1 1 1

bty Noie on alteration in wording Mr. Balfour would care to
ague o

League make,

Mr. Lansing expressed the view that it was perhaps
desirable to encourage the Austrians, both by reason of the threat of
Bolshevic Hungary at their very doors, and also in order to dispel their
tendency to join Germany.

Mr. Barrour said that if soft words were likely to give the Aus-
trians encouragement, which might be true, he would withdraw his
criticism.

(The draft reply proposed by the Sub-Committee of the Commis-
sion on the League of Nations was approved.) ‘

7. M. Trrront expressed the view that commercial censorship was

Removal of par't and parcel of the blockgde. It ml'xst, therefo‘re,
E&.:l:?;r.:{atlhsen- loglcally cease at 'the same time. It might be main-
Same Time as ta}ned by an arbitrary act, but could not be main-
Germany tained legally.

(It was agreed that the commercial censorship as being part of the
measures constituting a blockade on Germany should be abolished at
the same time as the blockade.)

Beauest of ele- 8. (It was agreed that the Jugo-Slav Delegation
gation for Aus- should receive copies of the Austrian Notes and coun-
Goncerning ter proposals concerning Jugo-Slavia.)

9. Mr. LansinGg said that he had a proposal to make

regarding the repatriation of certain Armenians, in order that they

should be able to sow the next crop. (See Annexure B.)

Repatriation of Mg. Bavrour said that so far as he remembered, on

Armenians the previous day a Commissioner had been appointed
for Armenia.*

Mz. LansiNg observed that what was now proposed was different.

It was necessary to bring exiled Armenian agriculturalists back to

the country, and to dispossess the Turkish usurpers of their land.

 Ante. p. 28.
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His proposal was that General Milne ** be consulted as to the possi-
bility of doing this.

Mz. Barrour said that he would certainly agree to consulting Gen-
eral Milne as to the possibility of repatriating a certain number of
Armenian refugees. He did not think, however, that he could accept
the responsibility laid down in the second sentence of the proposal,
namely, that their protection should devolve upon the British forces.

Mgr. LansiNG said that all he wished was that General Milne should
report as to this also.

Mgr. Barrour said he would agree if a slight modification of the text
were made.

(It was then agreed that the British Government should consult
General Milne as to the possibility of repatriating immediately a cer-
tain number of Armenian refugees, and as to the possibility of ensur-
ing their protection by British forces until Armenia received a manda-
tory. In the meantime their food would be supplied as at present
by the American Relief Organisation.)

10. Mr. Barrour said that he would like to draw attention to a
matter which had not been put on the Agenda. General Gough *

represented the Allies in the Baltic Provinces.
Diteet Refations  Orders had been given for the Germans to withdraw
Goaeh ang the””  from the Baltic Provinces; this order they were carry-
Germans ing out but imperfectly. For instance they had been
ordered to withdraw from Riga. They had removed five miles out-
side Riga and there halted. General Gough complained that he
could only get into touch with the Germans by circuitous methods.
He could not hasten the process of German evacuation very much.
He asked whether he could be given authority to treat direct with
the German Command on this matter.

Mgr. Lansing said that he agreed in principle, but would like before
giving an answer to consult his military advisers. .

(It was agreed that this question be put on the Agenda for the next
meeting.)

11. (It was decided that the proceedings of the Council be recorded

by the Joint Secretariat, and that the procés-verbaux

Record of Pro-

ceedings of be distributed on the same scale as those of the Coun-
Dfi:éf,',’:é?“ cil of Heads of States.)
0!

(The Meeting then adjourned.)
Vira Magestic, Paris, July 7, 1919.

- b tG'en. Sir George Francis Milne, commander of the British forces in the Near
ast.

#Lt. Gen. Sir Hubert Gough, of the British Army, chief of the Inter-Allied
Mission to the Baltic States.
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Annexure “A” to HD-1
WCP-1089A

COMMISSION ON THE LEAGUE OF NATIONS
SUB-COMMITTEE

Draft Reply to the Austrian Note Concerning the League of Nations

1. The Principal Allied and Associated Powers note with satisfac-
tion the adherence of the Austrian Delegation to the project of a
League of Nations, and to the principles upon which such a League
of Nations has been founded by the Covenant embodied in the Condi-
tions of Peace. They are glad to know that the Austrian Govern-
ment share their view that the establishment of such a League will
conduce to the maintenance of peace in those parts of the world which
hitherto have been centres of international friction and misunder-
standing.

2. The Principal Allied and Associated Powers have taken into
careful consideration the demand of the Austrian Delegation for the
admission of their country as an original Member of the League of
Nations. It has never been their intention to exclude Austria for any
long period from the League; on the contrary, they wish to reiterate
that it is their hope and conviction that the League will at the earliest
possible date include all nations that can be trusted to carry out the
obligations accepted by Members of the League. They must point
out, however, that in urging the claim of Austria to Membership of the
League as immediately necessary to the safety of their territory, the
Austrian Delegation have used some arguments which appear to indi-
cate that they have not fully appreciated the provisions of the Cove-
nant. But they recognise nevertheless the strength of the claim put
forward by the Austrian Delegation. They fully appreciate the evi-
dence which, by the attitude which she has hitherto observed, Austria
has given of her good intentions. They see no reason why she should
not apply for admission to the League, in accordance with the provi-
sions of Article I of the Covenant, at the earliest opportunity that may
present itself after the ratification of the Treaty of Peace. As soon as
they are assured that Austria possesses a responsible Government and
that this Government has both the will and the power to fulfil its
international obligations, they are prepared to support Austria’s can-
didature for admission to the League.

3. The Principal Allied and Associated Powers have carefully
studied the interesting proposals with regard to the settlement of
international disputes and the details of the organisation of a Per-
manent Court of International Justice put forward by Dr. Lam-
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masch * in Annexes A and B to the Austrian Note. They are im-
pressed with the value of some of Dr. Lammasch’s suggestions; but
while they consider the immediate establishment of a Permanent
Court to be of the highest importance, they have not thought it pos-
sible or expedient to embody in the Covenant itself the detailed provi-
sions required for its constitution. They will submit Annexes A and
B of the Austrian Note for the consideration of the Council of the
League when it undertakes the preparation of a plan for the establish-
ment of a Permanent Court in accordance with Article 14 of the
Covenant.

4. Furthermore, the Principal Allied and Associated Powers are not
of opinion that an addition to the Covenant of the sort proposed in
Annex C regarding Article XXTII (¢) is at the present time necessary
or possible. They would point out that Article XXIIT stipulates that
“freedom of transit and equitable treatment for the commerce of all
Members of the League” shall be secured “subject to and in accordance
with the provisions of international conventions existing or hereafter
to be agreed upon”. They feel confident that when the Members of
the League proceed to formulate the General International Conven-
tion foreseen in this Article, the proposals of the Austrian Delegation
contained in Annex C will receive due consideration.

Paris, 4 July, 1919.

Annexure “B” to HD-1
5 Jovy, 1919.

To: The Commissioners.
From: W. H. Buckler.*®

1. The question of Armenian Relief is now being dealt with
as follows:

(a) Colonel William N. Haskell ™ is to be the local Commis-
sioner in charge of food distribution and relief;

(5) General Harbord *® is to proceed to Armenia to report on
repatriation and general military and economic problems.

2. A further question is the feasibility of repatriating a certain
number of refugees before September 1, so that they may sow their
fields. This might possibly be accomplished through British offi-
cers on the spot, and the repatriation of even a few thousand men

% Dr. Heinrich Lammasch, Austrian jurist; Austro-Hungarian Prime Minister,
October 28 to November 13, 1918.

* Specialist on Asia Minor and the Caucasus in Russian Division of the
American Commission to Negotiate Peace.

 Member of the American Relief Administration.

®Gen. James G. Harbord, Chief of Staff, American Expeditionary Forces.

514888—46—voL. VII——4
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would materially reduce starvation next year. There will be no
time for General Harbord to arrange for this before the winter
begins.

Having consulted Mr. Vansittart of the British Delegation, I
therefore recommend:

That the British authorities be requested to consult General
Milne as to the possibility of immediately repatriating a certain
number of Armenian refugees. Their protection, until Armenia
receives a mandatory, would devolve upon the British forces, while
their food would be supplied, as at present, by the American Re-
lief Organisation.
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delégations of the Five Great
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris,
on Tuesday, July 8, 1919, at 3: 30 p.m.

PrESENT
AMERICA,
UNITED STATES OF BRITISH EMPIRE FRANCE
Hon. R. Lansing. The Rt. Hon, A. J. Balfour. M. Clemenceau.
IraLy JAPAN
M. Crespi. M. Matsui.
Secretaries
Mr. L. Harrison.
Mr, H. Norman.
M. Paterno.
M. Ashida.
Joint Secretariat
AmMERICA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Lieut. Burden.
BriTiIsHE EMPIRE . . . . . . . . Capt. E. Abraham.
FRaNCE . . . . . . . ... .. Capt. A. Portier.
ImaLy . . . . . o000 oo Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.

1. M. CLemENCEAU said that he had bad news to give to the Council.
He had a report of a still graver incident in Fiume. Nine French
soldiers had been killed. The day before, General
Sitpation Grazioli had requested the French General to with-
draw from the city with his troops. The same request
was apparently made to the Serbians. What the Serbians replied,
he did not know. The French General refused. It wason the morrow
of this that the mob, encouraged by an Italian officer, had attacked a
small French post. Sailors from the Fleet had come ashore to join
in the assault and warships in the Harbour had fired on the post.
This had led to the death of nine men.

Mgr. Lansing said that he had had a report on the previous after-
noon, which he had communicated to M. Tittoni, to the effect that a
French post of Annamite troops had been attacked by the mob. Then
forces had been landed from Italian ships and the Barracks of the
Annamites had been surrounded. It was at this stage that some of
the latter had been killed. The report quotedya British observer who
had seen three Annamites stabbed to death while holding up their

45
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hands in token of surrender. In addition to this, a French packet boat
had been fired on by Italian volunteers.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that this was more than could be endured. No
one in France would submit to treatment of this sort. Therefore, his
first act was to ask his colleagues what should be done. He assumed
that they were ready to defend the rights of France as he was ready
to defend theirs. The Italian Government had installed in Fiume a
gang of men, known as volunteers, who controlled the city in the
name of the King of Italy. It was to help these volunteers that the
Italian General asked his Allied colleagues to withdraw from the city.
He therefore proposed to retire with his British and American col-
leagues and to make his decision after consultation with them.

M. Crespr said that he wished to express on behalf of his Government
the sincerest regret for what had taken place. He was deeply im-
pressed by the reports received by his colleagues. He, himself, had
no news later than that which had been on the previous day in M.
Tittoni’s hands. He was therefore taken by surprise. He hoped and
believed that the reports referred to the same incident as has been
mentioned on the previous day, namely, to the incident of Sunday.
The information in the hands of the Italian Delegation was to the
effect that after provocation caused by a French soldier, rioting be-
gan. It was alleged that a French soldier had fired first. He had
been supported by other men who came from a small post and fired
on the crowd. Italian soldiers had then intervened to restore order,
then French sailors had fired from ships. The information, therefore,
was not quite the same as that in the hands of M. Clemenceau.

Mgr. LansiNg said that he had no other information than that of
which he had given an account. It was therefore possible that it was
a new version of the Sunday incident mentioned on the previous day.

Mr. Bavrour said that by every account it was a deplorable affair.
He, himself, had no information. He had no means, therefore, of
judging whether there had been one incident or two. He asked M.
Clemenceau whether his dispatches related to events of Sunday or
to subsequent events. '

M. CrLEMENCEAU said that the event described had taken place on
the 6th.

Mr. Barwrour said it might then perhaps be assumed that every-
thing had taken place on one day.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that this might be true. On the previous day
he had not known how serious the matter was. He had then been
content with a Commission of Enquiry. Now he thought this was not
enough. He could not allow French soldiers to be murdered. It
must also be borne in mind that on the day before the incident or inci-
dents, the Italian General had desired the French troops to be re-
moved ten kilometers west of the Town in order to avoid trouble.
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The Italian General had no right to demand anything of the sort
and the French General had rightly refused. The dispatch he had
received concluded by asking that Allied warships should be sent to
Fiume.

M. Creser pointed out that according to M. Clemenceau’s news, the
Italian General had not given any orders to his French colleague but
had only made a proposal. Moreover, General Grazioli, the day be-
fore the incident, had driven through Fiume in the same car with
General Savy,! in order to show the good understanding existing be-
tween the two Commanders. He had done everything he could to
avoid disturbances. Incidents of this kind where troops of various
nations were gathered were liable to occur everywhere.

M. CremeNCEAU said that incidents of this kind had not occurred
elsewhere. There was no instance of British or American ships firing
on French troops nor of French ships firing on British troops. On
the previous day, he had not known that the Italian warships had
acted in this manner. He must therefore insist on consulting his
British and American colleagues separately as to the action to be
taken. He proposed that they should withdraw together.

M. Creser said that he would, himself, withdraw. (At this point
the Italian members of the Meeting withdrew. )

2. M. CremENcEAU nominated General Naulin as French repre-
sentative.

Mke. LansiNeg nominated Major-General C. P. Sum-

Appointment of merall,

Comumisshon To Mgr. Barrour said that he was unable to nominate

Tnoldents at an officer at that moment.

Fiume M. Creser said he would make his nomination on the
following day.

3. The following instructions were accepted :—

That the inter-allied Commission of Enquiry for Fiume shall inves-
tigate and report the facts as to the incident or incidents of violence
which have recently taken place in that town, an

Instructions record their opinion on the resgonsibility therefor.
b Do asion They should further submit to the Supreme Council

as soon as possible their recommendations as to the
best means of preserving peace and safety hereafter.

4. M. CremeNceaU handed M. Crespi a Note regarding the stoppage
Stoppage of of trains at Modane.?
Supply Trains M. Crespr said that it was a technical matter and
2t Modane that he would reply on the following day.

! Commander of the French forces in Fiume.

2 For notes of this separate meeting of the heads of the American, British and
French delegations, see HD-2A, p. 56.

* The note does not accompany the minutes,
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5. Mr. Barrour said that he had prepared the following draft
resolution :—

In order to expedite the evacuation of the Baltic States by German
in accordance with the decision taken by the Council
Qretion itions  Of the Principal Allied and Associated Powers on
Between General  June 13th * and communicated to the German Govern-
Germans.  (See ment by Marshal Foch, vide his telegram No. 3029
ety dated June 18th to the President of the Inter-Allied

Armistice Commission at Spa, it is ResoLvED:

(@) that General Gough shall be authorised to deal directly
with local enemy commanders in the Baltic States on matters aris-
ing from the above decision;

(d) that General Gough shall have similar powers with regard
to the execution of any subsequent decisions of the Allied and
Associated Governments in connection with the German troops
now in the Baltic States, all such decisions being in the first instance
communicated to the German Government through the usual
channels;

(¢) that Marshal Foch will be informed of this resolution and
will be requested to communicate its substance to the German Gov-
ernment, with a request that the German Commanders in the
Baltic States may be given the necessary instructions.

There was also a resolution of the Commission on Baltic Affairs:—

The Baltic Commission having been informed of the contents of the
telegram[s] from General Gough and Colonel Tallents 5 of 25th, 26th
and 27th June respecting the necessity of an immediate credit of
£500,000 in order to pay Russian and Lettish troops in Libau required
for maintenance of order, consider that it is urgently necessary that
this sum should at once be placed at the disposal of General Gough on
grounds of military necessity as otherwise the position of the Inter-
allied Mission and of General Gough will become shortly untenable
in Latvia, and it will be impossible to enforce the evacuation of the
German troops.

The Commission, however, desire to draw attention to the fact that
this £500,000 is only sufficient to meet immediate military necessities
and they therefore recommend that enquiries should be made as to what
securities in the way of timber, flax or other raw materials the three
Baltic States can give for a loan.

In case such a loan can be raised either from one or more of the
Allied and Associated Governments or from private banking institu-
tions on the basis of such security it is recommended that the above
advance of £500,000 should ultimately be merged in this loan.

The first was intended to place General Gough in direct relation
with the Germans in order to ensure their retirement from the Baltic
Provinces.

® Ante, p. 41.
* CF-63, minute 5, vol. v1, p. 373.
¥ Chief of the British Economic Mission to Latvia.



THE COUNCIL OF HEADS OF DELEGATIONS 49

The second related to a different point though it was also con-
nected with the retirement of the Germans. It appeared that the
Germans had been paying the Russian Forces in those parts. Those
forces must be maintained, therefore paid. General Gough required
£500,000 to do this. He supposed that there was no choice but to
agree. He confessed that it was news to him that the Germans had
hitherto paid those troops. If, however, the Allies had to become the
Paymasters of those forces, he thought it best to entrust the money to
General Gough, the Allied Representative, on the spot for proper
disbursement.

Mr. LaNsiNG observed that this was a new proposal. The United
States were in a difficult position in matters of this kind. He knew
of no fund out of which such a cost could be defrayed. American laws
were very stringent on the subject of spending money. Until July 1st,
while the President was in Paris, there had been funds which he could
spend at his discretion. At present there were no funds available.
The only means of raising money for such a purpose that he could
think of was a loan. Seeing that there was no recognised Government
in the Countries in question, it did not appear possible to raise a loan.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that it was not clear to him how the French
contribution could be raised.

Report of (It was decided to accept the first resolution and to
Committee on refer the second for report to the Financial Com-
Repatriation of « .

Austrian Prison- mlssmn.)

ors of War (6) The proposed reply of the Committee (see
Annex 1) was accepted.

(7) After some discussion the French text (see Annex II) was

accepted with slight alterations. The adjective “Ger-

Reply to the . . .

Austrian Note man” was suppressed in connection with the expres-
n e kconomic . . .

:(;)lan:;,l of the sion “Austria” or “Austrian” and the sentence regard-
rea!

ing the boycotting of Serbian cattle was struck out.
(7) [sic] (It was decided that the answers accepted by the Council

regarding economic questions, the League of Nations and Consular and

Diplomatic Agents in South America should be

Coramunication handed to the Austrian Delegation on the 9th July,
Sn Panliestion  and that the replies should be given to the Press on
in the Press the evening of the 9th July, so as to be published on

the morning of the 10th.)
Vira Magestic, Parts, 8 July, 1919.
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Annex I to HD-2

Report of the Prisoners of War Commission on the Observations
Submitted by the Austrian Delegation Regarding the Conditions of
Peace

The Chairman of the Delegation of the Austrian Republic requested
in his letter of 27th May® that General Slatin” might be allowed
to approach the Peace Conference, so as to be able to study with it
the questions concerning Austrian prisoners. The Supreme Council
having decided to accede to this request, the Prisoners of War Com-
mission visited St. Germain-en-Laye on the 10th June, in order to
confer with General Slatin.

The Austrian Delegate submitted two series of requests to the
Commission—the first for the purpose of obtaining, without any de-
lay, measures intended to hasten the repatriation of prisoners, the
second relating to the text of the Conditions of Peace themselves,
and intended to obtain the alteration thereof.

The Austrian Delegate made the following general demands, viz :—

(1) That the first convoys of prisoners to be repatriated be formed
immediately. In his opinion, as hostilities are at an end, it is very
important, from a humanitarian point of view, that an end be put to
the suffering entailed by prolonged captivity, and from a political
goint of view, that the increasing anxiety of more than a million

amilies be allayed. .

(2) That, in any event, the Commission and Sub-Commissions re-
ferred to in Article 2 of the Conditions of Peace (Prisoners of War
Section) be formed immediately and put in the way of beginning
their search without the least delay.

(8) That the Austrian Government be immediately authorized to
send delegates to prison camps, for the purpose of rendering material
help and moral consolation, and more especially that a delegate be
authorized to proceed to Siberia for the purpose of setting repatria-
tion in train.

The Commission has not found it possible to accede to these requests.

As regards the first two, they aim at nothing less than the carrying
out of certain clauses of the Conditions of Peace before such condi-
tions have been finally accepted by the Austrian Government. The
means of hastening such execution lie ready to the Austrian Delega-
tion’s hand—it has only to render the Treaty definitive by signing
it. The Treaty forms a single whole and it would be dangerous to
permit only those clauses which are favourable to our enemies to come
into force.

As regards the third demand, it must be remembered (@) that ad-

* Appendix I to CF-37B, vol. v1, p.b86.
* Gen. Rudolph Slatin, expert adviser on prisoners of war, Austrian delegation
to the Peace Conference.
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mission of Austrian Delegates to camps in the Allied and Associated
countries might result in the introduction of enemy nationals within
our territories before the conclusion. of peace; it would be dangerous
and unjustifiable from any valid point of view. Austrian prisoners
continue to be visited by delegates of the Protecting Power and by
representatives of the International and the neutral Red Cross. (b)
That in Siberia the work of such a Delegation would not be under-
stood, and the latter practically would be unable to fulfill its mission.
It seems to the Commission inadmissible from every point of view that
the representatives of an enemy power should receive special author-
ization to enter into relations with authorities not representing either
an Allied or Associated Power. If Austrian prisoners captured by
the Allied and Associated armies are concerned, the Sub-Commis-
sions mentioned in the Treaty will see to their repatriation; if Aus-
trian prisoners captured by the Russian armies are concerned, the
Austrian Government will be obliged to wait until some Russian
Government shall be officially recognized and delegates thereof ad-
mitted as members of the Commission and Sub-Commissions provided
for in the Treaty of Peace.

B. [sic] The Austrian delegate further submitted certain observa-
tions and formulated requests for alterations of various conditions
of the Treaty of Peace itself, viz:—

(1) With regard to Article 2, the Austrian delegate requested that
it be specified that this Article should apply to all Austrian prisoners,
including those interned in Siberia and Turkestan.

The Commission considers that the contents of this Article are
of a general nature, and that its application would be in accordance
with the conditions specified above.

(2) With regard to Article 4, the Austrian Delegate requested
that the cost of repatriation be borne by the Austrian Government
from the frontier of the captor state only.

It is impossible for the Commission to consider this suggestion.
There is no reason why any distinction should be made in this re-
spect between Germany and Austria. It would, moreover, be dan-
gerous not to ensure that the Austrian Government should be inter-
ested financially in the supply to the Allied countries of all means of
transport which that Government may still be in a position to pro-
vide for repatriation.

(3) With regard to Articles 5 and 6, it was asked that it should
be clearly set forth that only prisoners guilty of offences against
civil law are excluded from repatriation.

The same remark had already been submitted by the German Dele-
gation.® The liberal interpretation of this clause ought to reassure

® Appendix III to CF-9, vol. v, p. 574.
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the Austrian Delegation sufficiently as to the manner in which it
will be applied.

(4) With regard to Articles 9 and 10 which provide for the Com-
mission to search for missing men, and the restitution of objects, valu-
ables and papers belonging to prisoners, General Slatin requested
that reciprocity be provided for.

On that point also the German Delegation submitted a similar
request,’ and the reply made thereto by the Supreme Council ° ap-
plies to the present demand.

Facilities for searching for missing men have always been af-
forded in Allied countries, and the restitution of individual prop-
erty is an obvious obligation which the Allied Powers intend to re-
spect. By mentioning them in the Treaty with Austria, it was the
intention of the Allied and Associated Powers to impose on her the
fulfilment of duties which she has sometimes disregarded.

(5) A single remark appeared to the Commission to be worthy
of note. The date of 1st. May settled by Article 5 as the latest date
for punishment of offences against discipline which do not necessi-
tate the detention of offenders, is the same for Germans as for Aus-
trian prisoners. General Slatin asked that, as regards the latter,
this date should be altered to June 15th. or 1st. June at least, seeing
that the Conditions of Peace were communicated to the Austrian
Delegation a month after their communication to the German Dele-
gation,

This remark appeared to be reasonable. By specifying an outside
date the Commission wished to be in some measure secured against
lack of discipline among prisoners of war made aware, by the Treaty
of Peace, of their comparative immunity. The requisite conditions
would be sufficiently fulfilled, if the date of May 1st. specified for
German prisoners were altered to 1st. June for Austrians,

In view of above, the Prisoners of War Commission begs to sug-
gest to the Supreme Council that, out of the observations and de-
mands set forth in the Report of the Austrian Delegation, only the
one concerning the substitution of 1st. June for 1st. May (in Article
5 of the Conditions) be retained.

° Appendix IIT to CF-9, vol. v, p. 574.
*® Appendix IV to CF-20, vol. v, p. 749.
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Annex 2 to HD-2
[Translation ']

Reply to the Notes of the Austrian Delegation Relating to Economic
Conditions
Pars, July 8, 1919.
To: His Excellency, M. Renner, President of the Austrian
Delegation.

From: The President of the Peace Conference.

The notes of June 10, 12, 16, 23, and 25 have been given careful
examination by the Allied and Associated Powers.

These notes pertain to two main questions, as regards matters of
an economic nature;

1. The liquidation of Austrian property in the states formed from
the former Dual Monarchy, or in the states receiving territories of
the former Austro-Hungarian Empire.

2. The non-reciprocity of Articles 1 to 4 of Part X (Economic
clauses). ,

On these two points, the Allied and Associated Powers feel bound
to present both complementary explanations and new texts.

1. They believe it their duty to take into consideration the remarks
contained in the Austrian note of June 23 insofar as concerns the
probable effect upon the economic life of Austria of the rights which
the states holding territories which formerly belonged to the Austro-
Hungarian Monarchy would have of retaining and liquidating all
the property which Austrian nationals or companies controlled by
them possessed in these territories, on the date of November 1, 1918.

They consider that the remarks in question are not without value,
and in consequence they have decided to suppress Article 49 of Part X
(Economic clauses) of the Draft of the Treaty previously submitted,
and to substitute for it the following article, which gives complete
satisfaction to the desire which the Austrian Delegation expressed in
this matter, in the above mentioned notes:

“Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 32 of the annex to Sec-
tion IV of Part X (Economic clauses), all the property, rights and
interests of Austrian nationals or of companies controlled by them,
situated in the territories which formed part of the former Austro-
Hungarian Monarchy will not be subjected to retention or liquida-
tion through application of said provisions.

The property, rights and interests mentioned here do not include
the property considered in Article XII of Part X [/X] (Financial
clauses)”.

4 The French text which accompanies the file copy of the minutes is the text
of the note as transmitted ; this translation of it is filed under Paris Peace Conf.
185.22/59 and has been slightly revised by the editors.
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The present article in no way affects the provisions contained in
Chapter [Part] VIII (Reparations), Section I, Annex 38, insofar as
the property of the Austrian nationals in the way of ships and boats
is concerned.

2. The second claim of the Austrian Delegation concerns the non-
reciprocity of Articles 1 to 4 of Part X (Economic clauses).

Certain arguments in the way of facts which the Austrian Delega-
tion opposes to these clauses cannot, it seems to us, be admitted :

In the first place, the objection raised by the Austrian Delegation
on the question of monopolies is not justified by the text of the articles.
It is in no way the intention of the Allies to do anything further than
demand that the Austrian Government make identical contracts with
each country for the furnishing of products which would form the
object of a state monopoly. All that is demanded is that a monopoly
be not systematically used, either to favor one state at the expense
of another, or to institute a systematic difference in the treatment of
the products of the Contracting Powers which would oppose the
object which these articles have in view.

Moreover, concerning the restrictions of imports necessitated by the
existence of epizootics, it is recognized that the treatment of live stock
imported from a country suffering from an epidemic must necessarily
be different from that accorded to the countries not suffering from it.
All that is asked is that all the laws in the matter be uniformly applied
to the countries in similar conditions, and that no legislative or admin-
istrative measure of this nature be made in the future, as has sometimes
happened in the past, the subject of discrimination to the detriment
of products of one of the Allied or Associated States unless the
circumstances justify it.

Concerning the general thesis of the Austrian Delegation, in virtue
of which it claims that the absence of reciprocity for clauses 1 to 4
endangers the economic life of the country, it must be remarked that
this fact is nullified by the provisions of Article 6.

Article 6 provides, in fact, for the conclusion between Austria on
one hand and Czecho-Slovakia or Hungary on the other of special
customs agreements, the benefit of which will not extend to the other
Allied and Associated States. The effects of these agreements, which
may be concluded immediately after the signing of the Treaty, is to
make it possible for Austria to insure for herself, within the limit of
these agreements, not only the treatment of the most favored nation
in Czecho-Slovakia, but even an exceptionally favorable treatment
which Czecho-Slovakia will be able to accord to her without extending
it to her neighbors.

The provisions of Article 6 are destined to make it possible for
Austria to effect commercial exchanges with the countries from which
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she drew her principal resources and to which she sent her products
for the most part. The possibility of these preferential exchanges
destroys the force of the Austrian claims. A

The Allied and Associated Powers desire nevertheless that Austrian
exports should not be exposed to unfriendly restrictions, and that more-
over the essential interest of the new states be respected in such a way
that they may, for a period of five years at least, insure the introduction
of their products to the Austrian markets under reasonable conditions.

Circumstances resulting directly from the war, and which affect
many of the Allied and Associated Powers, absolutely exclude, on the
other hand, the possibility of their opening their markets a¢ once to
Austrian products under conditions as favorable in all respects as
they can do for other nations.

Under these conditions, the Allied and Associated Powers are led
to the conclusion that, if the period during which Articles 1 to 4 of
Part X must remain in force is not to be modified, it is not inadmissible
that before the expiration of the period above provided, the States
which seek to obtain the benefit of these articles should fulfill certain
correlative conditions.

Under these conditions, the Allied and Associated Powers are ready
to accept the addition to Article 15 of Part X of a supplementary
paragraph in the following form:

“It is nevertheless understood that the obligation imposed on Aus-
tria by Articles 1 to 4 of Part X will not be invoked, unless the League
of Nations decides differently, after the expiration of a time limit of
three years from the date when the present Treaty goes into force, by
an Allied or Associated Power which does not accord to Austria a
correlative treatment.”
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of American, British and French
Delegations Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay,
Paris, on Tuesday, July 8, 1919, at 5 p. m.

PRESENT
AMERICA,
UNITED STATES OF BrITISH EMPIRE FRANCE
Hon. R. Lansing. The Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour. M. Clemenceau.
Secretary

Mr. L. Harrison.
Joint Secretariat

AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Lieut. Burden.
BRITISH EMPIRE . . . . . . . . Capt. E. Abraham.
FRance . . . . . .. .. ... Capt. A. Portier.

[ ]
Interpreter—Professor P. J. Mantoux.

M. CrLeMENCEAU said that what he proposed to do was to send a
French warship to Fiume. He wished to know whether his col-
leagues would agree. There was a French warship at Constantinople
which could reach Fiume in four days. He would prefer to act in
complete agreement with his colleagues.

Mr. Lansing said that there were no American troops in Fiume.
There were, however, some Naval officers. He thought, perhaps it
would be wise to obtain a report on the incidents from the British
Admiral.

M. CremENCEAU said that France had been insulted and that the
French flag must be shown.

Mke. LansiNg said that the Italian troops were, unfortunately, very
much in the majority at Fiume. It was for this reason that the crowd
had been encouraged to attack the French. He had this in his mind
on the previous day when he suggested that the Allied troops should
be reduced to equal contingents of police.

Mr. Barrour said that he saw no objection to the sending of a
French man-of-war. In the meantime, he would do all he could to
obtain the evidence of the British Admiral.

Mr. Lansine agreed. He thought, himself, that the Italians were
to blame. American troops had also been insulted, but it might
appear, on further investigation, that there were extenuating circum-
stances. Should this prove to be the case, M. Clemenceau would, no
doubt, stop his warships by wireless.

56
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M. CLEMENCEATU said that the ship must appear at Fiume. It could
be withdrawn, if necessary, after 48 hours stay there, but the French
flag must be shown.

Mr. BarLrour said that he thought both the British and American
Governments would act in a similar manner in similar circumstances.

Mr. Lansine said that he thought perhaps they would have done so
without consulting their colleagues. ‘

Mr. Barrour said that he understood that this action would not
put a stop to the enquiry which had been proposed on the previous
day.

M. CremENCEAU said that he did not mean in any way to interfere
with that decision. All he wished to maintain was that an enquiry
alone would not be sufficient after what had occurred.

(After obtaining the agreement of his colleagues, M. Clemenceau
gave orders for the despatch of a French Warship to Fiume.)

Vira Maggestic, Paris, 8 July, 1919.
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five Great
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris,
on Wednesday, July 9, 1919, at 3: 30 p. m.

PRESENT
AMERICA,
UNITED STATES OF BrITISH EMPIRE FRANCE
Hon. R. Lansing. The Rt. Hon. A. J. Bal- M. Clemenceau.
four. M. Pichon.
ITALY JAPAN
M. Crespi. M. Matsui.
Secretaries
Mr. L. Harrison.
Mr. H. Norman.
M. Paterno.
M. Ashida.
Joint Secretariat
AmERICcA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Lieut. Burden.
BriTisgE EMpire . . . . . . . . Capt. E. Abraham.
FRANCE . . . . . . . . . . .. Capt. A. Portier.
ITaLy . . . . . . . . .. ... Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.
1. For Great Britain, General Watts was appointed. ’
M. Creser said that he could not at present nominate

Appointment of an Italian officer. He thought that there would be

Inter-Alli

Commission To an officer on the spot and it was agreed that he should
Incidents join his colleagues at Fiume and be sent the same

instructions as were given to them.

(It was agreed that the officers nominated should attend the Council
the following day at 8.30 p.m. to receive their instructions. As it was
not possible for General Watts to be present, it was agreed that Gen-
eral Thwaites? should attend to receive instructions in his stead. It
was also agreed that General Cavallero? should attend to receive
instructions in place of the Italian officer to be nominated.)

2. M. CueMENCEAU asked if any of his colleagues had any news from

Italy.
Sitaation Mr. Barrour said he had nothing save what he had
shown the Chairman on the previous day. Though

1Maj. Gen. Sir William Thwaites, director of Military Intelligence Service of
the British Army ; military technical expert, British delegation.

2Gen. U. Cavallero, Italian military representative on the Supreme War
Council.
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there was a British Admiral and a British colonel commanding a bat-
talion in Fiume, he had received no news from them. He had tele-
phoned to London, asking for more news to be sent him.

M. Cresei said that he had received a despatch from M. Nitti and one
from Fiume. It appeared from these despatches that no incidents
had occurred since Sunday. In any case, the Italian Government was
determined to maintain order.

M. CreMENCEAU said that the French Military Attaché in Rome
again reported the words of General Albricci, to which he had pre-
viously alluded. The French Ambassador was also of the opinion
that an attempt was being made to influence the Conference.

M. Cresrr said that he was quite sure this was a complete misunder-
standing.

3. M. Creser said that he was not able to reply at once to the

document handed to him by M. Clemenceau on the
Stoppage of previous day.? He would, however, furnish a reply
Modane at the next meeting.

4. Mr. Lansing said that, before taking up the subjects on the
Agenda, he wished to draw attention to a despatch (Appendix “A”)

he had received two days previously from Warsaw.

Action of iri
G;r;l‘g;no,r.mps It was to t%le effect that the retiring Gerjmap troops
Withdrawing were removing, as they left, horses, cattle, agricultural

implements and everything necessary for the cultiva-
tion of the next harvest. This might be the act of irresponsible
soldiery, but it was necessary to put a stop to it.

M. CreMENCEAU proposed that M. Dutasta * should proceed at once
to the Germans at Versailles and make a formal complaint to them on
behalf of the Council.

(This was agreed to.)

- 5. (On Mr. Barrour’s proposal, it was agreed to

Treaty of Peace

With Bulgaria: summon the Bulgarian Government to send a Delega-
Summoning of . . .
Bulgarian Dele- tion to Paris to receive the Peace Terms. The Secre-

gation to Parls tary-General was asked to take the necessary steps.)

6. Mr. Lansing proposed that this question should be taken up
before the first question on the Agenda. He thought the two questions
were connected and that the means of action should

Military Means be determined before addressing any communication
To Oblige the

1‘:‘35,‘52??:’.‘5 To to Bela Kun.

Armistice (At this stage, the Military Representatives of the

Supreme War Council at Versailles and General
Thwaites entered the room.)

8 See HD-2, minute 4, p. 47.
*P. Dutasta, Secretary General of the Conference.

514888—46—vVOL. ViII—5
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GenEraL Briss was asked to make a statement and said that all that
was necessary was mentioned in the report. (Appendix “B.”)

The report was then read by M. MANTOUX.

MEe. Bavrour said that he did not doubt that the appreciation of the
Military Representatives was accurate. If the Allied Powers, France,
Great Britain, Italy, Roumania, Czecho-Slovakia and Serbia, were
too weak to deal with one recalcitrant power, the position was one of
great humiliation. That, perhaps, did not matter much, but Bela
Kun was turning Hungary into a military stronghold of revolution.
Buda-Pest had become an armed camp and all the factories were
making munitions. Propaganda was being carried on in the most dan-
gerous fashion in the neighbouring countries. If the Allies must sit
still and see the Armistice broken before their eyes, they were bound to
lose prestige. Central Europe was likely to lose more than prestige.
The Bulgarians had just been summoned to Paris to hear the Peace
Terms. Was it likely that they would obey if they saw that the Allies
could not even coerce a fragment of the late Austro-Hungarian
monarchy? The Bulgarians were only half disarmed and would
feel that they could defy the Conference. The situation in Central
Europe was both difficult and critical. The wave of disturbance
might go west as well as east. The situation would, he thought,
grow more critical if it were manifest that the Conference could not
control a small and defeated nation, which was not only breaking
the terms of the Armistice, but, in alliance with the Russian Soviet
Government, attempting to cause general revolution. He did not
favour wild military adventures, but he did not like a confession of
impotence. '

Mgz. Lansine said that he had nothing to add to what Mr. Bal-
four had said. He thought Allied prestige should be maintained.
Bolshevism would spread to Austria, if it appeared to be successful
in Hungary. He wondered whether the contribution suggested for
Serbia in the report of the Military Representatives was not under-
estimated. He was not aware that Serbia was fighting or antici-
pated fighting on any other front. He therefore suggested that the
Military Representatives should get into touch with the authorities of
Czecho-Slovakia, Serbia and Roumania, in order to find out what
these States could do to help.

M. CremENCEAU said that he must remind Mr. Balfour and Mr.
Lansing that there were neither British nor American troops at
hand. The French had two divisions, but other help would be re-
quired. He suggested that the Military Representatives, after con-
ferring as suggested by Mr. Lansing, should return, together with
Marshal Foch, and tell the Council what results they had obtained.
He felt sure that Marshal Foch would ask for British and American
troops.
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Mr. Barrour said it would be necessary for him to summon Sir
Henry Wilson.® Only the British Cabinet could decide whether any
British troops were to be employed. He would ask Sir Henry Wilson
to consult the Cabinet before &ming over to Paris, in order that he
might be in a position to state what could be done.

GENERAL Briss observed that it would not be of much use for the
Military Representatives to consult the Czech, Serbian and Rou-
manian military authorities as to the number of troops at their dis-
posal, unless there were means of knowing whether their Governments
would consent to give troops for this purpose or not.

Mzr. LansiNg said that, perhaps, the best course would be to confer
with the heads of the Czecho-Slovak, Yugo-Slav and Roumanian
Delegations in Paris. -

(It was then agreed that the Heads of the Czecho-Slovak, Yugo-
Slav and Roumanian Delegations be invited to attend the Council
on Friday, 11th July, and that Marshal Foch and Sir Henry Wilson
be also asked to be present, in order to discuss the possibility of mili-
tary action against Hungary.)

(At this stage, the Military Representatives of the Supreme War
Council at Versailles and General Thwaites withdrew.)

7. The Council had before them the following documents :—

Sale of 1. A Report of the Financial Commission.
B Goties 2. A draft Joint Note of the Principal Allied and
mentof Associated Powers to the Allied, Associated and

Neutral Powers and to the Government of the German
Empire and of Austria.

3. A draft Joint Note of the Governments of the Allied and Asso-
ciated Powers to Bela Kun.

4. A draft communication to the Press.

(All these documents are contained in Appendix “C”.)

Mr. Lansing thought that the result of the previous discussion
showed that no action could usefully be taken at present.

Mz. Barrour thought that there could be no harm in telling Bela
Kun, on behalf of the Conference, that he was considered to be a
thief. He might take no notice of it and put the communication in
the waste paper basket, but it could do him no harm. He thought
Bela Kun should be warned that his right to steal funds for his own
political purposes was not recognised. He did not think that the
letters drafted were very suitably worded, but, in substance, he
thought they might be adopted.

M. Lansine said that his objection referred specially to the note
addressed to Bela Kun. He did not like threats which could not be
followed by action. He thought the less the Conference had to do

® Chief of the British Imperial General Staff and member of the War Cabinet
since 1918.
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with him the better, and the less he was regarded as a power the
better. The letter addressed to other Governments and that ad-
dressed to the Press, he did not object to. He thought they would
produce the desired effect without a@direct threat to Bela Kun. He
also pointed out that the expressions “bolshevik” and “communist”
should be expunged from these letters.

Mr. Barrour said that he would not object to the omission of
the document addressed to Bela Kun, which he admitted was not
likely to have much effect on him.

M. Crespr said that the question had been closely examined in the
Commission. It had been recognized that the letter addressed to
Bela Kun would not produce much effect, but it was necessary,
before taking action in Allied countries regarding the sales of secu-
rities, to furnish such action with a legal ground. The only legal
ground in this instance could be an official protest against the antici-
pated action of the Hungarians. The letter was therefore proposed
for its legal rather than for its political effect.

Mr. LansiNg said that he could not agree with this point of view.
A lawless government, unrecognized by any other government, had
no legal standing at all. He thought the Allies would have as strong
a legal position whether they informed an outlaw that he was doing
wrong or whether they addressed no remonstrances to him at all.

M. Creser then suggested that the three letters should be sent
back to the Commission to be re-drafted in such a manner as to con-
tain a clear declaration that the Allied Powers defined Bela Kun’
proceedings as thefts. The drafting would be done in accordance
with the views expressed by Mr. Balfour and Mr. Lansing.

(This was agreed to, and M. Crespi undertook to obtain a re-draft
by the Financial Commission.)

8. (At this point, M. Tardieu, Mr. Nicolson, and Mr. Leeper and

. M. Vannutelli-Rey entered the room.?
fwoen the o The Council had before them the recommendations
Stovens States of the Yugo-Slav Committee (Appendix D). These
and Hungary recommendations were adopted.
(The Experts then withdrew.)

9. Mr. LaNsinG said that he was unable to act on this subject. He
must take the Convention to Washington. The Economic side of

the question had not been discussed in America. Hze

Approval suggested that as the matter did not really concerr
Convention the Peace Conference it might be carried through by

ordinary diplomatic methods.

" André Tardieu, French representative, Commission on Roumanian and Yugo
Slav Affairs; Harold Nicolson, British representative, Sub-Commission on Terri
torial Questions: Alexander Leeper, British representative, Commission or
Roumanian and Yugo-Slav Affairs; and Count Vannutelli-Rey, Italian repre
sentative, Commission on Roumanian and Yugo-Slav Affairs.
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After some further discussion Mr. Lansing agreed that the Con-
vention might be discussed inasmuch as it concerned European
Powers—American adhesion being reserved.

(It was decided that the subject be put on the Agenda, for the
following day on this understanding.)

10. (At this point the Military Representatwes entered the room.)

GeNERAL Buiss said that a short time ago the Council of Four had

sent to the Military Representatives at Versailles a

Repatriation project of Mr. Winston Churchill’s® for repatriating
Slovak Forces the Czecho-Slovak troops in Siberia.? These troops

numbered some 60,000 men. The proposal combined
the repatriation of these troops with a movement regarded as useful
to the Allied cause. One group of 30,000 men at present in the neigh-
bourhood of Omsk was to operate on Koltchak’s right flank and to
gain contact with the North Russian forces, and thus to reach Arch-
angel. The other portion was to be repatriated by sea in American
ships from Vladivostok. The Military Representatives were asked
to examine this proposal together with Czecho-Slovak authorities.
He, himself had an interview with M. Benes—as a consequence of
which M. Benes had attended a meeting at Versailles. Before agree-
ing to the movement of Czecho-Slovak troops to Archangel, M. Benes
wished to know whether Allied troops would remain in Northern
Russia or whether they would be removed before winter, irrespective
of the arrival of the Czechs in time for shipment from Archangel
before the port was icebound. Thus the matter could not be proceeded
with until it was known whether or not the Allied forces in North
Russia would await the arrival of the Czecho-Slovaks. He had writ-
ten a letter to that effect which hitherto had remained unanswered.
Mke. Barrour said that at the time of Mr. Winston Churchill’s pro-
posal there had been, he understood, a fair prospect of a junction of
the Czecho-Slovak forces with the Inter-Allied troops in North Russia.
Since Koltchak’s reverses this junction appeared less probable; in fact
there now seemed to be little chance for the Czecho-Slovaks of reaching
the White Sea before the ice set in. The question for them, therefore,
was whether the Allied troops would wait for them. He was informed
that the British Government meant to withdraw its troops before the
winter. If the Czechs therefore were unable to reach Archangel
before November, he could not promise that they would find British
troops awaiting them. He believed that the same applied to the other
Allied contingents in North Russia. If this was so it appeared to
follow that all the Czech troops must be repatriated from Vladivostok.

® British Secretary of State for War and Aviation; plenipotentiary to the
Peace Conference.

* Appendix VI to CF-92, vol. vi, p. 684.
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The result of this would be that part of the Siberian Railway would
be deprived of the troops guarding it and Koltchak would have to fill
the gap. Therefore, the only point to be dealt with immediately was
the question whether Allied troops would stay in North Russia through
the winter. As far as Great Britain was concerned, the answer was
“NO”.

M. Picuon said that the French Government also meant to recall
the French troops from Archangel. He pointed out that the with-
drawal of the Czecho-Slovaks had a very serious result on the whole
situation in Siberia.

GeNeraL BreuiN stated that these troops were guarding 1300 kilo-
metres of railway. If withdrawn they must be replaced. It ap-
peared that Japan and the United States must be called upon to fill
the gap. The Czechs were at present along the central portion of the
line. The Japanese and American troops lay to the east of them.
As the Czechs were moved towards Vladivostok the American and
Japanese might move westward into their place. There were at the
present time 5,000 Czechs in" Vladivostok. Their immediate ship-
ment would give some satisfaction to opinion in Czecho-Slovakia.

M. Creser said that Italian action would be in conformity with
French and British action.

M. Marsur said that Mr. Churchill had enquired some time ago
whether Japanese troops could replace the Czecho-Slovaks on the
Siberian Railway. He was now informed that it was the question of
finding troops to guard 1300 kilometres. The Japanese General had
not felt authorized to reply without consulting his Government. He
doubted whether there were enough Japanese troops in Siberia to
undertake so large a task. If more were required he was not at pres-
ent able to say what view the Japanese Government would take. He
had already telegraphed to his Government on the subject and would
do so again.

Mr. Lansine said that the problem now before the Council ap-
peared to be a military one with which he could not deal. The
political question was whether the Czecho-Slovaks should be evac-
uated from Siberia. The answer to this was in the affirmative, pro-
vided it were militarily possible.

M. Picuon said it would be possible if the Americans would send a
few troops to reinforce the Japanese.

GeNErRAL Buriss said he thought this could not be done. American
troops had been sent to Siberia to help the Czecho-Slovaks to leave it.
Once the Czecho-Slovaks had left there would be no pretext to justify
the retention of American troops in the country.

M. Prcuon said that if the United States would not take on the
task it remained for the Japanese to do so; otherwise the whole
country would become a prey to Bolshevism.
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M. Matsur said that he was not in a position to state whether the
Japanese Government would undertake so much. He would consult
it and say that the Conference desired that Japan should be respon-
sible for the guarding of the Siberian Railway.

Mz. Bavrrour said that the question now being discussed was not
the one on the Agenda. Without knowing how much the American
and Japanese Governments were prepared to do it was difficult to
see any solution to the military difficulty which had been raised.

Mgr. Lansine said that the question on the Agenda was whether the
Czechs could be shipped from Archangel. The answer to this was
in the negative. They must, therefore, be shipped from Vladivostok.

M. CrLeMENCEAU said that as Mr. Lansing expressed no hope of
American assistance it was desirable to know whether the Conference
wished to invite Japan to undertake the defence of the Siberian
Railway.

Mr. LansiNg said that before giving a final answer he would like
to consult Washington. He suggested that the Government at Wash-
ington should be consulted by the President of the Conference.

(It was then agreed that the Military Representatives at Versailles
should prepare a draft dispatch to be sent by M. Clemenceau to the
American and Japanese Governments regarding the necessity of pro-
viding for the defence of the Siberian Railway after the evacuation
of the Czecho-Slovak troops.)

Report of

lI;Iilitaryt . )
epresenta-

tives Regard- 11. (T}.le }{e’}’)ort of the Military Representatives
pelilas.  (Appendix “E?) was accepted.)

Air Control

Commissions

12. Mr. Lansing observed that this question was one between
France, Great Britain and Italy, and that America was not con-

cerned.
Armyof M. CriemEeNcEAU, alluding to documents appended
Qcsupation in (Appendix “F”), asked M. Crespi how many troops

Ttaly were prepared to send.

M. Creserr said that Italy would send two battalions if Great Britain
sent two. »

Mzr. Barrour said he was not prepared to say how many British
troops would be sent.

M. CreMENCEAU said that he did not support the proposals made
by General Franchet d’Esperey ** that there should be three British
battalions and two Italian, while there were two French divisions in
the country. France had no special interest in Bulgaria. He per-
sonally did not care who possessed Cavalla. He did not agree to
maintain two French Divisions in Bulgaria while Great Britain had

* Commander in chief of the Allied Armies in the East.



66 THE PARIS PEACE CONFERENCE, 1919, VOLUME VII

only one platoon, and Italy two battalions. The French Army was
being demobilised, and a number of the troops in Bulgaria would be
automatically recalled. In his opinion, there should be an Inter-
Allied occupation in equal shares, or none.

GENERAL Buriss said that on the 9th June the Military Representa-
tives had made recommendations,” which had been approved on the
16th June by the Council of Four.? It had been agreed that two
French Divisions should be maintained, and that Great Britain and
Ttaly should both be represented. On consultation, Great Britain had
offered one platoon, and Italy one battalion. Now General Franchet
d’Esperey called attention to the insufficiency of the British and Italian
contribution.

M. CLeMENCEAU said that the situation had changed, as he was now
forced to demobilise, and remove his troops from Bulgaria, unless his
Allies took their share. The only Great Power which had not been
demobilised was Italy. Why they had not done so was their business.
The only people with interests at stake in Bulgaria were the Greeks,
and they sent their troops to Smyrna.

M. Creser said that M. Clemenceau had more than once declared that
Italy had not demobilised. He wished to make a formal and official
statement that Italy had demobilised as much as France, and had even
demobilised one class more than France.

M. CremMENCEAU said that if that was so, Italy could take her share
of the watch on Bulgaria. Meanwhile, she was sending 40,000 troops
across the Black Sea to Baku.

M. Crespr said that the British Government had requested that the
British troops in the Caucasus be relieved by the Italians. He was not
aware that Italy had as yet decided to send even one man.

M. CremENCEAU said that he had nevertheless received official tele-
grams in support of what he said.

GeNERAL CAVALLERO said that he had just given General Thwaites a
statement in complete contradiction of the information mentioned by
M. Clemenceau.

(It was then decided to refer to the Military Representatives at Ver-
sailles the question of devising means for an equal Inter-Allied occu-
pation of Bulgaria.)

13. M. CremeNceau announced that, according to the. Havas

Ratifica- Agency, the Weimar Assembly had ratified the
Treaty Treaty, the Rhine Convention, and the Protocols of
Germany the Treaty, by 208 votes against 115,

(The Meeting then adjourned.)
Virra Magestic, Pars, July 9th, 1919.

“ Appendix IV to CF-T71, vol. vi, p. 498.
* CF-T1, vol. v1, p. 487.
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Appendix A to HD-3

[The American Minister at Warsaw (Gibson) to the Secretary of
- State]

The American Minister at Warsaw reports under date of 3rd July
that he had been informed by Colonel Grove,® who received the in-
formation from the Polish Delegation from West Prussia, that the
German troops in withdrawing from the west bank of the Vistula
were clearing out horses and farm implements from Polish and Ger-
man inhabitants alike. It would seem that these seizures were possibly
the work of soldiery without orders. Should this continue it will be
impossible to reap this year’s harvest. It would also prevent seeding
their next year’s crop and result in this district having to import
rather than export foodstuffs.

Appendix “B” to HD-3

SWC-438

SUPREME WAR COUNCIL
MILITARY REPRESENTATIVES

Report on the Measures T'o Be Taken Regarding Hungary

On July 5th the Supreme Council of the Allied and Associated
Powers charged the Military Representatives of the Supreme War
Council : ¢

(a) To examine from the military point of view the means at the
disposal of the Allied and Associated Powers to compel Hungary to
comply with the conditions of the armistice accepted by her;*

(8) To give the Supreme Council information regarding the manu-
facture and the stocks of munitions at the disposal of the Hungarian
Government.

In their Joint Note No. 43 of June 7th, 1919, the Military Repre-
sentatives already considered the military measures to be taken even-
tually against Hungary in order to put an end to the Hungarian at-
tacks against the Czecho-Slovaks.

18 Col. W. R. Grove, director for the American Relief Administration in Poland.

* Ante, p. 28.

* The Italian Military Representative said that he must repeat the declaration
which he had already made before, namely that he could only consider the
armistice of November 3rd, 1918 (Armistice of the Villa Giusti), as the military
convention of General Franchet d’Esperey had not been recognised by the Italian
Government. [Footnote in the original. For the armistice of November 3, 1918,
see vol. 11, SI:; 175 ; for the military convention between the Allies and Hungary, see
ibid., p. 183.]

B This document was mentioned in the meetings of the Council of Four on
June 7 and June 9, 1919, but does not accompany the minutes of these meetings.
See CF-52, minute 2, and CF-53, vol. v1, pp. 240 and 254.
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At that time the greater part of the Hungarian forces was con-
centrated on the Czecho-Slovak front; the Hungarian Command had
only left weak covering forces in the East (Rumanian front) and in
the South (Franco-Serbian front.)

The execution of the Military operation set forth in its broad lines
in the Joint Note above mentioned would seem therefore to have
been capable of realisation without any great difficulties if it had
been undertaken immediately.

Since the 7th June, however, the military situation in Hungary has
appreciably changed.

DisposrrioNs oF THE HUNGARIAN ARMY

On the intervention of the Supreme Council of the Allied and
Associated Powers, the Government of Bela Kun agreed to stop its
attacks against the Czecho-Slovaks, and moreover to order its troops
to evacuate Czecho-Slovak territory under the conditions laid down
by General Pellé ¢ in the name of the Allied and Associated Powers.

From the latest information received from General Pellé it would
appear :—

That the evacuation of the above-mentioned territory by the Hun-
garian troops has been carried out within the time limit prescribed.

That the greater part of the Hungarian troops who were on the
Slovak front and who have been liberated as a result of this evacua-
tion, are in process of concentration in the regions of Miskolez (150
kilometres N. E. of Buda Pesth), Cegled and Kecskemet (80 to 100
kilometres S. E. of Buda Pesth), where they are in a position to
threaten both the Rumanian and the Franco-Serb forces.

It appears also that the Government of Buda Pesth is at the
present moment forming 2 new divisions of infantry, which will
bring the total number of the Hungarian forces up to 8-10 divisions
of infantry and 2 divisions of cavalry, or 100,000 to 120,000 com-
batant troops. Recent information points to these troops being
disciplined, well-equipped, provided with numerous machine-guns
and considerable artillery, and to their supplies of ammunition,
though no precise information is forthcoming,t allowing them to
offer considerable resistance; and lastly to their being animated by
a very strong national feeling.

* Gen. Maurice C. J. Pellé, of the French Army, commander in chief of the
Czecho-Slovak Army.

tFrom the latest returns received by the British and French Military Repre-
sentatives the Hungarian Army has at its disposal material and stocks of muni-
tions from the old Honved, from the Mackensen Army, which was disarmed in
Hungary, and an unknown quantity of arms and munitions which have been
sent from Austria.

The possibility of manufacturing war material in Hungary is little known.
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Under these conditions, and taking into consideration the force
that the Hungarian Command would in the ordinary course of events
be obliged to maintain on the Czecho-Slovak front, it does not seem
an exaggeration that on the Rumanian and Franco-Serbian fronts
alone tigme Armies of the Entente, in case of offensive action against
the Hungarian Army, would have to fight a force of a least 90,000
to 100,000 good troops.

It must be added that Buda Pesth, the seat of the Hungarian
Government and the final objective of the Entente Armies, appears
now to have been transformed into a veritable fortress provided
with successive lines of defence extending to a great distance and
a strong defensive organisation, the capture of which would without
doubt entail a great effort if the Hungarian Government had not
beforehand asked for peace.

DisposrTIONS OF THE ALLIED ARMIES
The Allied and Associated Powers could oppose to the Hungarian
Army:—
(1) Conditional on the agreement of the Rumanian and Serbian
Governmenis
6 Rumanian Divisions.
1 “ Cavalry Division. } 60,000 men.
2 French Divisions. 16,000 ¢
1 Serbian Division. 8,000

in all, 84,000 men of which two-thirds belong to the Rumanian Army.
It must moreover be noted that the Rumanian troops have been
forced to evacuate, after the initial success of the Hungarian offen-
sive against the Czecho-Slovaks, the bridge-heads which they had
occupied on the right bank of the Theiss, and are consequently in
a disadvantageous position to undertake operations against the Hun-
garians.
(2) Conditional on the agreement of the Government of Prague
Such weak Czecho-Slovak forces as it has been possible to re-
organise up to date after the reverses of last month, amounting to at
the most:—
2 Divisions . . . . . . 20,000 men.

A great effort would appear to have been made and 6 or 7 factories appear to
be in full working order, of which

1 is for the manufacture of guns,

1 for the manufacture of small arms,

2 for the manufacture of explosives (20,000 shells per day?),

1 for the manufacture of aeroplanes,

1 for the manufacture of monitors, gun-boats and material for river craft.

There is no indication of the manufacture of ammunition for infantry; this
does not, however, appear to be deficient. Hungary is drawing from the mines
of Salgo-Tarjan and from the region of Miskolez 550 wagon loads of raw
material (lignite and iron) per day. [Footnote in the original.]
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The remainder of the Czecho-Slovak Army will probably not be
available for action for two months.
In any case the Entente would have at its disposal for the pro-
posed operation only a total force, including Czecho-Slovaks, of
100,000 to 110,000 men
with which to oppose
100,000 to 120,000 Hungarians.

CoNCLUSIONS

In consideration of the above, the Military Representatives are of
opinion that the proposed operation is possible, but presents a great
element of risk if measures are not taken to ensure the reinforcement
of the Allied forces in time.

The Military Representatives further consider they should draw

the attention of the Supreme Council of the Allied and Associated
Powers to the following points:—

(1) The possibility of undertaking this action depends absolutely

on the consent of the Serbian, Rumanian and Czecho-Slovak Gov-
ernments.

(2) Serious difficulties must be expected in the carrying out of the
operation, viz :—

(a) Changes in the dispositions of the Hungarian Army in pro-

cess of concentration between the Theiss and the Danube to the South
of Budapest and in the region of Miskolcz.

(6) The loss by the Rumanian forces of the bridgeheads which
they had occupied on the right bank of the Theiss.

(c) The defensive organisation carried out round Budapest.

(3) If the operation is contemplated it is of importance to post-

pone the retirement of the Rumanian troops from the region East of
the Theiss.

With these reserves and if a military operation against the Hun-
garian Army is decided on by the Supreme Council in spite of the
difficulties set forth above and the large expenditure involved, the
general plan of operations contemplated by the Military Representa-
tives in their Joint Note No. 43 of June 7th still appears capable of
execution in its broad lines. It would be for the General Command-
ing-in-Chief the operating Armies to modify the plan as circumstances
may dictate.

In any case the Military Representatives insist, if the success of the
operation is to be assured, on the necessity of the operations being
under the direction of one Commander accepted by the Rumanian,
Serbian and Czecho-Slovak Governments. The General Command-
ing-in-Chief, the Allied Armies of the East is the sole Commander who
appears for the moment to be in a position to make the necessary dis-
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‘positions without loss of time and consequently to ensure the neces-
sary co-ordination of action.

G* BELIN Uco CavaLLERO
Military Representative, Military Representative,
French Section, Italian Section,
Supreme War Council. Supreme War Council.
C. SackviLLE-WEST Tasger H. Briss
Major General, Military Representative,
Military Representative, American Section,
British Section, Supreme War Council.

Supreme War Council.
Given at VERsaILLEs on the 8th July, 1919.

Appendix “C” to HD-3
WCP-1116 Translation

FinanciaL CoMMISSION,
Paris, July 7, 1919.

The President of the Financial Commission
To the President of the Supreme Council of the Peace Conference

The Supreme Council at its meeting of July 5th, 1919, decided that
the “Financial Commission of the principal Allied and Associated
Powers should propose immediately to the Supreme Council measures
intended to prevent the sale on foreign markets of deeds and bonds
seized by order of the Government of Bela Kun in Hungary.” ¥

The Financial Commission met on the call of Mr. Crespi on July 7th,
1919, and decided to submit to the Supreme Council the following
considerations.

The decision taken by the communist Government to seize all the
bonds and values now deposited in the Banks of Hungary, thus pro-
curing for itself from four to six milliard crowns, is very prejudicial
to the interests of the Allied and Associated Powers and to those of
their nationals:

1.-It enables the Government of Bela Kun to form an important
fund with which to subsidize bolshevist actions not only in Hungary
but also in Allied and Neutral Countries. :

2.-The sale of the bonds deposited with Hungarian Banks deprives
the Allied and Associated Powers of part of the pledge assured them
by the Treaty with Germany and the draft treaties with the other
enemy powers for the payment of reparations for losses due to the
war.

3.-Lastly, this measure is a real theft prejudicial to individuals,
some of whom are nationals of the Allied and Associated Powers.

1 Ante, p. 28.
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The Financial Commission considers the only really effective means
of protecting the interests threatened would be that suggested by the
Colonel, Chief of the Italian Military Commission at Budapest, who
proposes to sequester for purposes of conservation all the bonds
deposited in Hungarian banks and to place these Banks under the
control of the representatives of the Allied and Associated Powers.
But it believes that these measures can only be carried out if the Allied
and Associated Governments have at their disposal the military forces
required for enforcing them on the Hungarian communist govern-
ment and for ensuring their maintenance.

The decisions which the Supreme Council will take on this subject
will determine the possibility of preventing Bela Kun from carrying
out his purpose of seizing all the assets deposited in the Hungarian
Banks and sending them abroad.

Anyhow, the Financial Commission suggests to the Supreme Coun-
cil the following measures which it believes are such as to at least
mitigate the effects of the orders given by Bela Kun even if they do
not afford complete protection to Allied and Associated interests.

First of all, a note should be sent to the Hungarian Communist
Government by the Governments of the principal Allied and Asso-
ciated Powers.

This would back up and re-enforce the note which the Colonel, Chief
of the Ttalian Military Commission in Budapest, has already taken the
well-advised initiative of sending to Bela Kun.

This note of protest against the order given to the Hungarian banks
would clearly state that the Allied and Associated Powers consider
that the assets seized are the security for their war reparation credits,
or for the property belonging to their nationals, and that they cannot
consent to its being disposed of. All measures of confiscation will
therefore be held as null and void and the Hungarian Government
will be held personally responsible for all losses incurred by the
nationals of the Allied and Associated Powers.

In the second place, a circular note could be addressed to the Gov-
ernments of the Allied and Associated Powers and to Neutrals inform-
ing them of the step taken by Bela Kun in the matter of the Hungarian
banks.

It could draw their attention to the danger involved for all the
nations by the formation of a bolshevist propaganda fund, and it
could ask these Powers to assist in mitigating the effects of Bela Kun’s
orders and in frustrating his intentions.

Such assistance might consist in measures similar to those taken by
the Scandinavian and Swiss Governments with regard to bank-notes
coming from Russia; in prohibition of the entry, or in special super-



THE COUNCIL OF HEADS OF DELEGATIONS 73

vision of Hungarian securities and of all securities coming from
Hungary.

The same note might be sent to the German and Austrian Gov-
ernments which are interested in protecting themselves against the
bolshevist danger.

In the third place, the Governments of the Allied and Associated
Powers may require their nationals to make a declaration of all
speurities deposited with Hungarian banks of which they are the
owners. This declaration might subsequently be completed by oppo-
sition to the sale of such securities in all the countries which have
adopted legislation allowing of such opposition.

The Supreme Council will not fail to see that the first of these
measures would only have the value of a protest if it were not backed
up by force of arms.

WCP-1116A Translation

FINANCIAL COMMISSION OF THE
PRINCIPAL ALLIED & ASSOCIATED POWERS

JuLy 7, 1919,

Joint Draft Note of the Principal Allied and Associated Governments
to the Governments of the Allied, Associated and Neutral Powers
and to the Governments of the German E'mpire and of Austria

According to information received by the Governments of the prin-
cipal Allied and Associated Powers, the communist Government of
Budapest has ordered the banks in Hungarian territory to deliver up
to it all securities and values held by them on deposit, and it would
appear that this order has already begun to be carried out.

The Governments of the Allied and Associated Powers have agreed
a formal protest to the Communist Government.

The Governments of the principal Allied and Associated Govern-
ments draw the attention of the Government of . . . .. to the dan-
ger involved for all nations by the formation of a fund for subsidising
bolshevist action not only in Hungary but also in foreign countries.

It appears to them that joint action is essential, on the one hand,
for opposing the propaganda of Bela Kun, and on the other for miti-
gating, in respect of all depositors, both Hungarian and foreign the
consequences of a measure of spoliation.
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WCP-1116B Translation

FINANCIAL COMMISS!ON OF THE
PRINCIPAL ALLIED & ASSOCIATED POWERS

JuLy 7, 1919.

Joint Draft Note of the Governments of the Allied and Associated
Powers to Bela Kun

According to information received by the Governments of the Allie#l
and Associated Powers the Communist Government of Budapest has
given order to the banks on Hungarian territory to deliver up to it
all bonds and securities and values held by them on deposit; and it
would appear that this order has already begun to be carried out.

The Governments of the Allied and Associated Powers consider
that these securities and values, in as much as they are not the property
of their nations, are the security for the credits on account of war
reparations.

They make formal protest against all measures aiming at disposing
of the same.

They also declare that they consider as a qualified theft all seizure
of securities and values belonging to their nationals.

They warn the communist government that they consider as null
and void all measures which it has decreed for their confiscation, and
that they hold the Hungarian Government responsible for all loss
which may result from same to themselves and to their nationals.

WCP-1116C Translation
Jovy 7, 1919.

Draft Communication to the Press

According to information received, the Communist Government of
Budapest has ordered the banks on Hungarian territory to deliver up
to it the securities and values which they hold on deposit; and it would
seem that steps have been taken to carry out this order.

The Governments of the Allied and Associated Powers have ad-
dressed to Bela Kun a formal protest, stating that they consider as a
qualified theft the seizure of all securities and values belonging to
their nationals, and warning the communist Government that they
will hold as null and void all measures of confiscation, and that they
will hold the Hungarian Government responsible for all losses which
may result therefrom to them and to their nationals.

The (French) owners of securities deposited in Hungary are re-
quested to declare same to (the Commission of Claims Ministry of
Foreign Affairs) as soon as possible; which they have already done,

Moreover, owners of such securities are advised to.make the decla-



THE COUNCIL OF HEADS OF DELEGATIONS 75

rations foreseen by the Law of June 15th, 1872 on oppositions,® to
" the Syndical Chamber of Brokers of Paris.

Appendix D to HD-3
Frontier Between Yugo-Slavia and Hungary in the Prekomurye
A. DEMAND OF THE SERBO-CROAT-SLOVENE DELEGATION

The Serbo-Croat-Slovene Delegation no longer claim the eastern
districts inhabited by a compact Magyar population and the north-
ern districts which are connected with the valley of the Raab by
their economic interests.

B. DECISION OF THE COMMITTEE
(1) Principles

(a) The Committee considers that from the geographical point
of view the new frontier claimed by the Serbo-Croat-Slovene Dele-
gation is of an artificial character like the former one, as indeed
is unavoidable in any delineation of the Yugo-Slav salient to the
north of the Mur.

(6) It notes that this salient, thus reduced, is inhabited by a
population of which three-quarters are Slovene.

(¢) It recognises that from a general political point of view the
fate of the Slovene race, united under the Austro-Hungarian
domination and in its resistance to Germanisation, but now inevit-
ably destined to be split up as a result of the partition of the
Austro-Hungarian Empire, is worthy of all attention.

(2) Conclusions

The Committee proposes to assign to Yugo-Slavia the part of the
Prekomurye now claimed by the Serbo-Croat-Slovene Delegation.
The geographical boundary is as follows :—

The talweg of the Lendva upstream to a point to be determined
on the ground to the south of point 265.

Thence, a line, to be determined on the ground, running in a
north-north-westerly direction to point 209 (8 kilometres west of
Nemesnep) and leaving Pincze, Csente, Hidveg, Gonterhaza, Zsit-
kocz and Kebeleszentmarton to Yugo-Slavia; and Lendva-Ujfalu,
Dedes, Gaborjanhaza, Bédehaza and Lendva-Jakabfa to Hungary.

Thence, in a north-westerly direction as far as point 295, approxi-
mately the crest line separating the basins of the river Nemesnepi in
the north and the river Kebele in the South.

Thence a line, to be determined on the ground, running in a north-
erly direction to point 313 (about 10 kilometres to the south of Szt.
Gotthard) passing over points 291-319 and leaving Kisszerdahely,

® Duvergier Collection compléte des lois, décrets, ordonnances, réglements et
avis du conseil d’état (Paris, 1872), tome 72, p. 263,

514888—46—voL. viI—6
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Domonkosfa, Kapornak, Domafold with its railway station, and Nagy-
dolany to Yugo-Slavia; and Szomorocz and Kotormany to Hungary.

Thence, in a westerly direction as far as point 371 (about 10
kilometres to the south-south-east of Fehring) approximately the
crest-line separating the basins of the Raba [ Baab ?f in the north and
the Mur in the soutl%.

Thence, a line, to be determined on the ground, running in a
south-westerly direction to the old frontier between Austria and
Hungary to the east of point 400, and leaving Gedoudvar to Yugo-
Slavia and Bonisfalva to Hungary.

A. W. A. Leeeer

SWC-437 Appendix E to HD-3

[Report of the Military Representatives on the Supreme War Council
Regarding Military, Naval and Air Control Commissions]

PrESENT
FRANCE G71. BRITAIN ITaLY AMERICA JAPAN
Gen. Belin, Maj-Gen. Hon. C.J. Gen. Cavallero, Col. 8. D. Embick, Maj-Gen.
%acl{{Vﬂ]&-West,K. B.E, C.M. G. Tanaka.,
Rear-Admiral Vice-Adm. Sir E. F. B.  Admiral Grassi. Rear-Adm. H.S.  Admiral
Grasset. C(l}mgton. K.C.M. G,, Knapp. Jeda.
Gen. Duval. Brig-Gen. P. R. C. Admiral Orsini. Rear-Adm. H. A.  Col. Sato.
Groves, D. 8. O. Wiley.
Also Representing BELGTuM—Major Van Egroo.
In Attendance
Maj. Lacombe. Brig-Gen. H. W. Studd, Lt-Col. Toni. Capt. McNamee. Commdr. G.
C.B,C.M.G.,, D.S.0. Nakajima,
Capt. Boehl. Maj-Gen. Hon. Sir F. R. Lieut. R.
gingham, K.C.M. G, Sugiyama.,
Captain Lt-Col, W. L. O. Twiss, Major
Levavasseur. M. C. Kaf
Captain Boissiere. Paymaster-Capt. W. F.
Cullinan, C. M. G.
Lieut. Robert. Lt-Commdr. A. R.J.
Southby.
Secretariat
Lieut. Fould. Capt. C. L. Wicks. Capt. Majnoni. Cfé. g{[ S(.}Grant,
Capt. T. F. Powell. Lieut. Bosio. B
Interpreter

Lieut. Sergent.

ORGANISATION OF THE INTER-ALLIED COMMISSIONS OF CONTROL
REFERRED TO IN ARTICLES 203-210 OF THE TREATY OF PEACE WITH
GERMANY

GeNERAL. ForMaTION OF INTER-ALLIED ComMMmissioNs oF CONTROL
PARTI
Article 1 ‘
Three Inter-Allied Commissions of Control shall be created, viz:—

The Military Inter-Allied Commission of Control.
The Naval Inter-Allied Commission of Control.
The Aeronautical Inter-Allied Commission of Control.
These Commissions shall enter upon their duties as from the date of
the coming into force of the Treaty of Peace.
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Article 2

The Military Inter-Allied Commission of Control shall represent
the Principal Allied and Associated Governments with the German
Government in all matters concerning the execution of the Military
Clauses (Article 208).

The President of the Military Inter-Allied Commission of Control
shall be a French General.}

Article 3

The Naval Inter-Allied Commission of Control shall represent the
Principal Allied and Associated Governments with the German Gov-
ernment in all matters concernmg the executlon of the Naval Clauses
(Article 209).

The President of the Naval Inter-Allied Commission of Control
shall be a British Admiral.

Article }

The Aeronautical Inter-Allied Commission of Control shall repre-
sent the Principal Allied and Associated Governments with the
German Government in all matters concerning the execution of the
Aeronautical Clauses (Article 210).

The President of the Aeronautical Inter-Allied Commission of Con-
trol shall be a British Brigadier-General.

Article 6

The General Officers and Admiral referred to in Articles 2, 3, and 4
shall mutually detail a permanent representative (assisted if necessary
by other Officers) for the purpose of maintaining liaison between them.

PART II.—POWERS OF THE INTER-ALLIED COMMISSIONS OF CONTROL

Article 6

The powers of each of the Inter-Allied Commissions of Control are
defined in Articles 203 to 210 of the Treaty of Peace.

In addition to the application of the Military Clauses (Articles 159
to 180), the Inter-Allied Military Commission of Control shall enforce
Articles 195 (paragraph 1) and 196 (paragraphs 2 and 8) of the Naval
Clauses.

Article 7

The general clauses (Articles 211-212 of the Treaty of Peace) shall
be under the supervision of the President of the Military, Naval or
Aeronautical Commissions of Control as the case may be.

1In view of the great importance of this Commission, the Military Representa-
tives are of opinion that its President should be a General Officer chosen with
special reference to his military standing and reputation, as well as his energy and
activity. They recommend that he should be selected from the General Officers
in Command of Army Corps. [Footnote in the original.]



78 THE PARIS PEACE CONFERENCE, 1919, VOLUME VII

PART ITT.—EXPENSES OF THE INTER-ALLIED COMMISSIONS OF CONTROL
Article 8

The maintenance and expenses of the Commissions of Control and
their working expenses are chargeable to Germany in accordance with
Article 207 of the Treaty of Peace.

These expenses shall be paid direct, through the President of the
Commissions, to the parties concerned, by the Allied and Associated
Governments, who shall obtain repayment of such expenses from the
German Government.|

Article 9

The German Government will be notified of the accommodation
required for the Inter-Allied Commissions of Control, and will pro-
vide such accommodation in accordance with Article 206 (paragraph 1)
of the Treaty of Peace.

PART IV.—DURATION OF ACTIVITIES OF INTER-ALLIED COMMISSIONS OF

CONTROL
Article 10

The duration of the activities of each commission shall be limited
to the complete execution of the Military, Naval or Air Clauses under
its supervision, for which a time limit is fixed in the Treaty of Peace;
and in case the execution be not completed within the period fixed, this
fact will be reported by the Commission concerned to the Govern-
ments of the Principal Allied and Associated Powers for a decision
as to the action to be taken.

Until a decision is reached the Commission will continue to super-
vise the execution of the particular clause in question.

ORGANISATION OF THE MILITARY INTER-ALLIED CoMMISSION OF CONTROL

Article 11

The General Officer presiding over the Military Inter-Allied Com-
mission of Control shall be assisted by a Staff which shall include
Officers of each of the Armies of the Principal Allied and Associated
Powers and of Belgium.

He shall moreover be assisted by the necessary technical personnel
(legal, financial and other experts). It will sit at Berlin.

Article 12

The Military Inter-Allied Commission of Control shall include
three Sub-Commissions :—

(2) A Sub-Commission for Munitions, Armament and Material.

IThe American Representatives make a reservation on this paragraph to .the
effect that legislative action by Congress will be necessary before the United
States can adopt the procedure proposed. [Footnote in the original.]
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(6) A Sub-Commission for Establishments, Recruiting and Mili-
tary Training.
(¢) A Sub-Commission for Fortifications.

Article 13—8ub-Commission for Munitions, Armament, and Material

This Sub-Commission shall supervise the execution of Articles
164-172, 180, 195 (paragraph 1) and 196 (paragraphs 2 and 8) of the
Treaty of Peace. - :

It shall be presided over by a British General Officer, assisted by
Officers of the various Allied and Associated Armies; and shall sit
at Berlin.

The Sub-Commission shall be represented by Officers at Munich,
‘Dresden and Stuttgart and at such other places as may be found neces-
sary. The total number of officers necessary for this Sub-Commission
will be decided by the President; it will probably not exceed about
20 Officers. It will be assisted by a technical staff of about 4-8 Officers,
specially entrusted with the execution of Articles 168 and 169.

Article 14—Sub-Commission for Establishments, Recruiting and Mili-
tary Training

This Sub-Commission shall supervise the execution of Articles
159-163 and 178-178 of the Treaty of Peace, particularly as regards
the abolition of military schools provided for in Article 176.

It shall be presided over by a French General Officer assisted by
Officers of the various Allied and Associated Armies; and shall sit
at Berlin. '

The Sub-Commission shall be represented by Officers at Munich,
Dresden and Stuttgart and at such other places as may be found neces-
sary.

The total number of Officers necessary for this Sub-Commission will

be decided by the President; it will probably not exceed about 30
Officers.

Article 15—8ub-Commission for Fortifications
This Sub-Commission shall supervise the execution of Articles 180,

195 (paragraph 1) and 196 (paragraphs 2 and 8) of the Treaty of
Peace.

It shall be presided over by an American General Officer and divided
into two sections:—

(1) The Section making the returns (faisant le reconsement [recon-
naisement?]) of fortifications to be maintained (Articles 180 and 196)
which shail sit at Berlin and have delegates at Munich, Dresden,
Stuttgart and Konigsberg.

(2) The Section gealin with dismantling which shall operate from
Kiel (Article 195) with a branch at Stettin, and from Mayence (Arti-
cle 180) with Branches at Strassburg and Cologne.
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The Sub-Commission shall consist of about 15 Officers in all, 5 in
the first and 10 in the second Section (exact numbers to be decided
by the President). The second Section shall be provided with a large
subordinate personnel to superintend the work of dismantling.

Article 16

The Officers representing each nation on the Military Inter-Allied
Commission of Control might be provided as far as possible in the
following proportions:—

United States of America . . . .3 in 20.
Great Britain . . . . . . . . . 4 in 20.
France . . . . . . . . . . .. 5 in 20.
Ttaly . . . . . . .. ... .. 4 in 20.
Belgium . . . . . . . . ... 2 in 20.
Japan . . . . . . C e e e 2 in 20.

ORGANISATION OF THE NAVAL INTER-ArLiep ComMmissioN oF CONTROL

Article 17
The Naval Inter-Allied Commission of Control which is charged

with the supervision of the execution of the Naval Clauses of the Peace
Treaty will consist of :—

B Tll_le Main Commission with necessary Staff, with Headquarters in
- Berlin.

A Sub-Commission (A) consisting of Professional and Technical
Officers for dealing with matters set forth below.

A Sub-Commission (B) similarly composed and constituted for a
similar purpose.

It is important that the execution of Article 115 of the Treaty of
Peace which deals with the destruction of the fortifications of Heligo-
land shall be entrusted to a Sub-Commission of the Naval Inter-Allied
Commission of Control.

A Sub-Commission (C) shall be constituted for this purpose.

Anrticle 18

The Main Commission will consist of :—
Vice Admiral Sir E. F. B. Charlton, K. C. M. G., C. B,,
Contre Admiral M. F. A. Grasset,
Rear Admiral P. Orsini, R. I. N.,

Rear Admiral H. A. Wiley, U. S. N.,
Commander M. Sakonji, I. J. N.

or such Officers as may be designated by their respective governments
to succeed them.
Avrticle 19

Sub-Commission “A” will consist of about 8 Officers of the Allied
and Associated Navies and will be presided over by a Captain of the
British Navy.
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Sub-Commission “B” will consist of about 9 Officers of the Allied
and Associated Navies and will be presided over by a Captain of the
French Navy.

Sub-Commission “C” will consist of about 4 Officers of the Allied
and Associated Navies and will be presided over by a Captain of the
British Navy.

An Interpreter will be attached to each Sub-Commission.

Article 20

As soon as possible after the coming into force of the Treaty of
Peace, the Main Commission shall proceed in men-of-war to Germany
and travel to Berlin to meet the representatives appointed by the Ger-
man Government and notify them of the procedure which will be
adopted by the Commission of Control.

Article 21
The date of the proposed visit to Berlin will be arranged in con-

junction with the Commissions for the execution of the Military and
Air Clauses.

Article 22

With regard to the allocation of responsibilities to the Sub-Com-,
missions “A” and “B”—

Sub-Commission “A” shall deal with :—

(1) The surrender of ships.
(2; The breaking-up of ships under construction.
(3) The allowance of ammunition on board ships still in com-
mission.

(4) The reduction of personnel.

Sub-Commission “B” shall deal with :—

The surrender of all other stocks of munitions and war material
and the stoppage of manufacture.

The foregoing allocation is tentative and not to be regarded as arbi-
trary, as experience may show it to be desirable to amend it. It is
based on the geographical situation in so far as Sub-Commission “A”
will deal with the Naval Ports and the Admiralty in Berlin, while
Sub-Commission “B” will be required to exercise supervision in vari-
ous centres in Germany.

Anrticle 23

Should it be found desirable or necessary, the personnel of Sub-
Commissions “A” and “B” shall be interchangeable.
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ORGANISATION OF THE AERONAUTICAL INTER-ALLIED COMMISSION OF
CoNTROL

Article 2}
The Headquarters of the Aeronautical Inter-Allied Commission

shall be at Berlin.

Avrticle 26
The Aeronautical Inter-Allied Commission of Control shall consist
of 6 Sub-Commissions :—
1 Sub-Commission on Production.

1 Sub-Commission on Naval Aircraft and Dirigibles.
4 Sub-Commissions on Military Aircraft.

Anrticle 26

The Sub-Commission on Production shall supervise particularly the
execution of the Clauses contained in Article 201.

It shall sit at Berlin, and be presided over by a French Colonel,
assisted by the necessary technical staff.

Article 27
The Sub-Commission on Naval Aircraft and Dirigibles shall super-
vise as regards those types of Aircraft, the Clauses contained in articles

other than Article 201.
It shall be presided over by a British Lieutenant-Colonel.

Article 28 :

The Sub-Commissions on Military Aircraft shall supervise as far
as this class of aircraft is concerned, the execution of clauses other than
those contained in Article 201.

A Sub-Commission at Berlin shall be presided over by an American
Brigadier-General.

A Sub-Commission at Stuttgart shall be presuled over by a French
Lieutenant-Colonel.

A Sub-Commission at Munich shall be presided over by an Italian -
Lieutenant-Colonel.

A Sub-Commission at Dresden shall be presided over by a Belgian
Lieutenant-Colonel.

Article 29
The details of the organization of the Aeronautical Inter-Allied
Commission of Control are set forth in the attached Table which is
put forward as an indication. The total numbers involved are:—
Officers 196.

Other Ranks 381.
Interpreters 25.



83

THE COUNCIL OF HEADS OF DELEGATIONS

[‘18u18ro ey ur 930u300]

*spioq ¥ Surpnpouy «

] I g g 69 g 18¢ 93 961 Ausuiiop) o3 steiog,
I SR T 9 P 0e ol T ———
e e e s esofe e P e e e C et e e e ,H .......... * .......... N -E:mwﬁom
e e e e e e . v oo Ll I DI R e e e e ckﬂ

T I Lo Vo m v wﬂww *(uopsai(])
O EREREREE T e z e S S CERRRRRREE L “00uBLT Luoxsg
.................................. : PN e § o
T | T P L | 08 |- 0z qOrTnFy 0F STHTOL
D I R I R R I .H .......... * .......... ﬂ aasmwﬂvm .
...................................................... okﬂ
................................... Nw w <m~.ﬁm *(qorunin)
T | T s z | P S CRRRRREEEE L -souRi] BLIBART
.................................. 2 O covennned § i
.H ................ .H m .......... om .......... w.H _ ﬁ“muﬂsaw 09 WH“GOFH;
.................................. H e e e * e e e e ﬂ .s—‘wmwﬁwm
D I I PP RIS [P I se e s e efenaiae e D B ) -kh

B e N R FOR DR IO o “ - mﬁw *(31883303g)
R T I z | o1 |ereeeeeees 3 -0y Smquegn
S P PN M P O -l N. e
L 1 € 14 16 (4 165 gg 6¢1 UuljIeg 09 s[ejoq,
o ee e . . . e e e e e D c ..... e W.N N Nﬂ -as.mwﬂom
..... e cee e e e e e e . e N e e e s e *m .ﬂ @ -AHMAMM%
z N 1 N B iz By .
R L N e e 32 Jo] o8 v s a urpIeg
z - R . g6 6 a¢ Doteig
€ | € V1 ! 901 6 9¥ gsuug

oo | Febert | ol | oiriomit | supmen | -meskwp | stueiswo | swojeudsgur | sweomo | Awsuonen wopnquSIQC

q10dsuBLy, [euuosie g

Bﬁo.mwz<mh_... aNv AQZZOmNHnM J0 ZOuﬁDmHﬁBwHQ
(Auswion) TOUALNOD 40 NOISSININOD TVOLLAVNOYAV dAITIV-9ALNI



84 THE PARIS PEACE CONFERENCE, 1919, VOLUME VII

Appendix F to HD-3

Ciphered Telegram

CoNSTANTINOPLE, July 7, 1919, 11: 30 a. m.
From: General Franchet d’Esperey.
To: War Minister—Paris.
Nos. 2156 and 2157.
2156 8184/3.

1. By note number 44 from the Supreme War Council * you in-
formed me that it would be advisable to create an Allied Force in
Bulgaria including two detachments, one Italian and one British.

2. General Mombelli ?° has already reported to me that according to
orders received from the Italian Government his detachment would
include 1 battalion whose stationing I have provided for in Southern
Dobroudja.

2157.

3. General Milne # can place at my disposal 1 battalion that would
be stationed in Bulgarian Thrace, but no orders have been received
from his government.

4. T beg you to request the British Government to be good enough
to issue instructions to General Milne so that I may forthwith pro-
ceed with the organisation of the occupation of Bulgaria.

Juovy 7, 1919.
Note Concerning the Troops of Occupation in Bulgaria

L In their joint note No. 44, dated June 9th,*® the Permanent Mili-
tary Representatives, after considering the situation in Bulgaria and
finding it was necessary to maintain order at all events, at the time
when the decisions of the Peace Conference are being notified have
agreed on the immediate creation of an interallied military force of
occupation to be placed directly and completely under the orders of
the General Commanding in Chief the Armies of the East and con-
sisting of :

“French Troops (2 divisions)

An Italian detachment, representing the Italian army
A British detachment representing the British Army”.

* See appendix IV to CF-71, vol. v1, p. 498.

2 Gen. Ernesto Mombelli, head of the Italian Military Mission in Hungary.

* Gen. Sir George Francis Milne, commander of the British forces in the Near
East.
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This note was approved by the Supreme Council at its meeting of
16th June.?

II. On the 21st June, the British and Italian Military Representa-
tives were asked to state the exact strength of their troops. On 25th
June, the British Military Representative answered in writing “that
in any case not more than one platoon would be available including
one officer and forty other ranks for the purpose”. The Italian Mili-
tary Representative stated orally that the strength contemplated for
the Ttalian force would be a battalion.

III. These forces are both obviously inadequate. It is true that the
Italian and British Governments have put forward the requirements
of demobilization. Still, such requirements exist to the same extent
as far as the French Government is concerned.

But first of all, the contemplated occupation must be interallied in
character. France can no longer be the only one to bear all the mate-
rial and moral inconveniences entailed by occupation and eventually
by military intervention, should order happen to be disturbed and
should the decisions of the Entente fail to be carried out.

Finally, it is necessary to note that for purposes of preventative
policing which it is necessary to insure, one cannot rely on Greek or
Serbian forces, since their mere appearing in Bulgaria would be suffi-
cient to such troubles as must be avoided.

IV. In order that the occupation should be truly interallied in
character and in order to be in a position to add to the two French
Divisions such forces as is necessary to complete the total strength it
is requested that the Italian and British detachments should be Zac-
tical units capable of a military role, that is to say, they should af least
consist of:

an Italian regiment including 3 battalions.
a British Brigade including 2 battalions.

# CF-71, minute 2, vol. vI, p. 487.
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five Great
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris,
on Thursday, July 10, 1919, at 3: 30 p. m.

PrESENT

AMERICA,
UNITED STATES OF BrITISH EMPIRE FRANCE
Hon. R. Lansing. The Rt. Hon. A. J. Bal- M. Clemenceau.
four. M. Pichon.
ItaLy JAPAN
M. Crespi. ) M. Matsui.
RSecretaries
Mr. L. Harrison.
Mr. H. Norman.
M. Paterno.
M. Kawai.
Joint Secretariat
AMERIcA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Col. Grant.
BriTisE EMpIRE . . . . . . . . Capt. E. Abraham.
FRANCE . . . . . . . . .. .. Capt. A. Portier.
Iravy . . . . . . ... .. .. Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.

1. M. CrEMENCEAU said that he had a question to submit to his col-
leagues. In the Council of Four there had been a question, before
President Wilson left, about the secrecy of the minutes

Communication of proceedings in the Council. President Wilson had
Jorbauxto o taken the view that these Minutes could not be com-
mentary Coru- municated. Mr. Lloyd George had not adopted a

very firm attitude on the subject. He, (M. Cle-
menceau) had said that he would not be able to refuse them to a Par-
liamentary Committee. At the present moment the Parliamentary
Committee was asking for the Proces-Verbaux of the Commission on
the League of Nations. These proces-verbaux had been printed and
kept secret. He thought there could be no objection to showing these
documents to the Parliamentary Committee but this raised a ques-
tion of the communication of other similar records. He would like
to know from his Colleagues whether they would agree to the com-
munication of records of discussions other than those of the Council
of Four.

86
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Mg. Lansine said that personally he had no objection whatever but
he did not know what the feelings of the President might be. He
would like to have the opportunity of finding out.

M. CrLEMENCEAU asked whether he might give his Parliamentary
Committee the Minutes of the League of Nations.

Mg. Lansing said that he did not feel sure.

Mr. ManToUX then gave an account of the conversation on this sub-
ject which had taken place in the Council of Four on the 28th of June,
at the Senate, at Versailles.!

Mgz. Barrour said that he could not believe that any harm would
result from the communication of the record in question to a Com-
mittee of the French Chamber. This, however, might create a prece-
dent which might be inconvenient. For instance, he questioned
whether it would be desirable to communicate the records of the
present Council. '

M. CriemMENCEAU said that that was not in question. The present
Council was the successor of the Council of Four and these Minutes
must remain secret. He referred for the &resent to the proceedings
of commissions.

Mg. Barrour asked whether he proposed to communicate the pro-
ceedings of the Council of Ten.

M. CremENCEAU replied in the negative.

Mz. Lansing said that even in respect to the deliberations of Com-
mittees embarrassing questions arose. For instance, concerning re-
sponsibilities there had been very frank discussions. It might be
imprudent to communicate all that was consigned in the Minutes on
that matter. President Wilson had been chairman of the Commission
on the League of Nations and before the Minutes were communi-
cated he ought to be consulted.

M. CremEeNceAU asked Mr. Lansing if he would consult President
Wilson regarding the request he had made about the Minutes of the
Commission on the League of Nations. :

Mkr. LansiNe agreed to do so.

(At this point M. Loucheur 2 entered the room.)

2. M. LoucHEUR said that he wished to submit a proposal regarding
the Inter-Allied Commission to negotiate with Germany on the subject

of the Rhineland agreement, slightly different from

Dratt Resolu- that put forward on the previous day by the British
o S s Delegation. He proposed the following :—

With Germany on . .. .

the Subject of “An Inter-Allied Commission should be appointed
Agreement to discuss with the Germans the details of the Conven-

tion in accordance with the terms of the letter ad-

1 CF-99, minute 8, vol. v1, p. 752.
? Louis Loucheur, French representative and president, Inter-Allied Commission
on the Left Bank of the Rhine.
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dressed on the 27th June by M. Clemenceau to the German Delegation
at Versailles.® The Commission shall be composed of one representa-
tive for Great Britain, for France, for the United States, and for
Belgium. In case of need this Commission shall consult on military
matters the Commander-in-Chief of the Allied Armies”.

(The above proposal was accepted.)

M. Loucueur further pointed out that the British Member, Mr.
Wise, had been nominated. He would be glad to know the names of
the other Commissioners.

M. CremeNcEAU nominated M. Loucheur for France.

Mr. Laxnsing said that he would notify the Secretariat later.

M. Loucueur asked that Belgium be approached through the
Secretariat General.

(This was agreed to.)

M. Loucueur then withdrew.

3. M. CLeMENCEAU said that according to news he had received the
Poles had made an advance in Lithuania in defiance of the orders of
the Conference. He thought that Marshal Foch
should ¥ requested on behalf of the Council to order
the Poles to withdraw.

(It was agreed that the dispatch received by M. Clemenceau should
be sent to Marshal Foch in order that the latter should take suitable
action.)

4. M. Crespr said that on the previous day he had submitted three
notes, one addressed to Bela Kun, another to various Governments,

and a third to the Press.®* Mr. Lansing had objected

to the first, and the other two had been sent back to the

by the Govern- Financial Commission for re-drafting. He now sub-
Kun mitted two re-drafts.

(After some discussion, the following drafts were

Polish Advance
in Lithuania

Sale of
Securities

adopted :—

1. According to information received, Bela Kun has ordered all
Banks established in Hungarian territory to hold at his disposal all

kinds of securities deposited with them. It appears

Joint Note . .
of the that steps are already being taken to enforce this order.
Allied & Associ- The Governments of the Allied and Associated

ated Govern-
ments to the
Governments

of the Allied,
Associated &
Neutral Powers
and to the Gov-
ernments of the
German Empire
and of

Austria

Powers hereby declare that this action is nothing less
than robbery. They consider all these measures of
confiscation as null and void.

The Governments of the Principal Allied and As-
sociated Powers desire to draw the attention of the
Government of ........ to the danger which
may be incurred to all countries by the constitution

of a fund created for the purpose of a destructive propaganda in
foreign countries.

3 For a description of this letter, see CF-96, minute 12, vol. vi, p. 730.
8 Ante, pp. 73-75.
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It appears to them that common action is required to defeat this
policy and to protect depositors threatened with spoliation.

They therefore propose to the Government of . . .. .. to forbid
or at all events to supervise the importation and negotiation of all
securities coming from Hungary. It would also be useful to establish
a control over all Hungarian securities.

Communication to the Press

2. According to information received, Bela Kun has ordered all
Banks established in Hungarian territory to hold at his disposal all
kinds of securities deposited with them. It appears that steps are
already being taken to enforce this order.

The Governments of the Allied and Associated Powers consider this
to be nothing less than robbery. They consider all these measures of
confiscation as null and void.

They call the attention of the Governments of all the Associated
and Allied and Neutral Powers and also the Governments of the
German Empire and Austria to the danger which may arise for all
countries from the constitution of funds for the purpose of supporting
propaganda in foreign countries. They request that all those (govern-.
ments will take the necessary steps to prevent the realisation or sale
within their territories of the securities stolen by Bela Kun.

Mgr. LansiNg asked in relation to these proposals, whether the cen-
sorship on Hungarian Mails was to be maintained.

M. CrLeMENCEAU observed that as a state of war still existed with
Hungary censorship would automatically remain in force.

M. Creser said that he had just received from Austria a complaint
that 15,000,000 kroner had been introduced into the country and that
these were probably the product of sales of securities in Hungary.

5. (It was decided that all Commissions dealing with matters neces-
sary for the Treaty with Bulgaria be asked to report not later than
Treaty of July 25th. It was further decided that the Bulgarian
Peace With Government be asked to send a deputation to Paris
Bulgaria

on that date.)
6. (At this stage General Naulin, General Summerall, General
Thwaites (representing General Watts) General

Instracti . . .
z;%g:%%‘;&g_ Cavallero (representmg General di Robilant) entered
Inter-Allied the room.) . .

Commissisn for M. CrLeMENCEAU, addressing the Generals, said that

they were being sent to Fiume to enquire into the
events that had taken place there. They were requested to proceed to
Fiume as quickly as possible and to devote all their efforts to discov-
ering the truth about the incidents. Their enquiry was of the greatest
importance to the maintenance of good relations among the Allies. The
Italian member of the Commission, General di Robilant would join it
on its way and the British Representative, General Watts would follow
very shortly. The Commission should report to the Council and apply
for assistance should it find any difficulty in carrying out its task.
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Mge. LansiNg asked whether the instructions drafted on the 8th **had
been given to the Generals.

(It was agreed that these instructions should be given in writing to
each member of the Commission.)

(The Generals then withdrew.)

7. (General Sykes, General Groves, Mr. Hurst, General Duval,
General Cavallero, Rear Admiral Knapp entered the room.*)

Mg. LansiNG said that the American Representatives

Approval of had no authority to negotiate an agreement.
vention Mz. Barrour suggested that Mr. Hurst be heard on

the legal aspect of the question.

Mz. Hurst said that Article 319 of the Treaty of Peace with Ger-
many foreshadowed an early acceptance of the air convention. He
had been informed of the difficulty experienced by the American Dele-
gation in agreeing to the convention. He pointed out that similar diffi-
culties had arisen at the Hague in 1907, and the solution adopted then
was to leave the question of signature open for eleven months. It
would be easy in this instance to permit the postponement of signa-
ture until June 1920. This would give time for full discussion and
would entail no alteration in the draft. It would also permit the
fulfilment of what was provided for in the treaty with Germany.

Mgr. Lansine said that he had made a similar proposal on the pre-
vious day but since then he had learned that the American experts
had made certain reservations. On reference to America, should Con-
gress uphold these reservations it would be impossible to get the
American signature to the Convention in its present form. There had
not yet been an opportunity to discuss the economic side of the Conven-
tion with the heads of American industry. There were questions of
customs and patents which required to be examined. America might
therefore be deprived of the possibility of adhering to a very im-
portant Convention. For this reason he did not think the method
proposed by Mr. Hurst a suitable one.

Mr. BaLrour said that he understood it would be in accordance with
internatiomal practice to make reservations at the time of signature.
The Convention in its present form had been largely assented to and
it would be a great misfortune if nothing were done to carry out the
arrangements foreshadowed in the Treaty. He thought, therefore, it
might be possible to adopt the plan proposed by Mr. Hurst, providing

® HD-2, p. 47.

“Maj. Gen. Sir Frederic Sykes, British representative, Aeronautical Commis-
sion ; Brig. Gen. P. R. C. Groves, British representative, Aeronautical Commission ;
C. J. B. Hurst, British representative, Drafting Committee ; Gen. Charles Duval,
French representative, Aeronautical Commission ; Gen. U. Cavallero, Italian mili-
tary representative, Supreme War Council; and Rear Admiral H. S. Knapp,
United States representative, Aeronautical Commission.
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that the deferred signatures might be accompanied by reservations to
the substance. This could not be done in a Treaty of Peace but might
be done in a Treaty of this kind. He hoped that this method might
reconcile the two views.

Mgr. Lansing said that the document before him appeared to be a
report. He was prepared to accept the report with the reservations
expressed by the American expert. What was being discussed was
the proposed rules. These he could not accept.

Mz. Barrour remarked that if any change were made in the Con-
vention he could not guarantee that the numerous Powers concerned in
drawing it up would adhere to it in its new shape. The consent of
each must be given on its own initiative.

Mgz. Lansing said that he was not himself endowed with full powers
to sign such a Convention. He asked Mr. Balfour if he was.

Mr. Barrour said that he believed that he was possessed of such
powers.

Mgr. Hurst suggested that the Drafting Committee be asked to pre-
pare the Convention for signature. The question of full powers was
one for each Government to determine. The treaty with Germany
seemed to suppose that the Convention would be signed in a short
time. The formula he had suggested would enable full powers to be
issued and further consideration to be taken by any Government
concerned.

GeNErAL DuvaL pointed out that the project had been completely
drafted with the exception of the preamble.

MRr. Lansing quoted Article 18 of the Convention as one of those to
which he objected.

M. CremENcEAU asked Mr. Lansing how long he thought it would
take him to obtain the agreement of his Government should it be will-
ing to accept the Convention.

Mge. Lansing replied that he thought this might be done in three
weeks.

GeNERAL Duvar said he thought this delay would be regrettable.
At the present time aircraft were confined within frontiers and it
would be very discouraging to the industry to find the Convention
had been postponed. The whole incentive to establishing long-
distance commercial air navigation might disappear and each State
might establish preferential rules in favour of its own nationals.

Mr. Lansing observed that the reservations made by the American
Experts required discussion. He was prepared to discuss them on the
following day. If agreement could ke reached the process would be
hastened. He did not like the disposition shown to press the American
Delegation to accept what it did not approve.

Mz. Bavrour said he sympathised with Mr. Lansing’s view but he
would ask him in return to sympathise with the British and French

514888—46—voL. viI—T7
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view. In the United States it was possible to fly thousands of miles
within one national territory. In Europe it was difficult to fly 500
miles without crossing a frontier. If commercial flying was to be
of any value it was vital that frontiers should be crossed without
difficulty. He would therefore ask Mr. Lansing to help in this matter
in order that European material interests should not suffer.

Mr. LansiNg said he understood the principal reason alleged for
speedy signature was that the industry interestéd in flying should know
exactly how it stood and so avoid loss on its enterprises. In this con-
nection he asked whether the reservations made by the United States
directly affected the question.

GENERAL DuvaL said he thought they did not.

Mgz. Lansing suggested that while the United States Government
were considering the Convention, European industry might be told
that their Governments meant to sign the Convention.

M. CremENCEAU suggested that the delay of three weeks proposed by
Mr. Lansing be accepted.

Mr. Barrour said that though this represented a loss of three weeks
of summer weather he would consent if this were likely to lead to an
agreement.

(It was agreed that the subject be brought up again in three
weeks.)s

MR. Barrour said that the House of Commons was anxious to see
this Convention. He would like to know whether his Colleagues had
any objection to the Convention being shown.

(It was agreed that the proposed Convention might be published.®)

8. M. Crespr said that he had looked through the document handed
tohim by M. Clemenceau.®® This document declared that trains carry-

ing military material for Czecho-Slovakia, Serbia,

Beport by Roumania, Poland and the French Army in the East
on the Stop- had been held up. It concluded, however, by stating
Supply Trains that supplies for the French troops had passed un-

hampered. He wished to draw attention to this
admission. The note made no mention of consignments of food.
Presumably therefore food had been allowed to proceed. Difficulties,
however, had arisen by reason of the state of things on the Eastern
Frontier of Italy. There was considerable tension of feeling among
the Jugo-Slavs and conflicts of patrols had been frequent. He had
received news on the previous day of a fight between a Jugo-Slav
patrol on the one hand and a patrol on the other composed of four

.
* See HD-51, minute 1, vol. vir, p. 173.
®For text of the aerial convention, signed at Paris, October 13, 1919, see
Treaties, Conventions, etc., Between the United States of America and Other
Pogmérs's, 1910-1923, (Washington, Government Printing Office, 1923), vol. I,
p. 3768,
* See HD-2, minute 4, p. 47.
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Italians and one Frenchman which had resulted in the death of two
Jugo-Slavs. The Italian Military authorities had discovered on a
train declared to be a food train a wagon full of machine guns. Lately
a whole train composed of 82 trucks had gone to Serbia carrying
heavy bombing aeroplanes. Three trains of this character had been
observed proceeding to Serbia. These were French trains and there
were French soldiers on them.

Mr. Lansine asked whether there was anything improper in the
dispatch of arms from one Ally to another. As far as he was con-
cerned he was prepared to sell arms to the Serbians as Allies.

M. Creser said that 14 tanks had also been dispatched in the same
direction. The Italian Military Authorities thought that the Serbs
were mobilising against Italy. He therefore proposed that the Inter-
Allied Military Representatives at Versailles should lay down some
limit to the armaments sent in that direction. He would like to know
why it was necessary for Serbia to receive so much equipment. He
therefore proposed that some supervision should be exercised by
Marshal Foch and by the Military Advisers at Versailles.

Mr. Lansing asked whether M. Crespi proposed that the enquiry
should extend to mobilisation on both sides of the Italian frontier.

M. Crespr replied that it was necessary for Italy to take precautions.

Mz. Lansing observed that the Serbs perhaps also thought alike.

M. Crespr said that he could prove that Italy was demobilising.
Moreover she had demobilised two classes more than France. He had
with him the decree ordering demobilisation.

Mke. Lansing asked how many Italian troops there were in Istria.

GenEraL Cavarrero said that on the armistice frontier from the
Tyrol to Istria there were from 700 to 800 thousand men. He did not
know how many of these were concentrated in Istria. There might be
100 thousand. There was in addition perhaps half a million men in
the interior. Italy had demobilised two and a half million men.

M. CremeNncEAU asked M. Crespi to furnish him with a reply in
writing. He had been much struck by the assertion in M. Crespi’s
remarks of a right to impede the passage of arms from one Ally to

another.
(M. Crespr agreed to furnish the written reply on the following

day.)
9. Mz. Barrour said that he had no time to consider this reply.
Mr. Lansing suggested that the Drafting Committee be asked to
draft a reply in case the Council should decide to

Reply to Ger-

man Note on the send one. . )

%gﬂ::?;‘?on of (Tt was agreed that the Drafting Committee should
Folend ‘be asked to put up a draft for consideration on the

following day.)

" Appendix A to HD-5, p. 108.
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10. M. TaroieU gave an explanation of the report of the Commis-
sion (Appendix “A”). He pointed out that the American proposal
Frontior Bo- involved reopening the question of the frontiers be-
tween Austria tween Austria and Czecho-Slovakia. As there had
and Hungary . .« .

been no agreement in the Commission, he begged
leave to make a personal suggestion. He thought that Czecho-
Slovakia could do without most of what had been conceded at Gmiind, -
and the bulk of the territory attributed to her at Feldsberg. Thus
with a very slight alteration the historic frontier of Bohemia would
be maintained. The very slight addition to this frontier, which he
suggested, would be sufficient to safeguard the economic situation.
In compensation for this, Czecho-Slovakia might be given the bridge-
head of Pressburg. All needful precautions might be taken against
the militarisation of the ground on the right bank of the Danube.
In any case this strip was so shallow as to be militarily indefensible.

Mgz. Barrour thought that on the face of it there was much to rec-
ommend M. Tardieu’s proposal.

M. Taroeu added that the political effect in Czecho-Slovakia of
altering the frontier announced on June 2nd, without any ostensible
reason save counter-proposals from Austria, must be taken into con-
sideration. It might encourage undesirable tendencies in the country.

Mz. Lansine said that this would appear to be an argument against
any change. If so, it would apply to Pressburg as well.

M. Tarpiru said that it was for this reason he proposed to neutralise
the effect of altering the frontier between Austria and Czecho-
Slovakia by offering the latter Pressburg as a compensation.

Mgr. Lansing suggested that M. Tardieu should formulate his pro-
posal and illustrate it by a line on the map on the following day in
order that time should be given to consider the new proposal.

(This was agreed to.)

(The Meeting then adjourned.)

Virra Magsestic, Paris, 10 July, 1919.

Appendix A to HD4
[Translation ®]
Report of the Commission Instructed To Prepare the Reply to the
Awustrian Notes on the Territorial Clauses

1. FroNTIERS OF AUSTRIA WIiTH HUNGARY

The Commission instructed to prepare the reply to the Austrian
notes on the territorial questions expresses, after having heard Messrs.
Kramar and Benes, the following opinion:

* Translation from the French supplied by the editors.
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1. The American, British, French, and Japanese delegations are of
the opinion that the frontier should be fixed at the blue line drawn on
the inclosed map.?

This new line will have as result:

On one hand, the attaching to Austria of about 260,000 Germans,
as well as of a territory 40 per cent of whose food products have up to
the present been consumed in lower Austria; ) )

On the other hand, to leave in Hungarian territory, in conformity
with the observations of Messrs. Kramar and Benes, the railroad from
Presbourg to Agram by Szentjanos, Csorna, and Nagy-Kanisza, as
the other railroad going from Presbourg south through Wiener-
Neustadt is already in Austrian territory, and as the Czecho-Slovak
Government requests that its two railroad outlets toward the Adriatic
be not in the hands of a single state.

2. The Italian delegation, while recognizing the strength of the
arguments which motivate the above conclusion, is of the opinion that
the considerations of an ethnic, economic, and military nature by
which it is inspired may find an adequate guarantee if there are im-
posed upon Hungary economic and other obligations of a nature to
comply with the needs of Austria. With the exception of obligations
of this sort, a change of sovereignty appears neither necessary nor
desirable to the Italian delegation, whose opinion is that, considering
the severe territorial conditions already imposed upon Hungary, it
would not be desirable to exact of Hungary new territorial sacrifices.

8. Regarding the tracing of the above-mentioned line from north
of Kittsee up to Presbourg, and the territory south of this latter city,
including the suburb of the city, the station and the junction of the
two railroads: Presbourg-Agram and Presbourg-Wiener-Neustadt;

(@) The British, French, and Japanese delegations are of the opin-
ion that the territory in question should be awarded to the Czecho-
Slovak state.

(6) The American delegation does not object to this on condition
that satisfaction be given with respect to its observations concerning
the frontier between Austria and Czechoslovakia (region of Feldsburg
and Gmiind).

(¢) The Italian delegation is hostile to every cession of territory,
fearing the political repercussion of such a cession on relations be-
tween Hungary, Austria, and the Czecho-Slovak state, but it consents,
either that the Czecho-Slovak state receive in Hungarian territory the
control of the station and of the junction or that the territory under
consideration be placed under the sovereignty of the League of Na-
tions for a length of time to be determined.

The other delegations, without admitting the Italian point of view,
would agree provided the said territory were not utilized for any
military purpose. '

Y Map not reproduced.
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- II. FroNTIER OF AUSTRIA WITH THE CZECHO-SLOVAK STATE

The Commission charged with preparing the reply to the Austrian
notes on territorial questions expresses, after hearing Messrs. Kramar
‘and Benes, the following opinion:

1. The French and Japanese delegations recommend the mainte-
nance of the line notified on June 2nd to the Austrian delegation.

2. The American delegation recommends that the historic frontier
be adopted, with the single exception that the variations of the course
of the Thaya and the Morava be taken into consideration.

8. The British delegation, which holds for the original line if no
transaction should intervene, would agree if necessary to the Amer-
ican proposition, on condition however that the Czecho-Slovak state
receive on the one hand the territory situated to the south of Pres-
bourg on the right bank of the Danube, and on the other hand positive
guarantees for the free use of the Thaya River and the Feldsberg
Railroad.

In any case, the British delegation considers that the frontier should
follow the mid channels of the Morava and Thaya as those two rivers
are to be internationalized along this part of their course.

4. The Italian delegation, just as attached, in principle, to the
maintenance of the original line, would accept if necessary modifica-
tions of detail in the region of Feldsberg but refuses to consider the
cession of the bridgehead of Presbourg as compensation. It also
agrees with the British delegation with regard to the determination
of the frontier along the mid channels of the Morava and Thaya and
concerning the internationalization of these rivers.
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five Great
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris,
on Friday, July 11, 1919, at 3: 30 p. m.

PRESENT
AMERICA,
UNITED STATES OF BriTiISH EMPIRE FRANCE
Hon. R. Lansing. The Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour. M. Clemenceau.
M. Pichon.
ITALY JAPAN
M. Crespi. M. Matsui.
Secretaries
Mr. L. Harrison.
Mr. H. Norman.
M. Paterno.
M. Kawai.
Joint Secretariat
AMmERICA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Lieut. Burden.
BRITISH EMPIRE . ... ...... Capt. BE. Abraham.
FBANCE . ... :.v0:0.......Capt. A. Portier.
TITALY o v v v o v v e oo v v o0 oo Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P, J. Mantoux,

1. M. PicHon took the Chair and explained that M. Clemenceau
was detained in the Peace Commission of the Chamber of Deputies.
He sent his apologies and would come later.

Frontier At this stage M. Tardieu, General Le Rond, M.
o Anetie Laroche, Mr. Leeper, M. Stranieri, Mr. Dulles and
§ Srecho- Mr. Hudson entered the room.!

M. Tarorgu said that he had been asked on the pre-
vious day to mark on a map the compromise he had suggested. This
compromise gave back to the Austrians half of the ground given to
the Czecho-Slovaks in the neighbourhood of Gmiind, only leaving the
junction of the railways within Czecho-Slovakia. In the region of

! André Tardieu, French representative and president, Central Territorial Com-
mittee; Gen. Le Rond, French representative and president, Sub-Commission on
Territorial Questions and Sub-Commission on Czecho-Slovak Affairs; Jules A.
Laroche, French representative, Commission on Czecho-Slovak Affairs; Alexander
Leeper, British representative, Commission on Roumanian and Yugo-Slav Affairs;
A. Stranieri, Italian representative, Comntission on Czecho-Slovak Affairs; Allen
‘W. Dulles, United States representative, Commission on Czecho-Slovak Affairs;
and Dr. Manley O. Hudson, United States representative, Commission on the
International Regime of Ports, Waterways, and Railways.

o7
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Feldsberg two-thirds of the territory was returned to Austria, only the
railway and river remaining in Czecho-Slovakia. In compensation
to Czecho-Slovakia for this reduction of territory, he proposed to
attribute to her the Bridgehead at Pressburg and the railway junction.
He would add that in the area round Feldsberg left to Czecho-Slova-
kia, there were a number of Czechs, which was not the case in the rest
of the territories mentioned. ,

M. Crespr said that the Italian Delegation had made reservations
particularly in respect to the Bridgehead. He could see no reason for
bringing Czecho-Slovakia across the Danube. There were no military
reasons and he thought it would be a cause of perpetual dissension
between the two States. The possession of an isolated bridgehead had
an offensive appearance both against Austria and against Hungary.
Politically therefore there was little to recommend the transaction.
The Italian Delegation would prefer to satisfy the Czechs in any other
region than this.

Mr. Lansing asked what Mr. Crespi thought of the other changes
suggested by M. Tardieu.

M. Creser said that the Italian Delegation thought that it would be
best to leave the frontier as previously decided, and also that no change
should be made at Pressburg.

MRr. Barrour said that he understood M. Crespi’s feeling about the
possession of the Bridgehead. Against this, he would set the consider-
ation that nowhere else had a town been cut in two by a national fron-
tier. There was an integral part of the town on the right bank of the
Danube. If the river were taken as a boundary, an economic and social
unit would be arbitrarily divided—moreover from the main town, the
railway station, the electric works and the public gardens would be
cut off, and a customs barrier would be established on the bridge con-
necting the two parts of the city.

M. Crespr said that he was told that the portlon on the right bank
of the river was not an integral part of the city but a suburb.

Mr. Lansing said that the United States had considerable exper-
ience of divided cities on the Mexican border. This kind of arrange-
ment caused the greatest possible friction. He thought it was a
mistake to make a river divide in two a Town, both parts of which had
grown up together under one Municipal authority, and had never been
separate. If, therefore, changes were to be made in other parts of the
frontier, he would be disposed to allow the whole of Pressburg on both
sides of the river to go to Czecho-Slovakia. Compensation could be
given to the German population by frontier rectification elsewhere.

M. Picuon asked whether he was right in believing that Mr. Bal-
four and Mr. Lansing accepted M. Tardieu’s proposal which M. Crespi
rejected.
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Mr. LansiNe said that he was not quite in agreement on all points.
M. Tardieu wished to give the railway junction near Gmiind to
Czecho-Slovakia. He did not think this necessary.

M. Taromeu said that this Junction exclusively served Czecho-
Slovak interests. His proposal withdrew one line entirely from the
boundaries of Czecho-Slovakia. He considered, therefore, the re-
tention of this Junction as economically essential.

Mr. LansiNe said that he was informed that 99 per cent of the pop-
ulation in the Gmiind area was German. He therefore proposed that
the historic line should be reverted to.

M. Tarpieu said that on the previous day he understood that a
compromise was to be sought. His instructions were that if a com-
promise could not be reached, the frontier announced on June 2nd
was to be adhered to. He would add that according to the Czechs,
a good deal of the population was Czech though he did not make
himself personally responsible for this statement. Undoubtedly the
majority was of German speech, whether or not of Czech origin.
Further, the Czecho-Slovak Government had somehow learnt that
an alteration of frontier was contemplated and M. Kramarcz had
already made a protest. It must be remembered that there was a
new Government at Prague inclined to seek a balance between the
Allied and Associated Powers and German influence. If the com-
promise he suggested were accepted, the Czechs would no doubt
complain.

Mgr. LaNsiNe said that he would like to give Pressburg to the Czechs
but not without full compensation, namely, the return of the German
speaking inhabitants around Gmiind. As to the Feldsberg area,
with the exception of four villages, containing he was told, 4,000
Germans and only 260 Czechs, which might without dlsadvantage
be restored to Austrla, he was content with M. Tardieu’s proposal.
In the Gmiind region he would like to return to the historic frontier.
He disliked the salient created by the proposal.

Mr. Barrour said that M. Tardieu’s compromise was like all com-
promises, open to criticism. Nevertheless, he accepted and supported
it as the best way out of a difficult situation. In effect the Council
was taking from the Czechs something already officially given to
them. The problem was therefore, not quite an open one. It involved
undoing something already done. He thought that if the portion
of Pressburg on the right side of the Danube be given to the Czechs
while the bulk of the German speaking people near Feldsberg and
near Gmiind were restored to Austria, neither side ought to complain.

Mz. LansiNg said that he would prefer to avoid the use of the
word “bridgehead”. He would prefer to say that a suburb of Press-
burg was restored to the city. The line proposed in Feldsberg with
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the exception of the four villages in the South East of the district,
to which he had referred, he would accept. In order to obtain agree-
ment he would also accept the line proposed in the region of Gmiind.

M. Taroieu said that he would like to add two remarks. The
Committee thought that the course of the Morava and Thaia which
now became a frontier line should be internationalised. The second
remark was that the railway going south from Pressburg which was
attributed to Hungary should have a servitude imposed on it ensur-
ing free circulation for the Czecho-Slovak State. He would sug-
gest that in the Treaty with Austria an addition be made to Article
313 to the following effect :—

After the first railway mentioned, the second should be :—

“from Bratislava (Presbourg) towards Fiume via Hegye-
shalom—Csorna—Hegyfalu—-Zapa%ér—Zala Szent Ivan-Mura
Keresztur and the branch line from Hegyfalu-Szembathely and
from Mura Keresztur to Pragerhof.”

The second as at present mentioned should become the third.

Similar provision should be made in the Treaty with Hungary re-
garding the railway which was to be within the Hungarian boundary.

(It was decided to accept for the Austrian frontier the compromise
proposed by M. Tardieu, subject to a slight modification proposed by
Mr. Lansing,

The Slices of territory attributed to Czecho-Slovakia in excess of
the former administrative frontier should be reduced in the regions
of Gmiind and Feldsberg to a minimum by way of compensation for
the suburb of Presbourg situated on the right bank of the Danube.

M. Tardieu’s Commission was asked to define the new frontier line
and to forward it to the Drafting Committee.

It was further decided that the cost [course?] of the Morava and of
the Thaia insofar as they became frontier lines should be interna-
tionalised.

It was also decided to modify Article 313 of the Treaty with Austria
by the addition; after the first railway mentioned of a second

“from Bratislava (Presbourg) towards Fiume via Hegyes-
halom~Csorna-Hegyfalu-Zapabér-Zala Szent Ivan-Mura
Keresztur and the branch line from Hegyfalu-Szembathely and
from Mura Keresztur to Pragerhof.”

The second Railway at present mentioned should become the third.
And to insert a similar provision to Article 813 in the treaty with
Hungary.)

2. (After a short discussion, the recommendation of the Commis-
sion on Ports, Waterways and Railways made at its Meeting of July
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9th, was accepted, and it was decided that the follow-
Note From Com- 4 ) .
mission on Forts,  ing insertion be made in Article 33 of Part 12, as
Railways, on Fron- paragraph 2 of that Article:—

tier Stations in

Avstria “The establishment of all the new Frontier Sta-
tions between Austria and the contiguous Allied and Associated States,
as well as the working of the lines between those stations, shall be
settled by agreements similarly concluded.”)

3. With reference to a letter from the German Delegation of June
25th (see Appendix “A”), it was for consideration whether an answer
should be sent.

Answer to Mz. Bavrour expressed the opinion that it was un-
German Delega- X s

tion Regarding desirable to send any answer. His colleagues con-
ol oy curred in this opinion, and it was decided that no

answer should be sent. .
4. M. Cresp1 begged that this question be adjourned.
Mz. LansiNe agreed, as he wished to have the dif-

Prindoai ™ ferences between this Treaty and that with Poland
Aregand examined.

Comers and M. Crespr1 said that on the 17th of June Baron Son-
Slovakia

nino had suggested certain additional clauses of gen-
eral application.? (See Appendix “B.”) This had been referred by
the late Council of Four to the Council of Foreign Ministers.® The
Council of Foreign Ministers had now ceased to exist. He presumed
that the question might be referred to whatever body now repre-
sented the Council of Foreign Ministers. The decision to refer the
question to the Council of Foreign Ministers had been taken because
the Commission on New States thought the proposals were outside
their competence. He explained that the proposals were to the effect
that the political clauses inserted in the Treaty with Austria should
be generalised in such a way as to apply to all the New States formed
out of the former Dual Monarchy.

(After some discussion, it was decided to refer to the Committee
on Political Clauses in Europe, Baron Sonnino’s proposal tending
to apply the political clauses of the Treaty with Austria to all the
States formed from the territories of the late Dual Monarchy.)

(At this point the Experts withdrew.)

M. CrLeMENCEAU entered the room and the members of the Draft-
ing Committee were summoned.

5. M. Hugsr read the following:

: “On the Ratification by Qermany of the Treaty of
gnf:'iégegy:: Peace—Note for the Supreme Council

Article 6 of the law, dated February 10th, 1919,

?For Baron Sonnino’s remarks and note concerning the need for additional
articles, see CF-74, minute 4 and appendix III, vol. vI, pp. 530 and 541.
® CF-17, minute 2 and appendix II, vol. vi, pp. 570 and 574.
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of the German Empire,* relating to the provisional exercise of the
Imperial Power, provides that:—

“The affairs of the Empire are conducted by an Imperial Presi-
dent. The Imperial President will represent the Empire in in-
ternational matters, will conclude in the name of the Empire
Treaties with foreign Powers, and will accredit and receive
ambassadors.

Declaration of war and Treaties of Peace are made in conformity
with the law of the Empire.

The instrument of ratification signed by President Ebert, and
countersigned by Bauer, President of the Council of Ministers, men-
tion being made of the approval of the “legislative bodies”, appears
to fulfil the above stipulation. '

It may be deemed that Article 4 of the same law, dealing with the
preparation of the future constitution of the Empire, lays down that
the territory of the German States cannot be altered without the con-
sent of those States, but this provision appears only to restrict the
powers of the National Assembly on this subject.

In these circumstances, the instrument of ratification of the Treaty
of Peace of June 28th, 1919, forwarded by the Government of the
German Empire, is not in the opinion of the Drafting Committee
open to objection, but may be regarded as complete, and in due form,
from the international point of view.”

M. CremENCEATU said that it followed from this opinion of the Draft-
ing Committee that the blockade on Germany must be raised from
the 12th of July, in accordance with a letter received by him from
the Inter-Allied Blockade Committee. (See Appendix “C.)

(It was decided to accept the interpretation given by the Draft-
ing Committee, and to terminate the blockade on Germany from the
12th July, 1919.)

6. Mr. Barrour said that in connection with this subject he wished
to draw the attention of the Council to the fact that a blockade on

Russia had been conducted under the guise of a block-

Question of ade on Germany. The latter being now removed, it
Blockade in . .
the Baltic was for consideration whether any form of blockade

could be continued with the object of preventing the
passage of supplies and arms to the Russian Soviet Government.
This Government had not been recognised and the Allies were not
at war with it. It did not seem possible, therefore, legally to de-
clare a blockade on it. Nevertheless, it was obviously a serious mat-
ter to allow Sweden and other countries to furnish Soviet Russia
with the means of fighting our friends. He suggested this matter
be considered and discussed at a very early date.
(It was decided to put on the Agenda for the following meeting the
question of the consequences of the termination of the Blockade on
Germany on the unofficial blockade of Russia.)

‘ Germany, Reichs-Gesetzblatt, 1919, No. 33, pp. 169, 170.
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7. At this stage M. Misu, M. Vaida-Voevod and
Mensures To Be M. Plessia of the Roumanian Delegation ; M. Patchitch

Hungary st and M. Vesnitch of the Serbian Delegation; and M.
sgzgﬁri’:}’:}gsz‘f""' Kr.a}marcz and M. Benes of the Czecho-Slovak Dele-
Roumanian gation; Marshal Foch, Geperal Weygand, the V"er-
tives With sailles Military Representatives and General Thwaites

entered the room.

M. Picron gave the delegates a short account of what had taken
place in Council at previous meetings on this subject. He also read
to them the report made by the Military Representa-

See HD-3 tives of the Supreme War Council at Versailles re-
Appen.B® garding the military measures to be taken to enforce

respect for the armistice on Hungary.

M. CremeNcEAU asked Marshal Foch to say what he thought of the
projected operation.

Marsman Focm said that the report of the Military Representa-
tives at Versailles contained no projected operation. It merely stated
what forces were available for action. He understood the purpose
was to make Hungary respect the conditions of the armistice. In
the meantime Hungarian forces had increased from six to nine
divisions, and the success obtained over the Czechs had improved the
morale of these forces. If Hungary was to respect the armistice, she
must be forced to reduce these troops to six divisions, and also to with-
draw from certain territories. 84,000 men were said to be available
for use to effect this. This number was small for the purpose. The
main contributor to this number was Roumania. Not only was the
total not great, but there was no cohesion between the various ele-
ments contributing to it. The Roumanian Army was under Rouma-
nian Command, the Serbian army was under Serbian Command, the
Czech Army was under a French General, and the French troops un-
der French Command. A single Command was obviously the first
requisite for a successful campaign. Moreover, the probable length
of the operations must be taken into account. It seemed unlikely that
the desired end could be obtained by one rapid stroke. If this were
the case the troops above mentioned would require reinforcement.
Obviously assistance must be looked for in this from the neighbour-
ing states. Before making a plan it must be known what these States
would do, how much they would contribute, and whether they would
agree to act under one Command. The desired results were :—first
to defeat the Hungarian army, and second to occupy Budapest. The
first alone was difficult with the forces locally available. The second
was still more difficult, as Budapest was the central fortress of the
Hungarian plain. It was a considerable city, and if taken would re-

® Ante, pp. 59, 67.



104 THE PARIS PEACE CONFERENCE, 1919, VOLUME VII

quire a large occupying force. Before embarking on the adventure
there must first be a political understanding between the States tak-
ing part in it. Secondly a military understanding. Thirdly, a plan
of operations.

M. CremeNceaU asked Marshal Foch whether he required more
troops than were placed at his disposal. If so, would he name a
figure.

MarsuAL Focum said he would have to study the question. The
whole operation was conditioned, first by the terms of the agreement
that might be made between the states concerned, and secondly by
the probable length of the operations.

M. CremENCEAU asked the Roumanian representatives to state the
view of their Government.

M. Misu said that the Roumanian Government would certainly
take into consideration the desires of the Conference. Roumania was
greatly interested in the condition of Hungary by reason of its neigh-
bourhood. Roumania was already bearing a heavy burden and main-
taining seven divisions in Hungary. Two army corps were forming
in Transylvania and were not yet ready. Four divisions were main-
tained on the Russian front, and two more were being mobilised with
the help of equipment supplied by the Allies. He agreed with Mar-
shal Foch that the first requisite was an understanding between the
Governments concerned. On behalf of the Roumanian Government
he felt entitled to say that a very willing spirit would be shown.

M. CreMENcEAU asked the Serbian representatives to express the
views of their Government.

M. VesnrTcH said he entirely agreed with Marshal Foch that a single
Command was necessary. With this proviso he thought that the
forces at present available, if assisted with arms and munitions, could
achieve success without much difficulty. It should also be impressed
on the Government at Budapest that the Allied and Associated Pow-
ers were absolutely at one, and seriously intended to have their will
respected. This would produce a moral effect perhaps even greater
than the military effect of the forces employed.

As to Serbia’s share, he had no instructions from the Serbian Gov-
ernment, but he thought he could go so far as to say that Serbia would
make her contribution and he was prepared to advise his Government
to do so. He must point out that Serbia herself was threatened at
certain points and he would ask that, during the campaign, Serbia be
guaranteed by the Powers against threats from without. He men-
tioned, for example, that the Bulgarians had not yet been disarmed.

M. CrLemENCEAU asked how many troops Serbia would contribute?

M. VzsnrrcH replied that Serbia would contribute what the Military
Representatives at Versailles had asked for, namely, one division.

M. PicHon said that he hoped Serbia might contribute more.
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M. VesniToH said that perhaps the Serbian Government might see
its way to making a larger contribution, but he could make no under-
taking on its behalf.

M. CremMENCEAU asked how far he thought the Serbian Government
would go? :

M. Vesnrrcw replied that this depended on general circumstances.

M. CremENCEAU observed that an Army could not be made of gen-
eral circumstances.

M. Vesnrrcr said that the Military Representatives at Versailles
had considered one division necessary.

GeNErRAL BeLin explained that the report made by the Military
Representatives had merely stated what troops were believed to be
available. The figure mentioned was not a desideratum but a state-
ment of what was ready for immediate use. Thereport had also stated
that the troops locally available would require reinforcements.

M. CreMENCEAU said that it was evidently desirable to have exact
figures. Once they were obtained, Marshal Foch could be asked if
they were sufficient. M. Vesnitch had said that Serbia would con-
tribute a division, but, if so, must be protected against the Bulgarians.
In other words, what he offered with one hand he withdrew with the
other.

M. VesNrrcr said that he had declared Serbia’s readiness to help.
Nevertheless, the precarious condition of the country must be taken
into account. He was prepared to offer the whole of the Serbian
Army on condition that, while it was away from home, the house
should not be burgled. One division had been mentioned in the report
of the Military Representatives; he had understood that they desired
one division. He now understood from General Belin that more, if
possible, would be acceptable. It was necessary, however, for the
Serbian Military Authorities to judge what could be done under the
circumstances. The first business of Serbia was to ensure her own
existence. She was being asked to make an effort in the common cause
and on her behalf he had expressed her readiness to do her best.
Marshal Foch had said that action must be preceded by political agree-
ment between the countries concerned, namely, Serbia, Czecho-Slo-
vakia, and Roumania. He would like to observe that, as a Military
action was required and that as, for success, it ought to be rapid, a
great deal of valuable time would be lost in conducting negotiations at
Belgrade, Budapest, and Prague. He thought it would be best to
place the available forces directly under Marshal Foch’s command.

M. CremeNcEaU asked M. Vesnitch if he could inform the Council
of the present distribution of the Serbian Army.

M. VEesNrrcH gave the following information :—

1. The Morava division in the Banat.
2. The Drina division in Batchka and Slavonia,
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3. The Danube division in Croatia and Slovenia.

4. The Choumadia division in Belgrade (one regiment) and on
the Bulgarian frontier.

5. T%q Timok division in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Dalmatia, and

iume.

6. The Yugo-Slav division in the Sandjak, on the Albanian
frontier, in old Serbia and in Montenegro.

7. The Vardar Brigade in Macedonia.

M. CremENCEAU then asked the Czecho-Slovak representatives to
state the case for their Government.

M. Kramarcz said that the Hungarian situation was undoubtedly
a threat to Czecho-Slovakia. His Government did not desire Hungary
to have a larger Army than that allowed to her in the armistice, but,
the present moment was not propitious for action by Czecho-Slovakia
against Hungary. When Czecho-Slovakia was attacked, the moment
was more propitious. At that time, Czecho-Slovakia had mobilised
150,000 men, but munitions and equipment were lacking. The Con-
ference had then imposed an armistice between Czecho-Slovakia and
Hungary. The Hungarians had observed this armistice and had
evacuated Czecho-Slovakian territory. What pretext, therefore, was
there for the Czechs to attack the Hungarians? The proposal now
was to demand the reduction of the Hungarian forces to the number
stipulated, but so far as Czecho-Slovakia was concerned, the Hun-
garians had fulfilled the conditions of the armistice required of them.
He agreed with M. Vesnitch that a political agreement between the
three States was not desirable. The question was one concerning the
Entente. It related to the armistice negotiated between Hungary and
the Allied and Associated Powers. No doubt Czech troops, if em-
ployed, would do their duty, but before they could be employed the
Government at Prague must be consulted.

M. CreEMENCEAU enquired what contribution from Czecho-Slo-
vakia had been suggested in the Versailles report ?

M. Kramarcz replied 20,000 men. He did not conceal that Czecho-
Slovakia had more men than this available, but he could not say
whether the Government at Prague would consent to act. As the
Council knew, the Government had lately changed.

MarsurAL Focm said that he had just received a letter from Gen-
eral Pellé® dated 8th July. He read this letter to the Council.
(Appendix “D”). It followed from this letter that Hungary was
determined to re-act against fate. It would seize its opportunity
when the Allied nations had demobilised and disarmament had set
in. He would like to explain that the preliminary understanding
he had referred to was the kind of understanding that could be

®Gen. Maurice C. J. Pellé, of the French Army, commander in chief of the
Czecho-Slovak Army.
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obtained in the Council. He did not suggest that the negotiations
be carried on in Prague, Bucharest and Belgrade.

M. CremEnceau asked Mr. Balfour whether any British help
could be expected ?

Mr. Barrour replied that he had repeated to the British War
Cabinet the argument he had set forth to the Council. He thought
the Powers could not submit to a continued breach of the armistice
by Hungary. This affected central Europe and perhaps even the
whole of Europe. Unless this were put a stop to, there was no
hope of peace or of restoring the economic condition of central
Europe. It was of the utmost importance to act quickly. He thought
an effort must be made and that all Allied countries must contribute.
A decision on this subject was one of a very momentous character.
Up to the present time, he had received no answer from the British
War Cabinet. He did not know whether General Thwaites had
received any answer from the War Office.

GeNERAL THWAITES said that he had received no answer.

M. Crespr said that he had telegraphed to Rome in the same
sense as Mr. Balfour. He thought all were agreed in regarding
the question as one of European importance. He had so far re-
ceived no answer. The question, however, was being considered.
Italy was passing through a critical time. Demobilisation had
proceeded even further than he had stated on the previous day.
(M. Crespi handed to M. Clemenceau a paper on this subject—
Appendix “E”.") Italy was threatened by her own Bolsheviks. A
general strike was possible if Italy acted against the Bolsheviks,
whether in Russia or elsewhere. He expected M. Tittoni to be
back in Paris on the following Sunday. He would then be able
to make a statement on the subject.

M. CremEeNCEAU said that the result of the discussion did not
appear to furnish Marshal Foch with a very coherent force.

MarsaaL Focm said that, if the military resurrection of Hun-
gary was to be prevented, action should be rapid. If all the Gov-
ernments co-operated, he thought success could be achieved.

M. Bengs said that one precaution must be taken if a campaign
against Hungary were started. When the Magyars had attacked
Czecho-Slovakia, it was found that there was considerable Aus-
trian connivance with the Hungarians. It would be necessary to
take all precautions that Austria did not hamper the military ac-
tion undertaken by the Allies.

M. CremeENcEAU said that, to sum up, there appeared to be six
Roumanian divisions, two French, one Serbian and a doubtful quan-
tity of Czecho-Slovaks.

7 Appendix “E” does not accompany the file copy of the minutes.
514888—46—VOL. VII—8
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M. Benes said there were troops in Czecho-Slovakia, but a scarcity
of equipment. He was therefore not prepared to state a figure.

M. Cremenceau said that he would be glad to know what con-
tribution Great Britain would make. Perhaps Mr. Balfour would
be able to state this on the following day.

Mz. Barrour said that he hoped this might be so. There were
no British troops at present on the spot.

M. CrLeEMENCEAU said the question was whether any could be sent.

Mzr. Barrour said that he did not know.

M. CremeNceau asked Marshal Foch whether he could act on
this information.

MarseAaL Focu replied that preparations could be made. After
discovering what each could contribute and the dates on which the
contributions could be made, he thought that he would be able in
a fortnight to elaborate the first outlines of a plan.

M. CremeNCEAU suggested that Marshal Foch should give a sketch
of the plan of operations in a week, in order that the matter should
be kept before the Council’s attention.

MarsaaL Foca said that, if he were to do this, he must be auth-
orised to treat with the Governments concerned and find out from
them what they could undertake to supply and at what period they
could fulfil their undertakings.

M. Kramaroz said that he did not know whether his Government
would contribute to the operations, but should it do so he must ask
that action be taken at Vienna, in order that munitions and arms
stored there be delivered to Czecho-Slovakia.

M. CremenceAU replied that this point should be explained to
Marshal Foch.

(It was agreed that Marshal Foch after consulting the authorities
of the countries concerned, should formulate the plan of operations
and report progress to the Council in a week’s time.)

(The meeting then adjourned.)

Virra Magsestic, Paris, July 11, 1919.

Appendix “A” to HD-5
WCP-1125

[The Secretary of the German Delegation (Von Haniel) to the
President of the Peace Conference (Clemenceau)]

No. 122 GerMAN Peace DELEGATION,

VErsatLLes, 25 June, 1919,

Mg. Presment: The Imperial Minister of Foreign Affairs has
instructed me to communicate the following to you.
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“The German Government is informed that among the Oriental
territories that Germany must cede in accordance with the Peace
Treaty as well as among the administrations and minor military
authorities there, doubt exists and wrong views are held as to the
time when this cession must take place. In order to avoid misun-
derstandings and disagreeable incidents, and in the interests of the
two parties, it seems necessary to inform the interested circles
immediately that the Treaty of Peace will not come into force as
soon as it is signed, but only at the time stated in the different
Clauses of the Treaty, and until then, the actual state of affairs are
still in force. As to that which concerns the territories situated
within the line of demarcation, all that is necessary has been done
on the German side. The Allied and Associated Powers are re-
quested, without delay, to take corresponding measures in connection
with the territories situated beyond this line.”

Accept [ete.] Von HaNIEL

Appendix B to HD-5
CONVENTION WITH THE NEW STATES

Clauses Relative to the Reciprocal Relations of the Ceded
Territories

ArTticLE 1

Separate agreements between the High Contracting Parties will
provide for the regulation of the interests of persons remaining in
territories detached from the ex-Austro-Hungarian Monarchy and
transferred to each Contracting Party, with special regard to their
civil rights, their trade, and the exercise of their profession, in-
cluding the establishment and up-keep of emigration agencies.

ArTICLE 2

Insurance Companies which had their business head-quarters in
the territory of one of the High Contracting Parties formerly be-
longing to the ex-Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, will have the right
for a period of ten years to carry on their business in the detached
portion of said Monarchy transferred to the other High Contracting
Parties, and their change of nationality shall not in the least affect
the juridical status which they previously enjoyed.

During the aforementioned period the business of said Companies
may not be subjected by these High Contracting Parties to any tax
or due higher than those affecting the business of their own national
Companies nor can any action be taken with regard to their property
which is not equally applicable to the property, rights and interests
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of national insurance companies, and suitable indemnities will be
paid in those cases in which such measures may be taken in the
territory of one or other of the High Contracting Parties.

The above provisions will be enforced within the territory of one
of the High Contracting Parties only in as much as and for so long
as the Insurance Companies of said High Contracting Party are in
enjoyment of the same right of carrying on their business in said
territory, even if their business head-quarters are outside said
territory.

It is agreed that after the expiration of the ten year period above
referred to the Insurance Companies as above will enjoy the treat-
ment of the most favoured nation, with special regard to the exercise
of their business, the regulations and restrictions which might
directly or indirectly affect this right, and the assessment of direct
or indirect charges, dues and taxes, and no restriction may be placed
on these companies which was not applicable to them on July 1st,
1914, unless same restriction is likewise placed on the national com-
panies of said State.

N. B. The purpose is to maintain for a certain period the relations
already existing in the matter of insurance in the territories of the
ex-Austro-Hungarian Monarchy.

ArticLE 3

Persons habitually residing with[in] the territories of the ex-
Austro-Hungarian Monarchy transferred to one or other of the
High Contracting Parties, and who, during the war, were outside
the territories of the ex-Austro-Hungarian Monarchy or who were
imprisoned, interned, or evacuated, will enjoy in full the provisions
as under articles 300 and 301 of the Treaty of Peace with Austria
within the territories of the High Contracting Parties.

ArTicLE 4

A Special Convention to be drawn up between Austria, Hungary,
and the other Allied and Associated States arising from the ex-
Austro-Hungarian Monarchy or cedees of its territories, will de-
termine the conditions of repayment in Austrian currency of the
special war expenditure anticipated during the war by the territories
of said Monarchy transferred to each of the High Contracting
Parties, or by collective bodies of public interest in said territories,
on behalf of the Austro-Hungarian Monarchy in accordance with
Austro-Hungarian law, such as allowances to families of mobilised
soldiers, requisitions, billeting of troops, subsidies to refugees, etec.

In the assessment of these sums account will be taken of the share
said territories have contributed, with regard to Austria-Hungary,
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to the cost of said repayment, said contribution being reckoned on
the basis of the proportional contribution to the revenues of the
Monarchy made by said territories in 19183.

ArTICLE 5

In those cases in which the property referred to under article 12
of the financial clauses of the Peace Treaty with Austria belonged
to an association or public corporation carrying on its work in terri-
tories which have come to be separated as a result of said Treaty,
special Conventions shall regulate the assessment of such property.

ArTICLE 6

Records, registers, plans, deeds and documents of all kinds bearing
on the civil, military, financial, judicial or other administration,
existing within the territory of one of the High Contracting Parties
and concerning ex-Austro-Hungarian territories transferred to an-
other of the High Contracting Parties will be handed over to same
without delay.

If any of the documents, records, registers, deeds or plans have
been displaced they will be returned on the request of the Govern-
ment concerned.

ArtIcLE 7

Contracts drawn up between ex-Austrian nationals who have be-
come nationals of one of the High Contracting Parties on the one
hand and ex-Austrian nationals who have become nationals of an-
other of the High Contracting Parties on the other hand, are valid
except contracts for the purchase or sale of goods entered into before
August 1st, 1914 and not yet carried out, which are annulled.

N.B. This clause corresponds to that foreseen under art. 50 of
Sec. VIII of Part X of the Treaty with Austria, except that the
uni-lateral cancellation of contracts between Allied States cannot
be recognised. Nevertheless with regard to pre-war contracts the
general interest makes it advisable that they be mutually cancelled
in view of the long period which has elapsed since they were entered
into.

ArTICcLE 8

All railway rolling-stock which, in violation of the terms of art. 3
of the Armistice of November 3rd, 1918% (Villa Giusti) has been
transported beyond the armistice frontier during and after the ne-
gotiations for said armistice, must be returned to Italy within a
period of two months, apart from the material which will be due to

®Vol. m, p. 175.
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her under the reparation clauses of art. 311 of the Peace Treaty
with Austria.

The quantity and quality of the rolling-stock to be thus returned
will be determined for engines in accordance with direct ascertain-
ment, and for cars and trucks in the ratio of twenty for each engine,
one tenth of same to be passenger cars and one twenty fifth goods
trucks.

ArTICLE 9

A special convention to be drawn up between the High Contract-
ing Parties will regulate the payment of all civil, ecclesiastical and
military pensions due to ex-Austrian nationals who by the Peace
Treaty with Austria become nationals of one or other of the High
Contracting Parties.

ArTticiE 10

Without prejudice to the provisions of article 6 of part XII
of the Peace Treaty with Austria, the High Contracting Parties
undertake to maintain on their own lines the railway rates in force
before the war for traffic with the Adriatic ports and the Black Sea
in relation to their competition with German North Sea ports, with
special reference to the pre-existing relation between the railway

rates for traffic with the Port of Trieste on the one hand and the
Port of Fiume on the other.

Persons, goods, ships, means of transport, and postal, telegraphic
and telephonic services coming from or going to the port of Trieste
on the one hand and of Fiume on the other hand will be treated
in all the ports and on all ways of communication in the territories
of the High Contracting Parties formerly belonging to the ex-
Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, on a footing of perfect equality with
special reference to matters affecting the freedom of transit, sani-
tary control, customs and police, dues and taxes of all kinds and
the conditions made, the facilitations granted and the restrictions
imposed on trade and traffic in general.

ArTticLe 11

As an exception to the provisions of article. . . . (Art. 4 of the
Peace Treaty with Poland) and for a period of five years from the
enforcement of the present Treaty, each of the States to which under
the Treaty of Peace with Austria and Hungary Adriatic ports belong-
ing to the ex-Austro-Hungarian Monarchy have been ceded, shall
recognise to any other of these same States the right to carry on
coasting trade between these ports in conditions of complete
reciprocity.
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ArTIiCcLE 12

While expressly maintaining, in principle, for the nationals of
Adriatic riparian States the exclusive right to fish along their respec-
tive coasts, said States will, for a period of three years from the
enforcement of the present Treaty, reciprocally grant to the inhab-
itants of the Adriatic coast of one State the right to fish along the
coast of the other States. Coral and sponge fishing will, however, be
excepted from this rule, as also fishing within one sea mile of the
coast, which is exclusively reserved to the inhabitants of the country.

ArricLE 13

As an exception to the provisions of article. . . . (article 3 of Part
XII of the Peace Treaty with Austria) and for a period of three
years from the enforcement of the present Treaty, goods imported
into Yugoslavia through ports, or in transit through ports which,
before the war, belonged to the ex-Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, will
be entitled to proportionate reductions of duties corresponding to
those applied to the same products under the Austro-Hungarian cus-
toms tariff of February 13th, 1906 when imported into Austro-
Hungary through said ports.

ArTiCcLE 14

Objects of all kinds, and more especially antiquities, works of art,
documents, records and scientific and bibliographical material which
during the war, or in the imminence of hostilities, were removed from
invaded regions or from territories transferred by the Peace Treaty
with Austria, and which are now in other territories placed under
the jurisdiction of one of the High Contracting Parties, will be
repatriated by these same High Contracting Parties within six months
from the date of the enforcement of the present Treaty.

Appendix C to HD-5

[Translation °]

Note to the Council of the Heads of Delegations

RepuBLIic oF FRANCE,
Paris, July 11, 1919.

Raising of the Blockade.
The Allied and Associated representatives on the Inter-Allied
Blockade Committee, having taken into consideration the note of July

® Translation from the French éupplied by the editors.
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10 from the German delegation with regard to the ratification of the
treaty of peace and requesting the immediate raising of the blockade,
deem, that, if this communication is considered by the Council of the
Heads of Delegations as the official notice “of the regular and complete
ratification” envisaged in the letter sent June 27 to the German dele-
gation by the President of the Peace Conference,' the blockade of
Germany should be raised from the 12th of July.

They inquire whether this opinion is shared by the Council of the
Heads of Delegations.

Appendix D to HD-5

[Translation **]
Pracug, July 8, 1919.

General Pellé,
To the President of the Council
Minister of War
(EMM.A.) Paris.

As T have had the honor of recounting to you, the Hungarian troops
before the evening of July 4 withdrew from the border demarcating
the territory of the Czecho-Slovak Republic to the frontier designated
by the radiogram of June 13 from the president of the Peace Confer-
ence.* A neutral zone of four kilometers—two kilometers on each
side of the frontier—has been established.

Whatever the exact reason may be that dictated this retreat for the
Hungarian Army, there is reason to believe the truce which resulted
will be only momentary.

In spite of the difficulties of the internal situation the Hungarian
Government continues to produce armaments.

During the recent retreat a number of French, English, and Ameri-
can officers were in contact with the Magyar troops. They were able
to talk with civil and military officials of all ranks of the former regime
serving the Bolshevik government, with the leaders of the Bolshevik
movement of Buda-Pest, and with the working people, laborers con-
verted into leaders of bands or commanders of regiments.

All these officers give the same testimony. They did not meet any
Hungarian who is not determined to fight to the end in order to restore
his country within its former frontiers, or at least to reconquer
Slovakia. The cultured Hungarians, in particular the officers of the

1 See CF-95, minute 2, vol. vi, p. 720.
2 Translation from the French supplied by the editors.
3 Appendix V (E) to CF-65, vol. v1, p. 413.
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old Army, tried to create in these foreigners a good impression of the
discipline and courage of their troops; at the same time they were in-
tent upon proving to them the justice of their national claims. Bol-
sheviks of every degree revealed themselves no less fanatical and even
more passionate in asserting their rights and they do not recoil before
any violent means of Magyarization.

The Hungarian people are confident of the future. In a few months
the armies of the Entente will have been demobilized and the Hun-
garian military forces will be ready; the fate of Slovakia will be
quickly settled.

But as I have already indicated in my note of June 11, the frontier
drawn for Czecho-Slovakia by the Peace Conference gives to Hungary
all the strategic advantages; it cannot be defended by the Czecho-
Slovak Army, or more exactly, the sole means of defense would be to
anticipate the enemy if possible and to take the initiative in operations.

The situation would become still more unfavorable if the Hun-
garians, rulers of Vienna, should hem in Western Slovakia on three
sides.

If bolshevism takes root and grows in Hungary with the aid of the
tolerance which it has enjoyed up to the present from the Entente, it
would not delay much in seizing Vienna, whence it will threaten Italy
and Switzerland or rejoin Bavaria.

If the bolshevism of Budapest yields its place to a government less
inimical to the social order, but equally dominated by nationalist
opinion, war will come again to Central Europe in another form, but
always against our vital interests.

Today, as yesterday, military intervention against Hungary by the
Entente appears to me as an inevitable necessity. In the absence of
any other reason, the plain violation by the Hungarian state of the
conditions of disarmament established by the armistice convention
justifies this intervention. The effort to carry this out will be more
costly tomorrow than it would have been several weeks ago; it will be
still more so if it is postponed again.

PreLLs
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five Great
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris, on
Saturday, July 12,1919, at 3:30 p. m.

PRESENT
AMERICA,
UNITED STATES OF BrITISH EMPIRE FRANCE
Hon. Henry White.  The Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour. M. Clemenceau.
M. Pichon.
ITALY JAPAN
M. Crespi. M. Matsui.
Recretary-General
M. Dutasta.
RSecretaries
Mr. L. Harrison.
Mr. H. Norman.
M. Paterno.
M. Kawai.
Joint Secretariat
AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF . . . . Colonel U. S. Grant.
BriTiIsH EMPIRE .......... Lieut.-Commdr. Bell.
FRANCE . . ...ttt i v e v Capt. A. Portier.
ITALY . . .. vt it e et e e e Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.

(At this point M. Cambon ! entered the room.)

1. M. CrLemMENCEAU said that the Council had before them a pro-
posal of Mr. Lansing to the effect that the Polish and Tzecho-Slovak
Governments should be given 10 days to arrive at an
understanding between themselves on the Teschen
question. He requested M. Cambon to explain his point of view.

M. CameoN said that the Teschen question had been much dis-
cussed : no particular solution had been accepted ; for it was hoped that
MM. Paderewski and Benes would be able to come to an understand-
ing. They had not been able to do so, with the result that conflict
continued in the area in question. It was therefore necessary to ar-
rive at some solution and he thought that Mr. Lansing’s proposal was
a good one.

Teschen

* Jules Cambon, French representative and president, Commission on Czecho-
Slovak Affairs.
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(After some discussion it was decided to accept Mr. Lansing’s pro-
posal and to grant a period of 10 days to the Governments of Poland
and Czecho-Slovakia to arrive at an agreement between themselves
on the question of Teschen.)

2. M. CLEMENCEAU said that Mr. Lansing had submitted a proposal
to the effect that the Orava question should be referred to the Polish
The Orava and Czecho-Slovak Committees, in order that they
Question might correct the frontier previously adopted, in a
manner which should conform to the ethnographical data on the sub-
ject. He therefore asked the experts to accept the ethnographical
frontier and asked M. Cambon for his opinion.

M. CamBon said that the Czecho-Slovak Committee had examined
the question with care: the Committee in question had decided to grant
Orava to Czecho-Slovakia as a compensation. At present the popula-
tions affected were stated to be dissatisfied and Mr. Lansing had asked
for a re-examination of the question.

Mg, WarTE said that two peasants had visited President Wilson on
the 28th June and that they had spoken to him on behalf of 50,000
inhabitants of the region in question.

M. CamBon thought that the two Committees might meet and sub-
mit a new proposal.

MR. Barrour said that President Wilson desired strongly that the
question should be examined afresh.

M. CLeMENCEAU said that the question should be referred to the
Committees, which should be asked to make a new examination of the
question, without being bound by any obligation to return to the ethno-
graphical frontier line.

(It was therefore decided that the question of the frontier between
Poland and Czecho-Slovakia should be referred to the Polish and
Czecho-Slovak Committees for examination and report.)

(At this point M. Cambon withdrew.)

3. M. CreMENCEATU said that the Council had to look into the effect
Blockade of upon the Russian Blockade of the termination of the
Russia Blockade of Germany.

Mr. Barrour said that whilst he recognised how urgent and im-
portant the question was, he had found that it raised points of such
difficulty that he would be grateful if the Council would put off the
discussion to its next meeting.

(Mr. Balfour’s proposal was agreed to.)

4. M. CLeMENCEAU said that it was proposed that a Committee of
Experts should examine the Italian demand for the cession of

the Austro-Hungarian Concession in Tientsin to
Questi;): of them.

Tents Mg, Warre said that he was obliged to remark that
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the Government of the United States had always been opposed to any
new concessions at Tientsin being made by China.

M. Creser said that it was not a question of a new concession but
simply of an extension of the existing Italian concession. The Note
submitted by the Italian Delegation to the Council 2 showed that the
Italian concession only consisted of 124 acres whilst those granted
to other countries were more extensive.

M. Prcnon said that the question should be summarised as follows.
There was an article in the German treaty by virtue of which German
concessions were restored to China. Germany had ratified the Treaty.
It was to be observed that none of the concessions in question had
been given to the Allied and Associated Powers, but that they had
been restored to China, on the simple condition that the latter country
should open its ports to international Commerce. The clauses in ques-
tion were contained in Articles Nos. 128 to 132. The Italian pro-
posal was therefore no less than an abrogation of the principle ac-
cepted by the Conference.

M. Matsur said that he entirely agreed with M. Pichon. The re-
turn of the concessions to China was part of the Treaty with Ger-
many. The same thing applied to Austria; and the Austrian Govern-
ment had received a copy of the text of the Treaty. It was therefore
equitable to return the Austro-Hungarian concessions to China.

Mg. WHrtE said that in spite of his keen desire to satisfy the Italian
claims, it seemed impossible to him to grant to Italy what belonged
to China.

M. Creser said that the Italian Government had long been asking
for an improvement in their concession from China.

The concession in question was very limited and surrounded by
marshy ground. It did not even contain any land suitable for setting
up a hospital for the sick and wounded. The Conference was very
cognizant of Chinese methods and the discussions had been so drawn
out that the Italian Government had received no satisfactory reply.
It had therefore been decided to put the question before the Confer-
ence, with a view to making the concession a question of reparation.
The Italian concession was too small to allow of any economic develop-
ment and he was of opinion that the Chinese Government would not
oppose the enlargement of the concession in question.

M. CreMENCEAU said that he proposed to nominate a Committee.

Mgz. WarrE said that he opposed any Committee being nominated,
since the question before it would be that of ceding Chinese property.
He did not see any objection to the Italian Government raising the
question direct with China; but if Austria-Hungary were deprived

”‘ This document does not accompany the minutes.
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of the concession by virtue of the Treaty, it must inevitably be
returned to China.

M. Creser proposed that the question should be referred to the
Reparation Committee.

M. CLeMENCEATU stated that he preferred that it should be examined
by experts. He reminded Mr. White that no decision would be
taken unless he authorised it, since every member had a right of veto.
But it seemed difficult and not very conciliatory to oppose the
nomination of a Committee.

Mg. WHrTE said that he agreed under the reservations which he had
already made.

Mr. Barrour remarked that the representative of the American
Delegation would always be able to refuse to accept the decisions of
the Committee in question.

Mg. Warre stated that he agreed to the nomination of a Committee,
but that he would be opposed to its decisions. The United States had
renounced all claims to any concession and was, moreover, opposed to
concessions in principle. He could not, therefore, recognise the
necessity of nominating any Committee.

M. Creser said that he did not wish to press the discussion further,
but that he begged Mr. White to agree to the nomination of a Com-
mittee without thereby engaging himself in any way.

Mg. WarTE stated that under these circumstances, he agreed.

Mgr. Barrour stated that he agreed to the proposal but that he did
not see what good would come of it in view of the American right of
veto. The work of the Committee would be without effect, but if it
could give any satisfaction to the Italian Delegation, he would not
be opposed to the nomination of the Committee.

Mg. Warte stated that he thought the question should be dealt with
by direct negotiation and read Article 3 of Section IV, Part III, of
the Peace Treaty with Austria :—

“Austria cedes to China all her rights over the buildings, wharves
and pontoons, barracks, forts, arms and munitions of war, vessels of
all kinds, wireless telegraphy installations and other public propert
which belonged to the former Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, an
which are situated or may be in the Austro-Hungarian Concession
at Tientsin or elsewhere in Chinese territory.”

M. Creser stated that the Article in question had not yet been sub-
mitted to the Austrian delegation and that it was only a project.

(Tt was decided to nominate a special Committee to examine the
Ttalian demand that a clause which should cede to Italy the Austrian
concession in Tientsin should be introduced into the Peace Treaty
with Austria.)
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(The American Delegation accepted the proposal whilst making

a reservation that it would not be bound by the findings of the
Committee appointed.)

5. M. CLemENcEAU stated that he was obliged to submit to the

Council a document which had been communicated officially by the

Serbian delegation (see Appendix A). It had been

AD . . . .
Commameaed found in Klagen.fur.t in the Office of the Senior
by the Serbian Officer of the District. The document seemed to

show that the Austrians had been informed of the
movements of the Serbian army by the indiscretion of the Italian
Authorities.
(It was decided to communicate the document to the various
Delegations for their scrutiny.)
6. M. CLeMENCEAU produced a document addressed to him dlrectly
by Bela Kun.

Wireless M. MaNToux then read it aloud (see Appendix B).
Deiaage From Mg. Barrour stated that it seemed to him that the

Council was in a very difficult position with regard to the document in
question. It should be remembered that the Allied and Associated
Powers had approached Hungary with a view to making that country
withdraw its troops from Czecho-Slovakia on the condition that an
analogous order should be imposed upon Roumania. Hungary had
accepted and had withdrawn its troops. Roumania had not obeyed
the order. M. Bratiano had said in a private conversation with
him that it would be impossible for Roumania to withdraw her
troops before Hungary had disarmed. The argument was strong.
Roumania was threatened by Russian Bolshevism on its eastern
frontier and by Hungarian Bolshevism on its western frontier. Up
to the present time the country had managed to hold its own, owing
to the fact that on the Hungarian side, it was protected by the line
of the Theiss which could easily be defended. The Roumanians
stated that if they were to abandon this line and attempt to defend
themselves further back, they would have no guarantee against an
attack from Bela Kun which, if made, would make it difficult for
Roumania to defend herself. Although M. Bratiano had not made
a precise statement to that effect, he had given the impression that
if Hungary had disarmed according to the conditions of the Armi-
stice, Roumania would carry out the wishes of the Allies and would
retire to the line which had been laid down. M. Bratiano had
further explained that Hungary by withdrawing its forces from
Czecho-Slovakia had not lessened the danger to Roumania, which
was on the contrary more than ever menaced by the Hungarian
movement.

M. Cremenceau said that he supposed that Bela Kun’s ready
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obedience to the orders he had received could be explained in this
way. :

Mgr. Barrour said that he thought the Roumanians would be justi-
fied in not withdrawing their army so long as the Hungarians were
not prevented from re-enforcing theirs and from manufacturing
munitions and war materials.

.- M. CrLemENCEAU said that he proposed that Mr. Balfour should
prepare a reply.

M. Creser said that new facts had to be taken into consideration,
which had occurred since the withdrawal of the Hungarian troops.
Massacres and looting subversive of human rights had taken place.

" The Italian representative, who was President of the Interallied
Armistice Commission, had formally protested to the Government
of Bela Kun and had been able to prevent certain executions.

Mg, Barrour proposed that a reply should be given to the effect
that no discussion could be undertaken with Bela Kun so long as
he did not comply with the Armistice conditions.

M. PicHon said that the Italian representative had evidently done
everything within his power. He drew the attention of the Council
to a telegram received by him. (See Annex C.)

M. CreMENCEAU said that he thought that Mr. Balfour’s proposal
was the best.

(It was therefore decided to send the following telegram in reply
to the wireless telegraphic message sent by Bela Kun to M.
Clemenceau :—

“The Peace Conference cannot discuss any matter with you whilst
you do not carry out the conditions of the Armistice.”)

6. [sic] M. CLemENCEAU asked whether M. Crespi had the report on
this subject asked for by the Conference.

Supply Trains M. Crespr said that the report in question would

be ready during the afternoon. The examination

that had been made showed that the trains had not been held up

at Modane except for a few hours on account of customs formalities.

M. CremeNceav said that he would examine the report.

7. M. Cresper said that he wished to draw the attention of the
Council to the following note on the subject of the actions of the
Greeks in Greeks in Asia Minor. (See Annex D.)

Asia Minor M. CLEMENCEAU said that even though the Greeks
had passed the lines of demarcation laid down, they were none the less
in the country with the authorisation of the Peace Conference, and this
could not be pleaded for the Italians, who, in spite of our wishes
and of our decisions, had occupied the country. In a full Confer-
ence, at which M. Orlando and M. Sonnino were present, Italy
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had been asked to withdraw her troops’ She had not done so.
If the Greeks had acted in the manner described, in the note, it
was regrettable, but how. could they be blamed for it? He there-
fore proposed that Mr. Balfour should send a despatch to the Brit-
ish Commodore on the spot, instructing him to report on the
situation.

Mr. Barrour said that he would do so, but was the Commodore
to confine his enquiry to the actions of the Greeks in the region
in question, without taking note of the actions of the Italians?

M. CLEMENCEAU said that what the Italians had done was well-
known. The Italian forces were in the region in violation of a
formal decision of the Conference. M. Orlando and M. Sonnino
had taken no notice of the requests made to them, nor of the de-
cisions made. Together with Mr. Balfour, he had sent a memoran-
dum to M. Tittoni,* to which a reply had just been received. It
had been agreed that the Italians should send no more troops into
the regions in question, and in spite of this, three thousand more
had been sent. He therefore proposed that an enquiry should be made
by the British Commodore, but he did not see how he could place
any blame upon the Greeks.

M. Crespr said that M. Tittoni would soon be back, and that
he, personally, did not wish to enter into the disctission, more par-
ticularly as a memorandum had been sent. He would confine him-
self to saying that the Italian Government thought that it possessed
rights over the region in question by virtue of Article 9 of the
Treaty of London.® He none the less thanked the Council for the
proposal for an enquiry, which he agreed to. "

(It was decided that Mr. Balfour should direct the British Com-
modore in command on the Coast of Asia Minor to send in a report
on the subject of the incidents that had occurred between the Greeks
and Italians in the region in question.)

Vmra Magzstic, Paris, 12 July, 1919.

 For previous discussion of this subject, see CF-9, CF-10, CF-17, CF-19, vol. v,
pp. 570, 577, 686, 716, and CF-37B, CF-93A, vol. Vi, pp. 83 and 712.

* Apparently a reference to the ‘declaration by Great Britain and France
to the new Italian delegation, June 28, 1919. For text, see appendix I to
CEF-99A, vol. v1, p. 760.

® Great Britain, Cmd. 671 Misc. No. 7 (1920) : Agreement Between France,
Russia, Great Britain and Italy, Signed at London, April 26, 1915.
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Annex A to HD-6

HEADQUARTERS OF THE SERBIAN ARMY
OPERATIONS DIVISION

No. 40,941

From: Volvode Michitch, Chief of the Staff of the Serbian Army.
To:  General Pruneau, Head of the French Military Mission.

The Serbian Headquarters Staff has been informed on several occa-
sions, that the Italian Military Authorities were giving the Austrians
information upon the positions of our Army, and upon the movements
of our troops in Slovenia and Carinthia.

During the events which have taken place recently on the Carinth-
1an front, our authorities discovered when they occupied Klagenfurt,
a document which proves the existence of relations between the Italian
and Austrian Military authorities, upon the table of the Commander-
in-Chief of the Austrian troops in Carinthia, who was then stationed
at Klagenfurt.

I have the honour to transmit to you two photographs of the docu-
ment in question, the original of which is at Headquarters; it will be
shown to you if you so desire. I further beg you to be so good as to
transmit a copy to the Commander-in-Chief, and to keep the other for
your own use. :

The Headquarters Staff has sent several copies of the photograph to
the Delegation of the Jugo-Slav Kingdom at Paris, begging it to do
what is necessary to cause the Italian Military Mission to be sent
away from Lioubliana as soon as possible, since it can no longer be
doubted that the Mission in question receives information about our
troops and conveys it to the Austrians by means of code telegrams
which it has permission to use.

I beg that you will ask the General Commander-in-Chief to cause
the Italian Mission to be withdrawn from Lioubliana since it has
exceeded its functions, and our authorities can no longer have any con-
fidence in it. It should be noted that the document in question is dated
29th May, and that our attack had begun on the 28th May, which facts
will show how prejudicial it was to us.

Vorvope MicHITCH
Chief of the General Staff

BrrcraDE, 4 July, 1919.

Transmitted to the General Commander-in-Chief for necessary
action.
I am taking a copy of this letter to Paris and a photograph of the
document under consideration.
PRUNEAU
BELGrADE, 6 July, 1919.

514888-—46—VOL. VII—9 .. e b
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No. 385 Paris, 23 June, 1919.

4, rue Boccador.

From: General Pechitch, Chief of the Serbian, Croatian, and Slovene
Military Mission.

To:  General Alby, Chief of the General Staff, Paris.

I have the honour to transmit to you a copy of the document referred
to in my letter of the 18th June (No. 373).

Prorrren

Commander-in-chief of the Mission

[Enclosure—Translation®]

INTELLIGENCE SERVICE

VILLACH DIVISION

INTELLIGENCE NO. 281

8. H. 8.—SITUATION

To the Bureau of Intelligence of the Provincial German Austrian

Commandant at Klagenfurt.

Virace, May 29, 1919.

In reply to code telegram Intelligence No. 594 confidential of May
23, report that Kl 24 under military orders charged with this mission,
up to the present has not returned.

K1 19, under military orders, sent May 26 to obtain information,
reports on this subject, May 28, 1919, as follows:

In the region Wurzen—Krainburg-Radmansdorf, there are not
more than 4000 men. In this radius, there are about 3 battalions,
comprising: I battalion of legionaires: 1 company, Wurzen; 1 com-
pany, Assling; 1 company, Radmansdorf and 1 company, Ratschach.
1 battalion, 17th Regiment, infantry: 1 company, Kronau; 1 company,
Assling; 2 companies in the positions “Rozica” Rosenbacher-Sattel
and “Golica” MaElender-Sattel. 1 battalion, Serbian 22nd Regiment,
infantry: 15 company, Wurzen; 14 company, Lengenfeld, 1 company,
Birnbaum ; 2 companies, Assling. 1 battalion, Serbian 26th Regiment,
infantry: 2 companies, Ratschach; 2 companies, Krainburg. 1 baz-
talion, Serbian 27th Regiment, infantry: 1 company, Lengenfeld;
1 company Alpen Planira, number 993; about a 14 company, Krain-
burg. South of Krainburg, reserves are massing: Effectives per com-
pany estimated at about 200 men.

Per battalion, 8 machine guns, artillery: Ratschach, 21 cannons;
Assling, 12 cannons ; Krainburg, 8 cannons, 4 of which are heavy. The
Serbian 4th Regiment, infantry, was transferred about May 20th,
probably to Unterdrauburg. Traffic on all railroad lines in Serbia,
Croatia Slovenia.

® Translation from the French supplied by the editors.
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Similar information has been forwarded to the Bureau of Intel-
ligence at Klagenfurt and to the officer of Italian intelligence at Paris,
Tenento Parenti.

Lieutenant Parenti reports: A Serbian division arrived this noon at
Eisenkappel. After the capture of this place, the division was divided
into two parts, one brigade of which headed in the direction of
Kiihnsdorf; the second brigade toward Villach. The enemy possesses
a considerable quantity of artillery. The effectives of all the enemy
troops to be found at the Carinthian front are estimated to be from
20 to 25 thousand men. The Italian military forces can be ready to
move within five hours. The two dispositions were dispatched by
telephone to the Bureau of Intelligence at Klagenfurt, May 29, 1919.

Please kindly check the veracity of the information furnished by
K1 19 and indicate amount of remuneration to be payed this person
who up to now has not been recompensed.

CapraiN Rimrrz, M. P.

HEZERSKO DETACHMENT
0. NO. 243

To the Commander of the Division of the Drave, I transmit the
above information on our forces and positions rendered by enemy
spies. This document was found June 8 on a table in a house which
was the headquarters of the Provincial Commandant of Klagenfurt.

KrAGENFURT, June 11, 1919. )

The Commandant
CoroneL Doer. MiLENKOVIE, M. P,
Copy verified by
Lieutenant-Colonel
Signature illegible.

Appendix “B” [to HD-6]
Wireless From Budapest

SSS No. 121 from Budapest W. 840 11/7 at 21.15.

To:—M. Clemenceau, President of the Peace Conference, Paris.
Mz. Presment: In your dispatch of 13th June? you assured me
that as soon as our troops had evacuated the territories ceded to the
Republic of Czecho-Slovakia, and had retired behind the frontiers
assigned to the federated socialist republic of Hungary, the Rou-
manian troops would make an analogous movement of evacuation,
and would retire behind the frontiers laid down in great detail in

" Appendix V (A), V (B), and V (F) to CF-65, vol. vi, pp. 411, 412, and 416.
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your note. In the reply which I then gave? as well as in the dis-
patch which I sent subsequently, I stated that the federatea
socialist republic of Hungary was desirous of showing how anxious
it was to avoid any useless bloodshed, and would therefore agree to
your demand. And that I have kept my word has been proved by
facts. At the same time I took the liberty of requesting, that you
would give us the necessary guarantees that the Roumanian troops
should carry out the orders of the Allied and Associated Powers.
I was also of the same opinion as you, when you stated that frontier
lines acquired by force of arms could not be held. As I did not
receive the guarantees, I stated in my last dispatch, that I accepted
as a personal guarantee, or assurance, that the Roumanian troops
would evacuate the regions to the East of the Theiss, which were
completely devastated. You have doubtless been informed, Mr.
President, that our troops broke off the fighting in which they had
become engaged, with the troops of the Czecho-Slovak Republic by
the action of these latter. On the 24th June our troops occupied the
lines which marked the neutral zone established by General Pellé.
The Roumanian troops should, therefore, have conformed to the
orders and instructions issued by the Allied and Associated Powers,
contained in your dispatch of the 18th June; they should have re-
tired behind the lines laid down, thereby giving some evidence of a
desire for peace on their part and of a wish to accede to your desires
in the matter of frontiérs acquired by force of arms. In spite of
your promise the Roumanian troops have made no movement of
withdrawal, but, subsequently, to the 24th June have made several
violent attacks more particularly at Tiszaluc; these attacks were
beaten off with serious loss by the Red Army. However much we
may regret the shedding of blood, we consider it to be a duty im-
posed on us by your very word, to prevent the Roumanian troops
from re-opening such conflicts, in defiance of the formal instructions
of the Allied and Associated Powers. We do not wish to dilate on
the exactions and the bad conduct which characterise the daily
doings of the Roumanian troops. On this point it will be sufficient
to tell you, Mr. President, that the devastations of General Hinden-
burg in the invaded departments of Northern France are perfect
oases when compared to the conditions brought about by the
savagery of the Roumanian troops in the economic life of the
countries that they have occupied. Allow me to ask you, Mr. Presi-
dent, whether your word, and the engagements of the Allied and
Associated Powers are sufficient to cause the Roumanian troops to
retire behind the frontiers assigned to them in your despatch of 13th

® Appendix II to CF-73, vol. vt, p. 518.
® Appendix III to CF-93, vol. vI, p. 706.
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June. We believe that you have means of preventing unnecessary
shedding of blood, even though you address your instructions to
persons whose desire for peace has not been proved, so strongly as
the wishes of the federated socialist republic of Hungary, which,
after conducting a series of successful engagements, was willing to
cause all useless shedding of blood to cease.

With regard to the republic of Czecho-Slovakia we beg you, Mr.
President, to make your wishes and those of the Allied and Asso-
ciated Powers effective in the matter of the hostile attitude taken
up by the Roumanian troops. The federated socialist republic of
Hungary brought about a cessation to the hostilities opened up by
the Republic of Czecho-Slovakia despite the fact that the Hungarian
troops were successful. We beg that you will repeat your instruc-
tions of the 13th June and make the wishes of the Allied and Asso-
ciated Powers respected. It is only in this way that the federated
socialist republic will be able to justify its conciliatory attitude in
the eyes of its supporters, by having accepted the guarantees given
in your declaration. I hope that the Allied and Associated Powers
will be able to impose respect for their wishes, and maintain their
prestige in the eyes of the Roumanian troops.

Bupargst, 11 July.

Brra Kown
Commissary for Foreign Affairs

Appendix “C” [to HD-6]

[Telegram Presented to the Council of Heads of Delegations
by the French Plenipotentiary (Pichon)]

We are informed by a telegram from Budapest, that the judicial
sentences passed after the last anti-Bolshevist movement included:
11 death sentences, 6 sentences to hard labour and about 60 punish-
ments, which vary from 1 to 15 years imprisonment. There is a
rising indignation in the town against this recrudescence of Bol-
shevist procedure. A note has been sent to Vienna by Bela Kun’s
emissary. This note refers to the accusations which the journals
in Vienna have made against the Bolshevist Government in Hungary
and demands that satisfaction be given.

The Secretary for Foreign Affairs has replied that it is impossible
for him to act as requested.

Bauer * requests that Bela Kun shall recall Czobel, the Hungarian
Minister to Vienna. He further remarks that the Austrian Gov-
ernment was not consulted on the appointment.

® Dr. Otto Bauer, Austrian Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs, November
12, 1918-July 27, 1919. -
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Appendix “D” [to HD-6]

[Memorandum Presented to the Council of Heads of Delegations
by the Italian Plenipotentiary (Crespi)]

MzemOoRANDUM dated 12 July, 1919.

It is known that the Greeks were obliged by the Turks to evacuate
Aidin on the 1st July, but they were able to re-occupy it on the 5th.
After this date they have continued to advance to the South of the
line laid down by the Council of Four at its meeting of the 19th
May (Ayasoluk-Aidin).»

It should be noted that the Council of Four laid down that the
Greeks should not be allowed to occupy any territory outside the
Sandjak of Smyrna, and the Kaza of Aivali, without being author-
ised to do so by the Senior Naval Officer, that is to say, by the
British Commodore. It follows, that, as the Commodore opposed
the re-occupation of Aidin by the Greeks with a view to avoid use-
less blood-shed, it was only right that he should have been obeyed.
But on the other hand, as we have said, the Greeks had not only
re-occupied Aidin but have gone to a distance of 20 to 25 kilometres
to the south of the line laid down; in consequence of this, they
have been brought face to face with the Italian troops, on whose
patrols they have fired. The Greek aeroplanes have directed machine-
gun fire against the Italian troops marching from Giroba towards
the Meander ; whilst the Greek artillery has fired on the Italian posi-
tions. In view of these considerations the British Commodore has
uselessly ordered the Greek Commissioner to respect his orders,
which are, that the Greek troops should immediately withdraw to
the North of the Aidin railway. It would seem that orders have
come from Paris, at the same time, telling the Greek Commissioner
at Smyrna to re-occupy Aidin, in spite of the contrary orders given
by the British Commodore, who, on several occasions, has given
evidence of his indignation at the disregard of his instructions. I
have therefore the honour to demand that the Supreme Council
shall give it to be understood to the Greek Delegation that the orders
of the British Commodore are to be respected.

* CRF-19, vol. v, p. 716.
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Notes of a Meeting of the Heads of Delegations of the Five Great
Powers Held in M. Pichon’s Room at the Quai d’Orsay, Paris,
on Tuesday, July 15,1919, at 3: 30 p. m.

PrEsENT
AMERICA,
UNITED STATES OF . BriTIsSH EMPIRE FRANCE
Hon. H. White. The Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour, M. Clemenceau.
OM., M.P.
Recretary Becretary Recretaries
Mr. L. Harrison. Mr. H. Norman. M. Dutasta.
Capt. de St. Quentin.
ITALY JAPAN
M. Tittoni. M. Matsui.
Secretary Secretary
M. Paterno. M. Kawai.
Joint Secretariat
AMERICA, UNITED STATES OF . . . Lieut. Burden.
BRITISH EMPIRE . . . ....... Capt. E. Abraham,
FRANCE . « « v v v v v v e o e v n Capt. A. Portier.
ITALY . . o ot e et e e e e e ns Lieut. Zanchi.

Interpreter—Prof. P. J. Mantoux.

1. M. CLeMENCEATU said that he had received a communication from
Bela Kun, which was a reply to that sent him on behalf of the Council
Correspondence according to the decision taken on July 12th. (See
With Bela Kun H. D. 6. Minute 5 [6].)*

M. MaNToUx read the communication from Bela Kun. (Appendix
“A”)

" M. CremeNceaU expressed the opinion that Bela Kun had right
on his side. He had been told that, if his troops evacuated Czecho-
Slovakia, the Roumanians would be ordered to evacuate the part of
Hungary they had invaded, but they had not done so. Mr. Balfour
had since informed the Council that the Roumanians could not safely
carry out the order. It was a pity this point of view had not been
explained before the order was made. Nevertheless, whatever rea-
sons the Roumanians might allege, if the Conference did not order
them to withdraw and could not enforce the order, the Council would
be in a bad position.

* Ante, p. 120.
129
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Mz. Barrour admitted there was force in M. Clemenceau’s remarks.
He believed that the Council of Four would not have taken the deci-
sion it took on June 12th,? to arrange an Armistice involving the
withdrawal of the Roumanians, had they known that the Hungarians
were breaking the most essential terms of the original Armistice.
This had not been known until both President Wilson and Mr. Lloyd
George had left Paris. M. Clemenceau had not been aware of it,
as he had expressed doubt when the matter was first brought to his
notice. No doubt the Council was in an unsatisfactory position, but
it would be in a worse [one?] if it were to order the Roumanians to
withdraw. M. Bratiano, in his farewell visit, had expressed himself
very firmly and concisely. He said that the Powers had no authority
to demand of Roumania a retreat which they could not protect.
Unless the Powers could guarantee the safe withdrawal of the
Roumanian troops and the secure holding of another line of defence
against a superior enemy, it would be unfair to enforce the demand
on Roumania. According to the military advice he had received,
in view of the increase of the Hungarian army, Roumanian national
existence might be at stake if this were done. In his communication,
Bela Kun alleged breaches of the Armistice by the Czecho-Slovaks and
by the Roumanians. It was the business of the military authorities
to see that the Armistice was carried out. He thought that the mili-
tary authorities had not treated the politicians very well, as they had
not kept them informed of the breaches of the Armistice whether by
one side or by the other. He would, therefore, propose to send Bela
Kun’s letter to Marshal Foch before any reply was made, and to ask
the latter for a report regarding the way in which both the Hun-
garians and our own Allies had respected or broken the Armistice.
He thought it might be possible to reply that, when the Council had
addressed Bela Kun in June, it was not aware that Hungary was
breaking the Armistice in doubling her army. If, however, the Hun-
garians now agreed to respect the terms of the Armistice, the Council
would obtain the withdrawal of the Roumanians. It might further
be stated that the frontier between Hungary and Roumania had
already been fixed by the Peace Conference and that no amount of
local fighting would alter this decision to Hungary’s advantage or
detriment. He wished to draw attention to a communication he had
had from General Greenland, to the effect that the Hungarian popu-
lation on the eastern side of the Theiss were greatly alarmed at the
prospect of the Roumanians withdrawing, lest they be left thereby to
the tender mercies of Bela Kun.

(It was decided to refer the communication received from Bela Kun
to Marshal Foch for a full report on the observances and non-observ-

? CF-62, minute 8, vol. vi, p. 851,
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ances of the original Armistice Conditions by all parties concerned.)
2. At M. Clemenceau’s request, M. Mantoux read a lengthy document
Armistice on (Appendix “B”), which it was decided should be
Esthonian Front  cjrculated and discussed at a future meeting.
3. The Council had before it a Joint Note by the Allied Blockade
Committee and the Eastern Blockade Committee (W. C. P. 1133) and

Question of a Note by the British Delegation (W. C. P. 1183.A.)
Baltic (Both of these documents are contained in Appendix
“C”.)

(At this point, Sir W. Mitchell Thomson, Mr. Waterlow, Captain
Fuller, M. Seydoux and Mr. J. F. Dulles entered the room.?) ‘
M. CLEMENCEAU said that the Council was considerably embarrassed
in dealing with this question. He read paragraph 7 of the Joint Note.

M. Seypoux said that the question had been raised by the Supreme
Economic Council, which had received in reply a communication of
the decision taken on June 17th by the Council of Four, in the
following terms:—

“After the acceptance of the Conditions of Peace by Germany, meas-
ures are not still to be taken to prevent commodities from reaching
Bolshevist Russia or Hungary. On the recommendation of the Su-
preme Economic Council 1t was approved that there should be an
abstinence from any positive measures or public announcement indi-
cating the resumption of such trade. The Supreme Economic Council
is asked, however, to examine whether, consistently with this decision,
means could be found for preventing war materiaf’from being carried
by sea from Germany to Bolshevist Russia.”

This decision was communicated by Sir Maurice Hankey in a letter
to Mr. McCormick.* (Appendix “D”.)

Sweden had now opened the question and it was necessary to find
some solution. The solution suggested was contained in the terms of
the last clause of paragraph 7 of the Joint Note. This applied only
to the Baltic. In the Black Sea, the position was less acute. There
were few countries anxious or able to import much into Russia. In
Petrograd, however, the situation was critical. It is but a few hours’
steam from Stockholm and Copenhagen. The means suggested were,
he admitted, opportunist methods, based on the fact that naval hostil-
ities were taking place in the Baltic. It might be possible without
declaring a blockade, which was legally impossible, to proceed on the

2 8ir William Mitchell Thomson, British representative, Superior Blockade
Council and Supreme Economic Council; Sydney Philip Waterlow, British repre-
sentative, Committee on Blockade of the East; Capt. Cyril Thomas Fuller, head
of Naval Section, British Delegation; Charles L. A. J. Seydoux, French repre-
sentative, Superior Blockade Council, Committee on Blockade of the East, and
Supreme Economic Council ; and John Foster Dulles, United States representative,
Supreme Economic Council.

¢Vance C. McCormick, United States representative and chairman of the
Superior Blockade Council ; also chairman of the Supreme Economic Council.
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ground of these hostilities to enforce an embargo which should only
be raised at the discretion of the Allied Powers. There was, however,
another way out. The Allied and Associated Powers had offered help
to Admiral Koltchak ® on certain terms. If this help was to be given
to him, it must be given at all points. If neutrals were to be allowed
to furnish supplies to the Bolsheviks whom he was fighting, Allied
assistance elsewhere would be neutralised. The neutrals might there-
fore be told that the Allied and Associated Powers would consider it
an unfriendly act on their part should they send supplies to Bolshe-
viks. This could now be stated with more confidence since help had
been promised to Admiral Koltchak. He suggested that the Council
adopt one or other of the two plans proposed.

Mr. Barrour said that M. Seydoux’s statement was very clear. The
question was an extremely embarrassing one. The Council was being
hampered at every turn by difficult questions of international law,
both in relation to new States and to unrecognised or de facto Govern-
ments. There were two areas to be considered, first the gulf of Fin-
land, and second the Black Sea. The White Sea was already provided
for. Trade with the Baltic States of Finland, Latvia etc., need cause
no concern because trade with them would not lead to the percolation
into Soviet Russia of any arms or ammunition. Of the two doors into
Soviet Russia, one would be closed by ice at the end of November.
Until that date, the means of stopping trade from passing through
it, which had been suggested amounted to this—that neutral States
be informed that the Allied and Associated Powers were not making
a formal blockade on Soviet Russia; but, seeing that active hostilities
were in progress in the Gulf of Finland, they must insist on the right
of turning back trading vessels from the zone of operations. The
waters in question were mined, and operations must for success be
provided with secrecy.. He did not suggest that trading vessels should
be subject to capture, sunk or proceeded against in Prize Courts; only
that they should be sent back to their port of origin. This course was
no doubt open to objection, but less so, he thought, than any other, and
it seemed the best that could be done to carry out the policy laid down
by the Council of Four. As to the Black Sea, he understood there was
a proposal to recognise a blockade to be declared by Koltchak and
Denekin.® These methods he would be inclined to accept.

M. CremENCEAU said that as temporary expedients the proposals
put forth by M. Seydoux might be adopted.

‘M. Seypoux said it must be clearly understood that no legal right
could be appealed to. In order to endow Koltchak and Denekin with

® Admiral Alexander Vasilevich Kolchak, proclaimed on November 18, 1918, at
Omsk, Supreme Governor of Russia.

®Gen. Anton Ivanovich Deniken, commander in chief of the armed forces of
South Russia.
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some powers to enforce the blockade, he suggested that they might
be supplied with a Destroyer or two by the Allied Powers.

M. Trrront said that the proposals were expedients, but as he could
see no better, he would accept them.

Mr. WaITE said that all that had been suggested amounted to a
pacific blockade. The American Government was extremely sensitive
regarding matters of this kind. Without special instructions he
would hesitate to accept any proposal tending to stop traffic on the
High Seas in time of Peace.

Mr. Barrour said that in his view, what was proposed was not
quite a pacific blockade. The régime in the Gulf of Finland was not
peace. Even though it might not legally be war, active hostilities
were being waged. As the Soviet Government had not been recog-
nised these hostilities could not lawfully be considered war, since it
appeared that war could only be waged against a recognised Govern-
ment. The military operations going on had an object accepted by
all the Allied and Associated Governments, namely, to preserve the
small border Republics which had sprung up in the north-west of
Russia. Commerce, therefore, should not be allowed to interfere
with these operations. He thought the suggestion made in the last
paragraph of the Addendum by the British Delegation to the Joint
Note might be adopted.

M. Trrront observed that the Powers could not escape the anomaly
of assisting Koltchak in one quarter, and allowing his enemies to be
assisted in another.

M. CLEMENCEAU observed that President Wilson had offered his help
to Koltchak.

Mg. WHrTe said that he was willing to send a cable message to
Washington, explaining the views of his colleagues, but he could not
accept them without reference to his Government. Theoretically
there was peace with Russia. He would ask whether he might join
in the proposal before the Council which he understood his Colleagues
all accepted.

Mr. Barrour said that he fully understood Mr. White’s position,
but the question addressed to the British Government by the Swedes
had to be answered. He did not know how long the answer could be
postponed.

M. CremeNceAU suggested that Mr. White inform the Councﬂ of
the views of his Government within two days.

Mr. Durwzs said that it would be necessary to explain to President
Wilson why the question was re-opened. At the time when the Council
of Four had made its decision, it was well aware that the present
situation was bound to come about. The question had been consid-
ered first in the Blockade Council, then in the Supreme Economic
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Council, and lastly, in the Council of the Heads of Governments.
No aspect of the situation, therefore, had been lost sight of and the
very contingency now being discussed was that in view when Sir
Maurice Hankey sent his Note to the Supreme Economic Council. It
would, therefore, be necessary to inform President Wilson of what-
ever new circumstance might exist which justified the re-opening of
the question.

Mgr. Barrour said that it was no doubt quite accurate to say that
the Council of the Heads of Governments had decided that nothing
could be done, and it was doubtless reasonable to say that President
Wilson must be informed of the reason why the present Council
desired a different decision. He would point out that, in the decision
of the Council of Four, Hungary was coupled with Russia. Neverthe-
less, a blockade on Hungary had been imposed. At the time of the
latter, there was some hope that Petrograd would fall; this would
have removed all necessity for a blockade. It might, further, be
pointed out that the Soviet Government was conducting active hos-
tilities against the small Baltic States. Should the Powers not pro-
tect the latter, the Soviet Government could land troops in the rear of
their forces and destroy them. Hence it was necessary for the Powers
to maintain maritime control of the Baltic. This could not be done
without active operations, as the Soviet had ships and showed fight.
It was impossible to carry on naval operations in narrow waters
and to allow merchant shipping to go through with food and arms.
The removal of the blockade was, therefore, inconsistent with the
conduct of the policy unanimously favoured by the Powers.

Mg. DurLEs observed that the blockade on Hungary was maintained
because the Powers were still at war with Hungary They had never
been at war with Russia.

(It was agreed that Mr. Dulles should draft a telegram to be sent
in the name of the Council to President Wilson explaining the reasons
for maintaining in the Baltic and the Black Sea an embargo on mer-
chant shipping trading with Soviet Russia.

Tt was further agreed that the subject should again be put on the
Agenda on the 17th instant.)

4. M. CLEMENCEAU said that he had received a communication stat-
ing that the Belgian and Dutch Governments had nominated their

representatives for the Commission which was to re-
Revision of o0 vise the Treaties of 1839.% It was, therefore, desirable

to summon the Commission. The Belgian Govern-
ment asked that the first meeting should be fixed for Tuesday, July
29th, as the two Belgian representatives, M. Orts, Secretary General
of the Mlmstry of Foreign Affairs, and M. Segers, Minister of State,
were detained in Brussels until the 28th, for the festivals in honour

® British and Foreign State Papers, vol. xxxvi, p. 1370,
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of the President of the Republic. The British and ITtalian represent-
atives on the Commission had already been nominated. The Ameri-
can and French remained to be appointed. On behalf of France,
M. Clemenceau nominated M. Laroche—on behalf of the United
States of America, Mr. White nominated Mr. Hudson.

(It was agreed that the first meeting should take place on 29th July,
at 10.30 a. m. at the Quai d’Orsay.)

5. The Council had before it the report of the Military Represent-
atives at Versailles. (Appendix “E”.)

Allied Army of (At this point, the Military Representatives and
Ogcupation In their Chiefs of the Staff, entered the room.)
Plebiscite Mgr. BaLrour said that he had read the report. The

only difficulty he found was in finding 13,000 men.

M. CremENCEAU said that he had none to offer. He counted on
Mr. Balfour. )

Mz. Barrour said he had none to offer. He counted on General
Bliss. ‘

GeNEraL Buiss said that it was not beyond the limits of possibility
that Allied troops might be entirely dispensed with. The Inter-
Allied Commission which was to conduct the plebiscite, was to spend
six months studying the country. It would be able to report whether
order could be maintained without armed forces. It had been pro- .
vided that there should be neither German nor Polish troops in the
area. He suggested, therefore, that the Commission, together with
its staff, which would be numerous, should go to the country and
report later whether it required an Allied force or not.

M. Barrour quoted paragraph “D” of the general consideration
set forth in the report and pointed out that it seemed to have been the
intention that the Commission should have an Allied force until local
police could be organised. If, however, General Bliss considered that
the risk of doing without an Allied force could be taken, he would
not insist on a pedantic adherence to the original intention.

GeNEraL Buiss said that the plebiscite was not to take place until
six months after the coming into force of the Treaty. This would
give the Commission plenty of time to find out whether an armed
force could or could not be dispensed with.

M. CremeNcEAU asked what would happen should the Commission
find that they required troops.

Mz. Barrour drew attention to the provision excluding any par-
ticipation of the Germans in the forces of occupation. He asked
whether this should be held to apply to police forces.

GeNERAL Briss thought that it did not apply to police forces.

Mg. Barrour asked when the Commission was to proceed to
Silesia. He also asked whether members had been nominated.
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Mgz. WHitE said that he understood the Commission was to proceed
to Silesia 15 days after the coming into force of the Treaty. As to
nomination, so far as the United States were concerned, no American
member could be appointed until the American Senate had ratified
the Treaty.

M. CremeNcEaU said that he was informed that the Commission
to supervise the execution of the clauses of the Treaty had examined
this question and that it could furnish a report at the next meeting.

(The question was therefore postponed till the following day.)

6. The Council had before it a Report from the Military Repre-
sentatives of the Supreme War Council. (Appendix E [£ bis].)
M. CreMENCEAU observed that in spite of the pla-

Qecupation of tonic recommendations of the Military Representa-
garia by, . .

Great Britain, tives, it appeared from the footnote that Italy would
Faly in Equal contribute one battalion, Great Britain 40 men, Amer-

ica none, while France had in the area two divisions,
two-thirds of which he proposed to demobilise. The only way out
of the difficulty that he could think of was to ask the Italians who
were on good terms with the Bulgarians to stand surety for their
good behaviour.

M. Trrront said that he was not aware of any special intimacy
between Italy and Bulgaria.

M. CremENnceav said he could show M. Tittoni evidence to that
effect. He made no complaint, in fact he would be glad if Italian
policy could produce in Bulgaria the results desired by the Con-
ference. The only end in view was to make the Bulgarians behave
peacefully towards the Greeks.

M. Trrront said that Italian policy was to conform with the policy
of the Allies.

M. CremENnceau said that he had dreamt that Italy was inaugu.
rating a new policy, and was now seeking to make friends with her
neighbours in the Adriatic, applying in case of misunderstanding
to her Allies for arbitration, which would be most willingly under-
taken.

M. Trrron: said that he was quite willing to conform with M.
Clemenceau’s dream.

M. CLeMENCEAU said that if an agreement between the Bulgarians
and the Greeks could be arranged through Italy it would be a great
service to the Allied cause. The Bulgarians had been summoned
to be in Paris on the 25th. There remained only ten days. If in
this period M. Tittoni could give the Allies a foretaste of the new
policy, the situation on the arrival of the Bulgarians would be much
easier.

M. Trrront said he would be very pleased to do his best.
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M. Cremenceau suggested that M. Tittoni should have private
conversations on behalf of the Council with M. Venizelos.

Mg. Barrour asked to what extent disarmament had proceeded
in Bulgaria.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that he thought the situation unsatisfactory.
He did not think that General Franchet d’Esperey ? had controlled
events very successfully according to the instructions given him.
He had the impression that the Bulgarians meant to resort to force
should they be dissatisfied with their new frontiers. He was asking
General Franchet d’Esperey’s opinion on Bulgaria and its present
condition from the military point of view. If, meanwhile, M. Tit-
toni would have a talk with M. Venizelos, good results might be
obtained.

Mgz. BarLrour said that he presumed that M. Tittoni’s conversation
with M. Venizelos would be on the basis of what had been decided at
the Conference.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that it must undoubtedly be on the basis that
the Entente was victorious, and that Bulgaria had been defeated.

M. Trrront asked that he might be supplied with the requisite infor-
mation by his colleagues.

Mgz. BaLrour enquired whether the intention was that M. Tittoni
should discuss frontiers with M. Venizelos.

M. CrEMENCEAU said he suggested no plan whatever. He left the
whole matter to M. Tittoni’s ingenuity. He had heard among other
things that Greece thought of giving Bulgaria a share in the port
of Kavalla. If so this was a good beginning which deserved
encouragement.

(M. Trrront agreed to engage in conversation with M Venizelos,
and report the results obtained daily to the Council.

It was further decided that General Franchet d’Esperey should
furnish as soon as possible all available information regarding the
'military situation of Bulgaria.)

7. The Council had before it a Report from the Military Repre-
sentatives of the Supreme War Council. (Appendix “F.”)

M. CremEeNcEAU asked General Belin what the con-

Assistance To Be .
Givtel:. to Poland clusion of the Report was.
e rea . .
&ded by GENERAL BELIN said that it was proposed that
rmany

the Frontier Delimitation Commission should begin
to function at once instead of waiting for the time appointed, namely,
15 days after the coming into force of the Treaty.

M. CLEMENCEAU said that he did not think there was any authority
to set the Commission at work before its time. This could only be
done by agreement with the Germans. Should they refuse the Coun-

7 Commander in chief of the Allied Armies in the East.
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cil could do nothing. It was important not to exceed Treaty rights.
In this connection he wished to inform the Council that the Germans
had approached him with a request for permission to occupy Frank-
furt with troops by reason of disturbances expected there. On the
strength of the Treaty he had refused this request. It was therefore
hardly possible to ask Germany for favours. He suggested that the
Report expected from the Commission to supervise the execution of
the Treaty be awaited.

(It was therefore decided to postpone the consideration of this
question till the following day, when the Report of the Commission
to Supervise the Execution of the Treaty would be heard.)

8. M. CreMENCEAU said he wished to read a des-
fiotions T, patch he had received from General Franchet d’Es-
garia perey. (Appendix G.)

M. Trrron: said he would immediately make an
enquiry into the allegations made in this despatch.

9. M. CrEMENCEAU caused a letter from M. Venizelos to be read.
(See Appendix H.)

M. Trrront said that he denied in a most formal

Iovter From manner the allegations made in this letter. Greek
Concerning troops were refusing to obey the orders of the British

Admiral on the ground that they were receiving direct
instructions from the Peace Conference sent to them by M. Venizelos.
It would be necessary for the Conference to settle this matter. The
British Admiral’s powers would have to be increased. The Italian
Commander was in complete accord with the British Commodore at
Smyrna. He had himself summoned General Bongiovanni 8 and given
him personal instructions that no further Italian troops should be
landed, and that no new localities should be occupied. He was, more-
over, to act only in concert with the British Admiral. It was neces-
sary to enforce a similar line of conduct on the Greeks. The Turks
at present believed that they were being invaded by the Greeks, and
that they must fight them. The Greeks must conform to a common
plan, and must realise that they formed part of the forces of the Allied
Powers. The Greeks must therefore first halt on their present
positions.

Mzr. Bavrour suggested that M. Venizelos be asked to attend the
Council in order to give a frank explanation of what was going on.
He would like to ask the Military Experts what they thought of the
allegation made in the letter read by M. Clemenceau that there were
300,000 well-armed Turkish troops in the field. The British Military
Experts were of the opinion that this was far from the mark.

® Gen. Luigi Bongiovanni, commander of the Italian forces in Asia Minor,
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GENERAL BELIN replied that he thought that these figures very much
exaggerated. He agreed that there were perhaps some 60,000 men
in all Anatolia.

(It was agreed that M. Venizelos should be invited to attend the
Council on the following day to discuss the situation in Asia-Minor.)

(The meeting then adjourned.)

ViLra Magestic, Paris, July 15, 1919.

Appendix A to HD-7
[Translation °]
Radio from Budapest
To the President of the Peace Conference, Paris.

In reply to our radio telegram of July 11,° the Peace Conference.
instead of ordering the Roumanian troops to retreat, has just sent us
a telegram saying that because of our failure to observe our part of
the armistice conditions, it is impossible to deal with us for the
moment.’* We should have been glad to see the precise facts by which
the armistice conditions were violated by us. We experience so much
satisfaction in seeing these facts stated precisely that we are sorry we
must bring up immediately a whole series of violations of the armistice
conditions committed by the Allied and Associated Governments and
principally by those of the Kingdom of Roumania, and of the Czecho-
Slovak Republic. We are contented to note very briefly that the Royal
Roumanian troops still continue to occupy the line of the Tisza, al-
though, according to the terms of the military convention of November
13,2 the demarcation line should be that of the Maros river.

Entire regions have been devasted, all the mobile means of produc-
tion, as well as all the alimentary productions taken away. The mili-
tary convention of November 13 does not recognize the Danube line as
a line of demarcation: this however does not prevent the Czecho-
Slovak troops from occupying the line of the Danube. The Rousska-
Kraina, the federative party of the Republic of Hungarian Councils is
under the domination of the Czech and Roumanian armed forces. We
remind the Peace Conference that the troops of the Czecho-Slovak
Republic had already advanced, contrary to the armistice conditions,
as far as the south of Miskolcz, when our troops, to defend the vital
interests of the country, took the offensive in turn, in victoriously put-
ting to rout the Czecho-Slovak troops. Notwithstanding, we with-
drew our troops from the territory retaken from the Czecho-Slovaks
relying upon Monsieur Clemenceau’s promise that in this case, The
Royal Hungarian troops will withdraw in their turn to the line fixed

° Translation is that filed under Paris Peace Conf. 180.03501/7.

** Appendix B to HD-6, p. 125.

2 HD-6, minute 6, p. 120.
* Vol. 11, p. 183.
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by the Peace Conference in its telegram of July [June] 13th addressed
to the Government of the Hungarian Councils.?®* It can be clearly
shown that the violations of the stipulations of the armistice and of
the renunciation to bloodshed took place contrary to our wishes. The
Czecho-Slovak and Roumanian troops were those who crossed the line
of demarcation and everything which happened afterwards is the di-
rect consequence of this offensive. The above mentioned countries
have not respected and what is more do not now respect the treaty of
armistice concluded in the name of the Allied and Associated States,
which they violate at every moment up to this point and which because
of their attitude contrary to the principles of the right of peoples, can
be considered non-existent as a treaty.

Having stated all the foregoing, we are forced to put once more the
question before the Peace Conference, whether the order of Monsieur
Clemenceau, as President of the Peace Conference, is obligatory or
not for the troops of the Royal Roumanian Government. Must they
execute Monsieur Clemenceau’s order to withdraw from the Tisza on
the line designated in the July [June] 18th telegram? Can we count
on the fulfillment of Monsieur Clemenceau’s promise by the Royal
Roumanian troops? We send the observation to the Peace Conference
that it is not a question of negotiations but of the observance of Mon-
sieur Clemenceau’s promise, or rather of the order of the Peace Con-
ference, on the part of the Royal Roumanian troops.

The Government of the Republic of the Hungarian Councils, having
done all in its power in order that the armistice stipulations be carried
out in the sense of the military convention of November 13th, in no
way opposes further negotiations. It desires however in taking its
stand on the promise of Monsieur Clemenceau, that the order be given
to the Royal Roumanian troops to commence without delay the
evacuation of the territory designated in the telegram of June 13.

Brra Kown
Commissioner of the People for Foreign Affairs

Appendix “B” to HD-7

[Translation *]

Report Dated July 9, 1919 From French Military Attaché duParquet
at Stockholm, on the Armistice Conditions Concluded on the Estho-
nian Front

Ordered by Allied missions to negotiate armistice between bélliger-
ents on Esthonian front. I .. .*® Riga July 1st. First,I examined
8 Appendix V (A), V (B), and V (F') to CF-65, vol. v1, pp. 411, 412, and 416,

“Translation from the French supplied by the editors.
¥ Omission indicated in the original French,
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conditions . . ** Von der Goltz* Then I crossed German and
Esthonian lines alone with two German soldiers carrying white flags
and tri-color. Bombardment and rifle and machine gun fire from
Esthonians when we started. Very badly received by Esthonians and
various commanders, except General Peder. I had to use all my
energy to reach my goal in defiance of bad feeling and rudeness.
Peder told me he was astonished that I reached him. It was possible
to modify greatly these armistice conditions which were at first very
hard but they refused to compromise on the question of the occupation
of Riga (doubtful) by Esthonian troops.

I was provided with full powers by the Allied missions and by Von
der Goltz to sign an armistice but I did not consider myself able to do
it on this basis without further consultation. I arrived near the
German line on the morning of July 2. I was bombarded twice by
Germans on the way but they stopped firing when they saw white flag.
I asked Von der Goltz to give iron cross to two German soldiers who
accompanied me and acted bravely. My intervention on the Esthonian
front produced great impression at Riga . . .®* Riga bombarded by
Esthonians July 1 and 2; victims among civil population, destruction
and fires. Evening July 2 on German front and at Strassenhof farm,
12 kilometers east of Riga meeting of representatives of Allied Mission,
Esthonians, Germans, Landwehr, Lett troops, for conclusion of
armistice which was signed July 8 at 3: 00 a. m.

Clauses: 1. Cessation hostilities land, sea, air July 3, noon.

2. German troops withdraw from Lettonia as soon as possible in
accordance with peace treaty. No advance by German troops except
against Bolshevists of Russian Soviet Republic, in accordance with
peace treaty.

3. German officers and trooES will immediately leave Riga and
suburbs, evacuation to be finished 6:00 p. m., July 5 except officers
and troops necessary to empty and guard German warehouses.

4. Allied officers will make sure that non-military warehouses will
remain as they are.

5. Landwehr will leave Riga bridge and district and will withdraw
beyond Duna; evacuation to be completed 6 p. m., July 5.

6. Esthonians in occupied positions at 3:00 a. m., July 8.

7. Germans will reestablish free communication by railway and
telegraph between Riga and Libau.

8. Allied mission temporarily insures administration of Riga with
Lett Government.

9. Details to be arranged under direction of chief of the Allied
mission.

Armistice well executed up to evening July 5, when Germans and
Landwehr had completely evacuated city and suburbs. I left Riga

1 Omission indicated in the original French.
¥ Gen, Rudiger von der Goltz, commander of the German Armies in the Baltic
Provinces.
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July 6 to enter Libau by American steamer. Perfect order at Riga,
population relieved. Lett troops insure order, service and protection
in city. Municipal police have assumed municipal functions. Ulman-
nis® Ministry left Libau for Riga morning July 8 on steamer
Saratow. British mission left for Riga evening July 7. French
mission will leave as soon as notice is sent. Russian concentration
in Latvia constitutes a danger at present because the effectives are
large; supplies not assured and difficult. Under these conditions
there is a danger that the Russians will pillage and resort to bol-
shevism. Embarkment of German troops at Libau will constitute
a danger for the safety of the city which is perfectly quiet since the
Germans [arrived?]. However, they should be brought at the last
moment only to the military port and they should be absolutely
forbidden access to the city. Disorders by German troops are to be
feared. It is advisable to require evacuation of Germans to south and
west of Mitau where great concentration constitutes present danger
for Riga and national government. Rumor of plotted conspiracy at
Mitau by Germans and Nédra party.

ParQuUET

Appendix “C” to HD-7
WCP-1133
TRADE WITH BOLSHEVIK RUSSIA

Note for Supreme Council of Principal Allied and Associated States

[1.] The Allied Blockade Committee and the Comité de Blocus
de I’Orient Paris, who are charged by the Supreme Blockade Council
with the executive control of Blockade, find it necessary to call the
urgent attention of the Supreme Council to the question of commerce
with Bolshevist Russia.

2. The Committees venture to recall to the Council that on June
7th a Note was presented by the Blockade Council to the Council of
Four ** pointing out that it had in fact been possible during the Block-
ade of Germany to maintain, as part of such Blockade, effective
restrictions upon commerce with Bolshevist Russia, either by means
of agreements with neutral States or by the actual exercise of naval
control; but that with the raising of the German Blockade, it would
be difficult to continue to apply such restrictions to Bolshevist Russia,
unless measures were directly framed towards that end. They there-

S 1 Kl?rlis Ulmannis, Latvian Prime Minister and Minister of Agriculture and
upplies.

“This document was referred to in the meeting of the Council of Four on
June 17, 1919, 4 p. m., but it does not accompany the minutes of the meeting.
See CF-74, minute 5, vol. vi, p. 530.
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fore enquired whether the Council of Four desired that upon the
raising of the Blockade of Germany.

(&) A formal blockade of Bolshevist Russia ports in the Baltic
and Black Sea should be proclaimed by the Allies, or

(5) That negotiations should be entered into with the neutrals to
secure the maintenance of guarantees against re-export to Bolshevist
Russia.

3. The Council of Four replied on June 17th # that they did not
desire that either (@) or (b) should be adopted, but that no further
announcement should be made as to the possibility of trade with
Bolshevist Russia, and that they trusted that in fact the physical
difficulties in the way of commerce would prevent its resumption.

4. The Committees were in hopes that, as regards the Baltic and
the Black Sea, which are the two zones of difficulty, the question
might have been rendered more simple by the events which seemed at
the time quite likely to occur before the raising of the German Block-
ade. These events were (a) the fall of Petrograd, and (b) the
Proclamation by Admiral Koltchak of a blockade of the Bolshevist
ports in the Black Sea, and the recognition of such a blockade as
effective. The occurrence of either of these events would have gone
far to solve the difficulty in the respective zones.

5. It has now, however, become apparent that neither event is
likely to antedate the raising of the German Blockade, and the Com-
mittees respectfully point out that in these circumstances absence
of a definite policy will place the executive authorities in an impossible
position. Already enquiries are being made—not only by Allied
nationals, but also by neutrals, such as Sweden and Denmark, as to
the treatment likely to be given to goods shipped to destinations in
Bolshevist Russia,—and, upon the raising of the German Blockade
(which is now probably only a matter of days, if not of hours) the ex-
ecutive authorities must be enabled to reply to such enquiries.

6. The Committees therefore respectfully, but very earnestly, beg
for an immediate statement as to the pleasure of the Supreme Eco-
nomic Council upon the following enquiries :—

7. Upon the raising of the Blockade of Germany:

(]a) Are the nationals of the Allied States to be free to trade with
Bolshevist Russia ¢

gb) If not, are neutrals to be free to conduct such trade?

¢) If (a) and () are answered in the negative, how are the con-

temglated restrictions to be enforced ?

(¢) In particular, having regard to the naval hostilities which are
actually occurring at this moment, especially in the Gulf of Finland,
it is still regarded as undesirable for the Allies to proclaim a local
blockade of the Neva ports.

® See appendix D to HD-T, p. 144.



144 THE PARIS PEACE CONFERENCE, 1919, VOLUME VII

WCP-1133A
TRADE WITH BOLSHEVIST RUSSIA

Addendwm by British Delegation to Joint Note on Russian Blockade
by Allied Blockade Committee and Eastern Blockade Committee

1. The methods hitherto used to prevent commodities from reach-
ing Bolshevist Russia included every weapon known to the Blockade.
They may be summarised as:—

(a) Physical, e. g. control at Constantinople by Allied Naval Com-
mand who refuse permits for vessels to proceed to Black Sea ports in
the occupation of Bolshevists and enforce their control through
patrols: and

(0) Conventional, e. g. agreements with neutral governments,
under which these governments agreed to add Bolshevist Russia to
the destinations to which export was prohibited under their agree-
ments with the Associated Powers. These agreements will terminate
with the raising of the German Blockade tomorrow.

2. Two possible courses were suggested to the Council of Four on the
7th June.

(?) To proclaim a Formal Blockade of all Bolshevist Russia, thus
regularising the continued exercise of physical control.

(%) To invite the neutral governments to enter into special arrange-
ments to retain their prohibitions against export to Bolshevist Russia
after the termination of the main agreements upon the raising of the
German Blockade, thus securing the retention of conventional control.

Both proposals were rejected by the Council of Four on the 17th
June.?

It is now suggested for consideration that a physical control might
be at least adopted as regards the Gulf of Finland, where active hos-
tilities exist at present, and that this might be regularised by a noti-
fication by the Allies that under existing circumstances traffic into
and out of ports in the Gulf of Finland can only be conducted under
permit from the Allied Naval Command there.

W. MrrcHELL-THOMSON

Paris, 11 July, 1919.

Appendix “D” to HD-7
BLOCKADE OF HUNGARY AND BOLSHEVIK RUSSIA
Decisions of Council of Heads of States

BrrTisH DELEGATION,

Paris, 17 June, 1919.

Sir: I am directed to inform you that the Council of the Principal
Allied and Associated Powers, this afternoon, considered the note
from the Supreme Economic Council on the subject of the Blockade of

* CF-74, minute 5, vol. v1, p. 530. .
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Hungary and Bolshevist Russia, forwarded in your letter of June 7th.
It was decided that, after the acceptance of the Conditions of Peace
by Germany, measures are not still to be taken to prevent commodities
from reaching Bolshevist Russia or Hungary. In addition, the recom-
mendation of the Supreme Economic Council was approved that there
should be an abstinence from any positive measures or public
announcement indicating the resumption of such trade.

It was further decided that the Supreme Economic Council should
be asked to examine as to whether, consistently with the above de-
cisions, means could be found for preventing war material from being
carried by sea from Germany to Bolshevist Russia.

The Council also considered the second note?*? forwarded in your
letter of June 7th, proposing an agreement by Austria regarding
trade with Hungary and Germany.

In regard to this, the Council felt that they could take no decision
without fuller explanations.

I am [ete.] M. P. A. HANKEY

Secretary
Vance MoCoruick, Esq.

Chairman of the Supreme Economic Council,
Hotel Crillon, Paris.

Appendix “E” to HD-7
SWC—440 (7TMR)

SUPREME WAR COUNCIL
MILITARY REPRESENTATIVES

Report on the Composition and Size of the Army of Occupation in
‘ the Plebiscite Area of Upper Silesia

On June 25th [26¢4], the Council of the Principal Allied and
Associated Powers decided to ask the Military Representatives of
the Supreme War Council at Versailles to examine the following
question :—

“Composition and size of the Army of Occupation in the Plebiscite
Area of Upper Silesia, and the method of occupation of this Area”.

GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS

The Area in question is defined by Article 88 of the Treaty of Peace
with Germany.

On the other hand, by the terms of the annexure which was made to
that article :—

* Appendix IV to CF-74, vol. v1, p. 541.
= CF-98, minute 21, vol. v1, p. 703.
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(a¢) The German troops and authorities must evacuate the area
submitted for a Plebiscite after the coming into force of the Treaty
and within a maximum period of 15 days (para.1).

(b) This Area shall be occupied by troops of the Allied and Asso-
ciated Powers—(Para. 2).

(¢) The Plebiscite Area shall be immediately placed under the
authority of an International Commission composed of 4 members to
be appointed by the United States of America, France, the British
Empire and Italy. (Para. 2.)

(d) It shall be the duty of the Commission to maintain order with
the help of troops to be placed at its disposal and, to the extent which it
shall consider necessary, of a police force to be recruited from the
native inhabitants of the country. (Para. 3.)

CHARACTER OF THE ForcES oF QcCUPATION

From the terms of the Treaty, which it seemed useful to recall
above, it results that any participation of the Germans in the forces
of occupation is excluded.

It is equally indispensable not to admit any Polish units, if there
is not to be a danger of the result of the plebiscite losing its character
of sincerity which is essential.

S1ze or THE Forces oF OCCUPATION

In fixing their strength, consideration must be taken of the following
particulars :—

(1) The population of the plebiscite area is estimated at about
%),632,000 inhabitants (of which 570,000 are Germans and 1,062,000

oles).

(2)) There are present in this area two elements in the population
of such different mentality and tendencies that they will only acceEt
the new condition of affairs with reluctance. ’I};ﬁs may provoke
serious trouble if the forces available do not allow of all necessary
measures being taken in time.

(3) This situation will assuredly continue up to the day of the
plebiscite; it is even possible that it will tend to increase as the date
approaches for taking the vote which is to definitely decide the future
of the country.

(4) The existing local police, composed mostly of Germans, would
not seem to offer any guarantee of impartiality, however, at the present
time or during any of the period preceding the plebiscite; conse-
quently, this police should be probably disbanded as soon as possible,
and reconstituted and increased.

(5) The territory in question includes important industrial centres
in which the total population attains 450,000 and which can easily
become centres of disturbances.

(6) Serious social movements have already arisen in this country;
Councils of Workmen and Soldiers have been set up, which the Treaty
of Peace with Germany has ordered to be dissolved (Paragraph 1 of
the Annexure of Article 88 of the Treaty).
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Consequently, the Military Representatives are agreed in consider-
ing that an armed force of 1 Division (about 13,000 men) is, at least
for the time being, indispensable to guarantee the maintenance of
order and ensure the authority of the Inter-Allied Commission.

It will be for the President of the International Commission to
propose either a reduction of this force or their repatriation as soon
as the creation and increase of the pohce force and gendarmerie, orga-
nised on the spot, shall permit.

G*!. Brun Uco CAVALLERO
Military Representative, Military Representative,
French Section, Italian Section,
Supreme War Council Supreme War Council
C. SackviLie-WEesT Stanrey D. Emeick
Major General, for
Military Representative, Military Representative,
British Section, American Section,
Supreme War Council Supreme War Council

Given at Versailles the 10th July, 1919.

Certified to be a true copy of the original document.
W. N. Wicks, Capt.
Secretary, British Section,
Supreme War Council

Versarres, 10 July, 1919.

[Appendix E bis *]
[Translation *]

SUPREME WAR COUNCIL
MILITARY REPRESENTATIVES

Versarres, July 11, 1919.

Report on the Strength and Organization of the Occupation
Force in Bulgaria

On July 9, 1919,2 the Supreme Council of the Allied and Associ-
ated Powers decided to request from the Military Representatives of
the Supreme War Council a report on the